BRANDES INVESTMENT TRUST

Brandes International Small Cap Equity Fund Brandes Small Cap Value Fund (each, a "Fund", and together the "Funds")

Supplement dated June 28, 2024 to the Funds' Prospectuses and Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") dated January 28, 2024

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING FUND REORGANIZATION

At the June 28, 2024 joint special meeting of shareholders of the Funds, shareholders of the Brandes International Small Cap Equity Fund (the "Approved Target Fund") as of April 12, 2024, the record date for the meeting, approved the Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among Brandes Investment Trust, on behalf of the Approved Target Fund, Datum One Series Trust, on behalf of its corresponding series of the Approved Target Fund, and Brandes Investment Partners, L.P. to reorganize the Approved Target Fund into the applicable series of the Datum One Series Trust as described in the Combined Proxy Statement/Prospectus mailed to shareholders of record (the "Reorganization"). The Approved Target Fund's shareholders may purchase and redeem shares of the Approved Target Fund in the ordinary course until the last business day before the closing of the relevant Reorganization, as described in the Approved Target Fund's prospectuses.

A quorum was not present at the special meeting of shareholders for the Brandes Small Cap Value Fund. The special meeting of shareholders has therefore been adjourned until July 11, 2024 at 10:00 a.m. Pacific Time with respect to the Brandes Small Cap Value Fund.

Please retain this supplement with your Prospectus and Statement of Additional Information.

BRANDES INVESTMENT TRUST

Brandes International Equity Fund
Brandes Global Equity Fund
Brandes Emerging Markets Value Fund
Brandes International Small Cap Equity Fund
Brandes Small Cap Value Fund
Brandes Core Plus Fixed Income Fund
Brandes Separately Managed Account Reserve Trust
(each, a "Fund", and together the "Funds")

Supplement dated June 13, 2024 to the Funds' Prospectuses and Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") dated January 28, 2024

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING FUND REORGANIZATION

At the June 13, 2024 joint special meeting of shareholders of the Funds, shareholders of the Brandes Global Equity Fund, the Brandes Emerging Markets Value Fund, the Brandes Core Plus Fixed Income Fund, and the Brandes Separately Managed Account Reserve Trust (the "Approved Target Funds") as of April 12, 2024, the record date for the meeting, approved the Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among Brandes Investment Trust, on behalf of the Approved Target Funds, Datum One Series Trust, on behalf of its corresponding series of the Approved Target Funds into the applicable series of the Datum One Series Trust as described in the Combined Proxy Statement/Prospectus mailed to shareholders of record (each a "Reorganization"). The Approved Target Fund's shareholders may purchase and redeem shares of the Approved Target Fund in the ordinary course until the last business day before the closing of the relevant Reorganization, as described in the Approved Target Funds' prospectuses.

A quorum was not present at the joint special meeting of shareholders for the Brandes International Small Cap Equity Fund and the Brandes Small Cap Value Fund. The joint special meeting of shareholders has therefore been adjourned until June 28, 2024 at 10:00 a.m. Pacific Time with respect to those Funds.

Please retain this supplement with your Prospectus and Statement of Additional Information.

BRANDES INVESTMENT TRUST

Brandes International Equity Fund
Brandes Global Equity Fund
Brandes Emerging Markets Value Fund
Brandes International Small Cap Equity Fund
Brandes Small Cap Value Fund
Brandes Core Plus Fixed Income Fund
Brandes Separately Managed Account Reserve Trust
(each, a "Fund", and together the "Funds")

Supplement dated March 4, 2024 to the Funds' Prospectuses and Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") dated January 28, 2024

The Board of Trustees (the "Board") of Brandes Investment Trust (the "Trust"), based upon the recommendation of Brandes Investment Partners, L.P., the investment adviser to the Funds, approved the proposed reorganization of each Fund into correspondingly named series of Datum One Series Trust (each, a "New Fund"), subject in each case to the approval of the shareholders of the relevant existing Fund (each, a "Reorganization").

The Board also approved an Agreement and Plan of Reorganization and Termination (the "Plan") that provides that each existing Fund will assign all of its assets to the corresponding New Fund, in exchange solely for (1) the number of the New Fund shares equivalent in value to shares of the relevant existing Fund outstanding immediately prior to the closing date of the Reorganization, and (2) the New Fund's assumption of all of the relevant existing Fund's liabilities, followed by a distribution of those shares to such existing Fund's shareholders so that the existing Fund's shareholders receive shares of the corresponding New Fund equivalent in value to the shares of the existing Fund held by such shareholder on the closing date of the Reorganizations. Each Reorganization is intended to qualify as a tax-free reorganization for federal income tax purposes.

The Trust will hold a shareholder meeting on or about June 13, 2024, as may be adjourned, at which shareholders of each existing Fund as of April 12, 2024 will be asked to consider and vote on the Plan. If shareholders of each Fund approve the Reorganization with respect to that Fund, the Reorganizations are expected to take effect in or around July 2024.

Shareholders of each existing Fund will receive a combined prospectus/proxy statement with additional information about the shareholders meeting, the Reorganizations, and the New Funds. Please read these materials carefully, as they will contain a more detailed description of the Reorganizations.

Please retain this supplement with your Prospectus and Statement of Additional Information.

Statement of Additional Information

January 28, 2024

Brandes Investment Trust

BRANDES INTERNATIONAL EQUITY FUND

Class A (Ticker: BIEAX) Class C (Ticker: BIECX) Class I (Ticker: BIEX) Class R6 (Ticker: BIERX)

BRANDES GLOBAL EQUITY FUND

Class A (Ticker: BGEAX) Class C (Ticker: BGVCX) Class I (Ticker: BGVIX) Class R6 (Ticker: BGVRX)*

BRANDES EMERGING MARKETS VALUE FUND

Class A (Ticker: BEMAX) Class C (Ticker: BEMCX) Class I (Ticker: BEMIX) Class R6 (Ticker: BEMRX)

BRANDES INTERNATIONAL SMALL CAP EQUITY FUND

Class A (Ticker: BISAX) Class C (Ticker: BINCX) Class I (Ticker: BISMX) Class R6 (Ticker: BISRX)

BRANDES SMALL CAP VALUE FUND

Class A (Ticker: BSCAX) Class I (Ticker: BSCMX) Class R6 (Ticker: BSCRX)

BRANDES CORE PLUS FIXED INCOME FUND

Class A (Ticker: BCPAX) Class I (Ticker: BCPIX) Class R6 (Ticker: BCPRX)

SEPARATELY MANAGED ACCOUNT RESERVE TRUST

(Ticker: SMARX)

Brandes Investment Trust (the "Trust") is an open-end, management investment company. This Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") contains additional information about the series of the Trust referred to above (each, a "Fund" and collectively, the "Funds"). The Funds may be referred to throughout this SAI as follows: Brandes International Equity Fund ("International Equity Fund"); Brandes Global Equity Fund ("Global Equity Fund"); Brandes Emerging Markets Value Fund ("Emerging Markets Value Fund"); Brandes International Small Cap Equity Fund ("International Small Cap Fund"); Brandes Small Cap Value Fund ("Small Cap Value Fund"); Brandes Core Plus Fixed Income Fund ("Core Plus Fund"); and Separately Managed Account Reserve Trust ("SMART Fund"). The Core Plus Fund and SMART Fund, together, are referred to as the "Fixed Income Funds." Brandes Investment Partners, L.P. (the "Advisor") is the investment advisor to the Funds. The Funds offer certain classes of shares as indicated in the chart below. This SAI relates to all such classes.

* Class R6 shares of these Funds are currently inactive. If interested in purchasing the R6 shares of this Fund, please contact 1-800 395-3807 for information.

This SAI is not a prospectus, and it should be read in conjunction with the Funds' prospectuses (each a "Prospectus" and collectively, the "Prospectuses") dated January 28, 2024. Certain information is incorporated herein by reference to each Fund's 2023 Annual Report to shareholders under "Financial Statements." Copies of the Funds' Prospectuses, Annual Reports and Semi-Annual Reports may be obtained free of charge from the Funds by visiting the website at **www.brandesfunds.com**, by writing to the Funds at 4275 Executive Square, 5th Floor, La Jolla, California 92037 or by calling 1-800-395-3807.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

General Information and History	1
Investment Policies and Risks	1
Investment Restrictions	36
Portfolio Turnover	37
Portfolio Holdings Disclosure	37
Management	38
Proxy Voting Procedures	43
Principal Holders of Securities	45
Investment Advisory and Other Services	52
Portfolio Transactions and Brokerage	61
Additional Purchase and Redemption Information	64
Shareholder Service Plan	66
Sub-Transfer Agency Service Fees	66
Distribution Plan	67
Redemptions	69
Taxation	69
Other Service Providers	75
Anti-Money Laundering Program	76
Marketing and Support Payments	76
General Information	77
Financial Statements	78
Appendix A – Summary Of Credit Ratings	A-1

GENERAL INFORMATION AND HISTORY

The Trust was organized as a Delaware statutory trust on July 6, 1994 and is an open-end management investment company. The Board has authority to issue an unlimited number of shares of beneficial interest of separate series and to terminate any series without shareholder consent if it believes such termination is in the best interest of the shareholders of such series. The Trust currently consists of the series, offering different classes, as indicated below. Each Fund is considered diversified under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act").

The **International Equity Fund** commenced operations on January 2, 1997 and the original shares were designated as Class I shares on October 6, 2008. On January 31, 2011, the Fund began offering Class S shares. On January 31, 2013, the Class S shares were redesignated as Class A shares. Class C shares were first offered on January 31, 2013. Class R6 shares were first offered as of February 1, 2016.

The **Global Equity Fund**, offering Class I shares, commenced operations on October 6, 2008. On January 31, 2011, the Fund began offering Class S shares. On January 31, 2013, the Fund redesignated Class S shares as Class A shares. Class C shares were first offered on January 31, 2013. Class R6 shares have not yet been offered as of the date of this SAI.

The **Emerging Markets Value Fund** commenced operations on August 20, 1996 as a private investment fund. The private investment fund was reorganized into the Fund on January 31, 2011. On January 31, 2011, the Fund began offering both Class I and Class S shares. On January 31, 2013, the Fund redesignated Class S shares as Class A shares. Class C shares were first offered on January 31, 2013. Class R6 shares were first offered on July 11, 2016.

The **International Small Cap Fund** commenced operations on August 20, 1996 as a private investment fund. The private investment fund was reorganized into the Fund on February 1, 2012. On February 1, 2012, the Fund began offering Class I and Class S shares. On January 31, 2013, the Fund redesignated Class S shares as Class A shares. Class C shares were first offered on January 31, 2013. Class R6 shares were first offered on June 27, 2016.

The **Small Cap Value Fund** commenced operations on October 1, 1997 as a private investment fund. The private investment fund was reorganized into the Fund on January 2, 2018. On January 2, 2018, the Fund began offering Class A. Class I and Class R6 shares.

The **Core Plus Fund** commenced operations offering Class I shares on December 28, 2007. The Fund began to offer Class A shares on January 31, 2013. Class R6 shares were first offered on October 10, 2017.

The **SMART Fund** commenced operations on October 3, 2005.

INVESTMENT POLICIES AND RISKS

The following information supplements the discussion of each of the Funds' principal investment strategies as set forth in each Fund's respective Prospectus. The Funds may invest in the following types of investments, each of which is subject to certain risks, as discussed below.

Recent Events

Periods of market volatility may occur in response to market events and other economic, political, geopolitical, and global macro factors. The COVID-19 pandemic, Russia's invasion of Ukraine, and higher inflation have resulted in extreme volatility in the financial markets, economic downturns around the world, and severe losses, particularly to some sectors of the economy and individual issuers, and reduced liquidity of certain instruments. These events caused significant disruptions to business operations, including business closures; strained healthcare systems; disruptions to supply chains and employee availability; large fluctuations in consumer demand; large expansion of government deficits and debt as a result of government actions to mitigate the effects of such events; and widespread uncertainty regarding the long-term effects of such events.

In March 2023, the financial distress of certain financial institutions raised economic concerns over disruption in the U.S. banking system and the solvency of certain financial services firms. There can be no certainty that the actions taken by the U.S. government to strengthen public confidence in the U.S. banking system will be effective in mitigating the effects of financial institution failures on the economy and restoring public confidence in the U.S. banking system.

Raising the ceiling on U.S. government debt has become increasingly politicized. Any failure to increase the total amount that the U.S. government is authorized to borrow could lead to a default on U.S. government obligations, with unpredictable consequences for economies and markets in the United States and elsewhere, and the Funds' investments.

In addition, global economies are increasingly interconnected, which increases the possibility that conditions or events in one country or region, such as geopolitical events, wars, terrorist or cyber-attacks, tariffs or trade disputes, changes in oil supplies or currency values, or general market volatility, might adversely impact a different country or region. The severity or duration of these conditions may also be affected if one or more countries leave the euro currency or by other policy changes made by governments or quasi-governmental organizations.

Certain areas of the world historically have been prone to major natural disasters, such as hurricanes, earthquakes, typhoons, flooding, tidal waves, volcanic activity wildfires or droughts, and have been economically sensitive to environmental events. Such disasters, and the resulting damage, could impair the ability of issuers in which the Funds invest to conduct their businesses in a normal manner. Adverse weather conditions, including as a result of climate change, may also have a particularly significant negative effect on issuers in certain sectors, such as the agricultural sector and insurance companies that insure against the impact of natural disasters.

Any of the events described above could adversely affect the value and liquidity of a Fund's investments, impair the Fund's ability to satisfy redemption requests, and negatively impact the Fund's performance. Other market events may cause similar disruptions and effects.

Average Maturity and Duration Calculations

Average Maturity. The portfolio average maturity of a Fund's fixed income portfolio will be computed by weighting the maturity of each security in the Fund's portfolio by the market value of that security. For securities which have put dates, reset dates, or trade based on average life, the put date, reset date or average life will be used instead of the final maturity date for the average maturity calculation. Average life is normally used when trading mortgage backed securities and asset-backed securities.

Duration. One common measure of the price volatility of a fixed income security is modified duration. Modified duration is derived from weighted term-to-maturity and can vary from zero to the time-to-maturity of the security. Duration is a complex formula that utilizes cash flow and the market yield of the security. Bonds of the same maturity can have different durations if they have different coupon rates or yields.

For securities which pay periodic coupons and have a relatively short maturity, duration tends to approximate the term to maturity. As the maturity of the security extends, the duration also extends but at a slower rate. For example, the duration of a 2-year security can be about 1.8 years; the duration of a 30-year bond will be roughly 10 to 11 years. However, the duration of any security that pays interest only at maturity is the term to maturity. Thus a 30-year zero coupon bond has a duration of 30 years.

Asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities require a more complex duration calculation. These securities are generally collateralized with loans issued to individuals or businesses and often allow the borrower the discretion to repay the loan prior to maturity. Loan prepayments typically occur when interest rates have fallen sufficiently to allow the borrower to refinance the loan at a lower interest rate. Given that the cash flows for these types of securities are not known with certainty, the standard duration calculation is not accurate. An effective duration is calculated instead, using a process in which cash flows are estimated and duration is computed for a variety of interest rate scenarios. The effective duration of the security is the average of these durations weighted by the probability of each interest rate scenario.

The effective duration of the portfolio can be determined by weighting the effective duration of each bond by its market value. Effective duration is a much better indicator of price volatility than term to maturity. For example, the term to maturity for both a 30-year bond and a 30-year zero coupon security is 30 years. A portfolio manager using average maturity to judge price volatility would expect to see no difference in portfolio impact from these two securities (given equal yield). However, the 30-year zero coupon bond will experience a percentage price change roughly three times greater than that of the 30-year bond.

Borrowing

Each Fund may borrow for temporary, extraordinary or emergency purposes, or for the clearance of transactions, and then only in amounts not exceeding 10% of its total assets valued at market (for this purpose, reverse repurchase agreements and delayed delivery transactions covered by segregated accounts are not considered to

be borrowings). The 1940 Act requires the Fund to maintain continuous asset coverage (that is, total assets including borrowings, less liabilities exclusive of borrowings) of 300% of the amount borrowed. If the 300% asset coverage should decline as a result of market fluctuations or other reasons, the Fund may be required to sell some of its portfolio holdings within three days to reduce the debt and restore the 300% asset coverage, even though it may be disadvantageous from an investment standpoint to sell securities at that time. To avoid the potential leveraging effects of the Fund's borrowings, additional investments will not be made while borrowings are in excess of 5% of the Fund's total assets. Money borrowed will be subject to interest costs which may or may not be recovered by appreciation of the securities purchased. The Fund also may be required to maintain minimum average balances in connection with any such borrowings or to pay a commitment or other fee to maintain a line of credit, either of which would increase the cost of borrowing over the stated interest rate.

Borrowing involves special risk considerations. Interest costs on borrowings may fluctuate with changing market rates of interest and may partially offset or exceed the return earned on borrowed funds. To the extent the Fund is leveraged, the value of its assets will tend to increase more when its portfolio securities increase in value, and to decrease more when its portfolio securities decrease in value, than if its assets were not leveraged. The rights of any lender to the Fund to receive payments of interest or repayments of principal will be senior to those of the investors in the Fund. Consequently, the Fund might have to sell portfolio securities to meet interest or principal payments at a time when fundamental investment considerations would not favor such sales. Also, the terms of any borrowings may contain provisions that limit certain activities of the Fund, including the ability to make distributions.

Collateralized Debt Obligations

The **Fixed Income Funds** may invest in collateralized debt obligations, which are a category of asset-backed securities that include collateralized bond obligations ("CBOs"), collateralized loan obligations ("CLOs") and other similar structures.

A CBO is a trust or other special purpose entity ("SPE") which is typically backed by a diversified pool of fixed income securities (which may include high risk, below investment grade securities). A CLO is a trust or other SPE that is typically collateralized by a pool of loans, which may include, among others, domestic and non-U.S. senior secured loans, senior unsecured loans, and subordinate corporate loans, including loans that may be rated below investment grade or equivalent unrated loans. Although certain CDOs may receive credit enhancement in the form of a senior-subordinate structure, over-collateralization or bond insurance, such enhancement may not always be present and may fail to protect the Fund against the risk of loss on default of the collateral. Certain CDOs may use derivatives contracts to create "synthetic" exposure to assets rather than holding such assets directly, which entails the risks of derivative instruments described elsewhere in this SAI. CDOs may charge management fees and administrative expenses, which are in addition to fees and expenses of the Fund.

As with other asset-backed securities, CDOs typically issue multiple classes of securities which participate in varying degrees in the gains and losses associated with the assets held by the trust. CDO securities can experience substantial losses due to defaults or market anticipation of increased levels of default in the underlying collateral. Holders of some CDO securities may have a greater risk of loss than would a holder of the underlying collateral. The risks of an investment in a CDO depend largely on the type of the collateral securities and the class of the CDO in which the Fund invests. Normally, CDOs are privately offered and sold and are not registered under the securities laws. As a result, investments in CDOs may be characterized by the Fund as illiquid securities. To the extent any of the CDOs in which the Funds invest are registered under Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7), the investment in the securities will be within the limits permitted by Section 12(d)(1).

Convertible Securities

The Funds may invest in convertible securities. A convertible security is a bond which may be converted at a stated price or stated rate within a specified period of time into a certain quantity of the common stock of the same or a different issuer. Convertible securities are senior to common stocks in an issuer's capital structure, but are usually subordinated to similar non-convertible securities. While providing a fixed income stream (generally higher in yield than the income derivable from common stock but lower than that afforded by a similar non-convertible security), a convertible security also affords an investor the opportunity, through its conversion feature, to participate in the capital appreciation attendant upon a market price advance in the convertible security's underlying common stock.

The value of a convertible security is a function of its "investment value" (determined by its yield in comparison with the yields of other securities of comparable maturity and quality that do not have a conversion privilege) and its "conversion value" (the security's worth, at market value, if converted into the underlying common stock.) The credit standing of the issuer and other factors may also affect the investment value of a convertible security. The conversion value of a convertible security is determined by the market price of the underlying common stock. If the conversion value is low relative to the investment value, the price of the convertible security is governed principally by its investment value. To the extent the market price of the underlying common stock approaches or exceeds the conversion price, the price of the convertible security is increasingly influenced by its conversion value.

Like other debt securities, the market value of convertible debt securities tends to vary inversely with the level of interest rates. The value of the security declines as interest rates increase and increases as interest rates decline. Although under normal market conditions longer term securities have greater yields than do shorter term securities of similar quality, they are subject to greater price fluctuations. A convertible security may be subject to redemption at the option of the insurer at a price established in the instrument governing the convertible security. If a convertible security held by the Fund is called for redemption, the Fund will be required to permit the issuer to redeem the security, convert it into the underlying common stock or sell it to a third party.

Corporate Debt Obligations

The Funds, to the extent permitted by the Prospectus, may invest in corporate debt obligations. Corporate debt obligations include corporate bonds, debentures, notes, commercial paper and other similar corporate debt instruments. These instruments are used by companies to borrow money from investors. The issuer pays the investor a fixed or variable rate of interest and must repay the amount borrowed at maturity. Commercial paper (short-term unsecured promissory notes) is issued by companies to finance their current obligations and normally has a maturity of less than 9 months.

Credit Ratings

Credit ratings evaluate the safety of principal and interest payments of securities, not their market value. The rating of an issuer is also heavily weighted by past developments and does not necessarily reflect probable future conditions. There is frequently a lag between the time a rating is assigned and the time it is updated. As credit rating agencies may fail to timely change credit ratings of securities to reflect subsequent events, the Advisor will also monitor issuers of such securities. A summary of credit ratings is set forth in the appendix.

In general, the ratings of NRSROs represent the opinions of these agencies as to the quality of securities that they rate. Such ratings, however, are relative and subjective, are not absolute standards of quality and do not evaluate the market value risk of the securities. These ratings will be used by the Funds as initial criteria for the selection of portfolio securities, but the Funds also will rely upon the independent advice of the Advisor to evaluate potential investments. Among the factors that will be considered are the long-term ability of the issuer to pay principal and interest and general economic trends.

If, after purchase, the credit rating on a security is downgraded or the credit quality deteriorates, or if the maturity is extended, the Advisor will decide whether the security should be held or sold. Upon the occurrence of certain triggering events or defaults, the investors in a security held by a Fund may become the holders of underlying assets. In that case, the Fund may become the holder of securities that it could not otherwise purchase at a time when those assets may be difficult to sell or can be sold only at a loss.

Cyber-Security Risk

With the increased use of technologies such as mobile devices and web-based or "cloud" applications, and the dependence on the Internet and computer systems to perform necessary business functions, investment companies such as the Funds and their service providers may be prone to operational and information security risks resulting from cyber-attacks. In general, cyber-attacks result from deliberate attacks but unintentional events may have effects similar to those caused by cyber-attacks. Cyber-attacks may involve among other things, infection by computer viruses or other malicious software code or unauthorized access to digital information systems, networks or devices used directly or indirectly by the Funds or their service providers through "hacking", "phishing", or other means, in each case for the purpose of misappropriating assets or sensitive information, stealing or corrupting data maintained online or digitally, denial of service attacks on websites, the unauthorized release of confidential information and causing operational disruption. Successful cyber-attacks against, or

security breakdowns of, a Fund or its adviser, custodians, transfer agent, and/or other third party service providers may adversely impact the Funds and their shareholders. For instance, cyber-attacks may interfere with the processing of shareholder transactions, impact a Fund's ability to calculate its net asset value, cause the release of private shareholder information or confidential Fund information, impede trading, cause reputational damage, and subject a Fund to regulatory fines, penalties or financial losses, reimbursement or other compensation costs, and/or additional compliance costs. The Funds also may incur substantial costs for cyber-security risk management in order to guard against any cyber incidents in the future. While the Funds or their service providers may have established business continuity plans and systems designed to guard against such cyber-attacks or adverse effects of such attacks, there are inherent limitations in such plans and systems including the possibility that certain risks have not been identified, in large part because different unknown threats may emerge in the future. Similar types of cyber-security risks also are present for issuers of securities in which the Funds invest, which could result in material adverse consequences for such issuers, and may cause a Fund's investment in such securities to lose value.

Delayed Funding Loans and Revolving Credit Facilities

Each Fund may enter into, or acquire participations in, delayed funding loans and revolving credit facilities. Delayed funding loans and revolving credit facilities are borrowing arrangements in which the lender agrees to make loans up to a maximum amount upon demand by the borrower during a specified term. A revolving credit facility differs from a delayed funding loan in that as the borrower repays the loan, an amount equal to the repayment may be borrowed again during the term of the revolving credit facility. Delayed funding loans and revolving credit facilities usually provide for floating or variable rates of interest. These commitments may have the effect of requiring the Fund to increase its investment in a company at a time when it might not otherwise decide to do so (including at a time when the company's financial condition makes it unlikely that such amounts will be repaid). To the extent that a Fund is committed to advance additional funds, it may segregate assets, determined to be liquid by the Advisor in accordance with established procedures in an amount sufficient to meet such commitments.

Each Fund may invest in delayed funding loans and revolving credit facilities with credit quality comparable to that of issuers of its securities investments. Delayed funding loans and revolving credit facilities may be subject to restrictions on transfer, and only limited opportunities may exist to resell such instruments. As a result, a Fund may be unable to sell such investments at an opportune time or may have to resell them at less than fair market value. Each Fund currently intends to treat delayed funding loans and revolving credit facilities for which there is no readily available market as illiquid for purposes of the Fund's limitation on illiquid investments. For a further discussion of the risks involved in investing in loan participations and other forms of direct indebtedness see "Loan Participations and Assignments." Participation interests in revolving credit facilities will be subject to the limitations discussed in "Loan Participations and Assignments." Delayed funding loans and revolving credit facilities are considered to be debt obligations for purposes of the Trust's investment restriction relating to the lending of funds or assets by a Fund.

Under the SEC's rule applicable to the Fund's use of derivatives, delayed funding loans are not derivatives transactions. A Fund will only enter into such agreements if the Fund reasonably believes, at the time it enters into such agreement, that it will have sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet its obligations with respect to all of its unfunded commitment agreements as they come due.

Depositary Receipts

The Funds may invest in the securities of foreign issuers in the form of Depositary Receipts or other securities convertible into securities of foreign issuers. For purposes of a Fund's investment policies, a Fund's investments in Depositary Receipts will be deemed to be investments in equity securities of the foreign issuers into which they may be converted. Depositary Receipts may not necessarily be denominated in the same currency as the underlying securities into which they may be converted. American Depositary Receipts ("ADRs") are receipts or shares typically issued by an American bank or trust company that evidence ownership of underlying securities issued by a foreign corporation. European Depositary Receipts ("EDRs") are receipts issued in Europe that evidence a similar ownership arrangement. Global Depositary Receipts ("GDRs") are receipts issued throughout the world that evidence a similar arrangement. Generally, ADRs in registered form are designed for use in the U.S. securities markets, and EDRs in bearer form are designed for use in European securities markets. GDRs are tradable both in the United States and in Europe and are designed for use throughout the world.

Depositary Receipts are generally subject to the same risks as the foreign securities that they evidence or into which they may be converted or exchanged. However, investing in Depositary Receipts presents additional risks that may not be the same as the risks inherent in holding the equivalent shares of the same companies that are traded in the local markets. These risks include fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which are affected by international balances of payments and other economic and financial conditions; government intervention; speculation; and other factors. A Fund may be required to pay foreign withholding or other taxes on certain Depositary Receipts that it owns, but investors are generally not expected to be able to deduct their pro rata shares of such taxes in computing their taxable income or to claim their pro rata shares of such taxes as a credit against their U.S. federal income tax liability.

Depositary Receipts may be sponsored by foreign issuers or may be unsponsored. Unsponsored Depositary Receipts are organized independently and without the cooperation of the foreign issuer of the underlying securities. The issuers of unsponsored Depositary Receipts are not obligated to disclose material information in the United States, and therefore there may be less information available regarding such issuers and there may not be a correlation between such information and the market value of the Depositary Receipts. While readily exchangeable with stock in local markets, unsponsored ADRs may be less liquid than sponsored ADRs.

Derivative Instruments

A variety of derivative investment products ("financial instruments") are available in the financial markets, including put and call options on securities, indexes and currencies; financial and commodity futures contracts and options on futures contracts; swaps and options on such agreements; structured notes; and various hybrid instruments. The Advisor has not used such financial instruments, except for participatory notes, in the past in managing securities portfolios, but will continue to evaluate the potential benefits of using them and may use them in managing funds.

Each Fund may purchase and sell (write) put and call options on securities, securities indexes, and foreign currencies, and may enter into interest rate, index, and foreign currency, futures contracts and purchase and sell options on such futures contracts ("futures options"). These transactions may be for hedging purposes, to seek to replicate the composition and performance of a particular index, or as part of a Fund's overall investment strategy. Each Fund also may purchase and sell foreign currency options for purposes of increasing exposure to a foreign currency or to shift exposure to foreign currency fluctuations from one country to another.

Each Fund also may enter into swaps with respect to interest rates, securities indexes, credit default situations, and foreign currencies. Each Fund may also invest in structured notes. If other types of financial instruments, including other types of swaps, options, futures contracts, or futures options are traded in the future, each Fund may also use those instruments, provided that the Advisor determines that their use is consistent with the Fund's investment objective.

The use of such financial instruments is limited by applicable law and any applicable regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), the Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC"), or the exchanges on which some financial instruments may be traded.

Financial reform laws enacted after the financial crisis of 2008-2009, such as the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act ("Dodd-Frank"), have changed many aspects of financial regulation applicable to derivatives. For instance, Dodd-Frank calls for the comprehensive regulation of swaps by the CFTC and security-based swaps (e.g., swaps on single securities, single loans and narrow-based securities indexes) by the SEC. Under Dodd-Frank, the CFTC and the SEC are adopting and implementing regulations applicable to these instruments, including rules with respect to recordkeeping, reporting, business conduct, relationship documentation, margin, clearing, and trade execution requirements. In addition, Dodd-Frank requires the registration of certain parties that deal or engage in substantial trading, execution of advisory activities in the markets for swaps and security-based swaps.

Rule 18f-4 under the 1940 Act (the "Derivatives Rule") replaces prior SEC and staff guidance with an updated comprehensive framework for registered investment companies' use of derivatives. Among other changes, the Derivatives Rule requires an investment company to trade derivatives and certain other instruments that create future payment or delivery obligations subject to a value-at-risk ("VaR") leverage limit, develop and implement a derivatives risk management program and new testing requirements, and comply with new requirements related to board and SEC reporting. These requirements apply unless a fund qualifies as a "limited derivatives user," as defined in the Derivatives Rule. All of the Funds currently qualify as limited derivatives users.

Complying with the Derivatives Rule may increase the cost of a Fund's investments and cost of doing business, which could adversely affect investors. The Derivatives Rule may not be effective to limit a Fund's risk of loss. Other potentially adverse regulatory obligations can develop suddenly and without notice.

Each Fund's use of derivatives also may be affected by other applicable laws and regulations, including the laws and regulations of various non-U.S. jurisdictions. A Fund's trading of derivatives also may be subject to review by the SEC, the CFTC, exchange and market authorities and other regulators in the United States and abroad.

The impact of these regulations may not be known for some time.

The Funds might not employ any of the strategies in the derivatives instruments described above, and no assurance can be given that any strategy used will succeed. If the Advisor incorrectly forecasts interest rates, market values or other economic factors in utilizing a derivatives strategy for a Fund, the Fund might have been in a better position if it had not entered into the transaction at all. Also, suitable derivative transactions may not be available in all circumstances. The use of these strategies involves special risks, including the following:

- Financial instruments are subject to the risk that the market value of the derivative itself or the market value of underlying instruments will change in a way adverse to a Fund's interest. Many financial instruments are complex, and successful use of them depends in part upon the Advisor's ability to forecast correctly future market trends and other financial or economic factors or the value of the underlying security, index, interest rate, currency or other asset. Even if the Advisor's forecasts are correct, other factors may cause distortions or dislocations in the markets that result in unsuccessful transactions. Financial instruments may behave in unexpected ways, especially in abnormal or volatile market conditions.
- A Fund may be required to post collateral or make margin payments when it takes positions in financial instruments. Assets that are used as margin or collateral may be required to be in the form of cash or liquid securities, and typically may not be sold while the position in the financial instrument is open unless they are replaced with other appropriate assets. If markets move against a Fund's position, the Fund may be required to maintain or post additional assets and may have to dispose of existing investments to obtain assets acceptable as collateral or margin. This may prevent it from pursuing its investment objective. Assets that are used as margin or collateral typically are invested, and these investments are subject to risk and may result in losses to a Fund. These losses may be substantial, and may be in addition to losses incurred by using the financial instrument in question. If a Fund is unable to close out its positions, it may be required to continue to maintain such assets or accounts or make such payments until the positions expire or mature, and the Fund will continue to be subject to investment risk on the assets. Margin and collateral requirements may impair a Fund's ability to sell a portfolio security or make an investment at a time when it would otherwise be favorable to do so, or require the Fund to sell a portfolio security or close out a derivatives position at a disadvantageous time or price.
- A Fund's ability to close out or unwind a position in a financial instrument prior to expiration or maturity depends on the existence of a liquid market or, in the absence of such a market, the ability and willingness of the other party to the transaction (the "counterparty") to enter into a transaction closing out the position. If there is no market or a Fund is not successful in its negotiations, the Fund may not be able to sell or unwind the derivative position at a particular time or at an anticipated price. This may also be the case if the counterparty to the financial instrument becomes insolvent. A Fund may be required to make delivery of portfolio securities or other assets underlying a financial instrument in order to close out a position or to sell portfolio securities or assets at a disadvantageous time or price in order to obtain cash to close out the position. While the position remains open, a Fund continues to be subject to investment risk on the financial instrument. A Fund may or may not be able to take other actions or enter into other transactions, including hedging transactions, to limit or reduce its exposure to the financial instrument.
- Certain financial instruments transactions may have a leveraging effect on a Fund, and adverse changes
 in the value of the underlying security, index, interest rate, currency or other instrument or measure can
 result in losses substantially greater than the amount invested in the financial instrument itself. When a
 Fund engages in transactions that have a leveraging effect, the value of the Fund is likely to be more
 volatile and other risks also are likely to be compounded. This is because leverage generally magnifies the
 effect of any increase or decrease in the value of an asset and creates investment risk with respect to a
 larger pool of assets than a Fund would otherwise have. Certain financial instruments have the potential
 for unlimited loss, regardless of the size of the initial investment.

- Many financial instruments may be difficult to value or may be valued subjectively. Inaccurate or subjective valuations can result in increased payment requirements to counterparties or a loss of value to a Fund.
- Liquidity risk exists when a particular financial instrument is difficult to purchase or sell. If a derivative
 transaction is particularly large or if the relevant market is illiquid, a Fund may be unable to initiate a
 transaction or liquidate a position at an advantageous time or price. Certain financial instruments,
 including certain over-the-counter (or "OTC") options and swaps, may be considered illiquid and therefore
 subject to a Fund's limitation on investments in illiquid securities.
- In a hedging transaction there may be imperfect correlation, or even no correlation, between the identity, price or price movements of a financial instrument and the identity, price or price movements of the investments being hedged. This lack of correlation may cause the hedge to be unsuccessful and may result in a Fund incurring substantial losses and/or not achieving anticipated gains.
- Hedging strategies can reduce opportunity for gain by offsetting the positive effect of favorable price
 movements. Even if the strategy works as intended, a Fund might be in a better position had it not
 attempted to hedge at all.
- Financial instruments transactions used for non-hedging purposes may result in losses which would not
 be offset by increases in the value of portfolio securities or declines in the cost of securities to be
 acquired. If a Fund enters into a derivatives transaction as an alternative to purchasing or selling other
 investments or in order to obtain desired exposure to an index, market or other asset, the Fund will be
 exposed to the same risks as are incurred in purchasing or selling the other investments directly, as well
 as the risks of the derivatives transaction itself.
- Certain financial instruments transactions involve the risk of loss resulting from the insolvency or bankruptcy of the counterparty or the failure by the counterparty to make required payments or otherwise comply with the terms of the contract. In the event of default by a counterparty, a Fund may have contractual remedies pursuant to the agreements related to the transaction, which may be limited by applicable law in the case of the counterparty's bankruptcy.
- In a cleared derivatives transaction, a Fund would be exposed to the risk of default on the obligations, or
 the insolvency, of the relevant clearinghouse. In addition, if a Fund has posted any margin to a broker that
 is a member of a clearinghouse with respect to a cleared derivatives transaction, the Fund would be
 exposed to the risk of default on the obligations, or the insolvency, of the broker through which it has
 entered into the transaction. Such losses, which could be substantial, may occur despite legal protections
 that are designed to protect customer assets in cleared derivatives transactions.
- Certain financial instruments transactions, including certain options, swaps, forward contracts, and certain options on foreign currencies, are not entered into or traded on exchanges. Instead, such OTC derivatives are entered into directly by the counterparties and may be traded only or primarily through financial institutions acting as market makers. Many of the protections afforded to exchange participants will not be available to participants in OTC derivatives transactions. For example, OTC derivatives transactions are not subject to the guarantee of an exchange or clearinghouse and as a result a fund bears greater risk of default by the counterparties to such transactions. Information available on counterparty creditworthiness may be incomplete or outdated, thus reducing the ability to anticipate counterparty defaults.
- Under Dodd-Frank, swaps that are required to be cleared must be traded on a CFTC-regulated swap
 execution facility or designated contract market that makes them available for trading. The transition from
 trading swaps bilaterally to trading them on such a facility or market may not result in swaps being easier
 to trade or value and may present certain execution risks if these facilities and markets do not operate
 properly. On-facility trading of swaps is also expected to lead to greater standardization of their terms. As
 a result, it is possible that a Fund may not be able to enter into swaps that fully meet its investment needs.
 In addition, it is possible that the costs of entering into customized swaps, including any applicable margin
 requirements, will be significant.
- Financial instruments involve operational risk. There may be incomplete or erroneous documentation, insufficient capacity or authority of a counterparty, issues with the legality or enforceability of a contract, inadequate collateral or margin, or transactions may fail to settle. The risk of operational failures may be higher for OTC derivatives transactions. For derivatives not guaranteed by an exchange, a Fund may have

- only contractual remedies in the event of a counterparty default, and there may be delays, costs, disagreements as to the meaning of contractual terms and litigation, in enforcing those remedies.
- Financial instruments transactions conducted outside the United States may not be conducted in the
 same manner as those entered into on U.S. exchanges, and may be subject to different margin, exercise,
 settlement or expiration procedures. Many of the risks of OTC derivatives transactions are also applicable
 to derivatives transactions conducted outside the United States. Derivatives transactions conducted
 outside the United States also are subject to the risks affecting foreign securities, currencies and other
 instruments.
- Financial instruments involving currency are subject to additional risks. Currency related transactions may
 be negatively affected by government exchange controls, blockages, and manipulations. Exchange rates
 may be influenced by factors extrinsic to a country's economy. Also, there is no systematic reporting of
 last sale information with respect to foreign currencies. As a result, the information on which trading in
 currency derivatives is based may not be as complete as, and may be delayed beyond, comparable data
 for other transactions.
- Use of financial instruments involves transaction costs, which may be significant. Use of financial instruments also may increase the amount of taxable income to shareholders.

Bond markets have consistently grown over the past three decades while the capacity for traditional dealer counterparties to engage in fixed income trading has not kept pace and in some cases has decreased. As a result, dealer inventories of corporate bonds, which provide a core indication of the ability of financial intermediaries to "make markets," are at or near historic lows in relation to market size. Because market makers provide stability to a market through their intermediary services, the significant reduction in dealer inventories could potentially lead to decreased liquidity and increased volatility in the fixed income markets. Such issues may be exacerbated during periods of economic uncertainty.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk may result from the lack of an active market, reduced number and capacity of traditional market participants to make a market in fixed income securities, and may be magnified in a rising interest rate environment or other circumstances where investor redemptions from fixed income mutual funds may be higher than normal causing increased supply in the market due to selling activity. There can be diminished liquidity for certain equity securities as well. In such cases, a Fund, due to limitations on investments in illiquid securities and the difficulty in purchasing and selling such securities or instruments may be unable to achieve its desired level of exposure to a certain sector. To the extent that a Fund's principal investment strategies involve investments in securities of companies with smaller market capitalizations, foreign non-U.S. securities, Rule 144A securities, illiquid sectors of fixed income securities, derivatives or securities with substantial market and/or credit risk, the Fund will tend to have the greatest exposure to liquidity risk. Further, fixed income securities with longer durations until maturity face heightened levels of liquidity risk as compared to fixed income securities with shorter durations until maturity. Finally, liquidity risk also refers to the risk of unusually high redemption requests or other unusual market conditions that may make it difficult for a Fund to fully honor redemption requests within the allowable time period. Meeting such redemption requests could require a Fund to sell securities at reduced prices or under unfavorable conditions, which would reduce the value of the Fund. It may also be the case that other market participants may be attempting to liquidate equity or fixed income holdings at the same time as a Fund, causing increased supply in the market and contributing to liquidity risk and downward pricing pressure.

Foreign Currency Options

Each Fund may buy or sell put and call options on foreign currencies either on exchanges or in the over-the-counter market. A put option on a foreign currency gives the purchaser of the option the right to sell a foreign currency at the exercise price until the option expires. A call option on a foreign currency gives the purchaser of the option the right to purchase the currency at the exercise price until the option expires. Currency options traded on U.S. or other exchanges may be subject to position limits that may limit the ability of the Fund to reduce foreign currency risk using such options, and are subject to other risks similar to options on securities on indexes.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Each Fund may enter into foreign currency transactions. Each Fund normally conducts its foreign currency exchange transactions either on a spot (cash) basis at the spot rate prevailing in the foreign currencies or on a forward basis. A Fund generally will not enter into a forward contract with a term of greater than one year. Although forward contracts may be used primarily to protect a Fund from adverse currency movements, they may also be used to increase exposure to a currency, and involve the risk that anticipated currency movements will not be accurately predicted and a Fund's total return will be adversely affected as a result. Forward currency contracts are considered derivatives. Accordingly, under the Derivatives Rule, a Fund's obligations with respect to these instruments will depend on the Fund's aggregate usage and exposure to derivatives.

Forward currency contracts are traded directly between currency traders (usually large commercial banks) and their customers. The cost to a Fund of engaging in such contracts varies with factors such as the currency involved, the length of the contract period and the market conditions then prevailing. Because such contracts are entered into on a principal basis, no fees or commissions are involved.

Precise matching of the amount of forward currency contracts and the value of securities denominated in such currencies of a Fund will not generally be possible, since the future value of such securities in foreign currencies will change as a consequence of market movements in the value of those securities between the date the forward contract is entered into and the date it matures. Prediction of short-term currency market movements is extremely difficult, and the successful execution of a short-term hedging strategy is highly uncertain. A Fund will not enter into such forward contracts or maintain a net exposure to such contracts where the consummation of the contracts would obligate the Fund to deliver an amount of foreign currency in excess of the value of the Fund's portfolio securities or other assets denominated in that currency. Under normal circumstances, consideration of the prospect for currency parities will be incorporated into the longer term investment decisions made with regard to overall diversification strategies. However, the Advisor believes that it is important to have the flexibility to enter into such forward contracts when it determines that the best interests of a Fund will be served by doing so.

At the maturity of a forward contract, the Fund may either sell the portfolio security and make delivery of the foreign currency, or it may retain the security and terminate its contractual obligation to deliver the foreign currency by purchasing an "offsetting" contract obligating it to purchase, on the same maturity date, the same amount of the foreign currency.

It may be necessary for the Fund to purchase additional foreign currency on the spot market (and bear the expense of such purchase) if the market value of the security is less than the amount of foreign currency the Fund is obligated to deliver and if a decision is made to sell the security and make delivery of the foreign currency. Conversely, it may be necessary to sell on the spot market some of the foreign currency received upon the sale of the portfolio security if its market value exceeds the amount of foreign currency the Fund is obligated to deliver.

If a Fund retains a portfolio security and engages in an offsetting transaction, the Fund will incur a gain or a loss to the extent that there has been movement in forward contract prices. If the Fund engages in an offsetting transaction, it may subsequently enter into a new forward contract to sell the foreign currency. Should forward prices decline during the period between the date the Fund enters into a forward contract for the sale of a foreign currency and the date it enters into an offsetting contract for the purchase of the foreign currency, the Fund will realize a gain to the extent the price of the currency it has agreed to sell exceeds the price of the currency it has agreed to purchase. Should forward prices increase, the Fund will suffer a loss to the extent the price of the currency it has agreed to purchase exceeds the price of the currency it has agreed to sell.

The Funds' dealings in forward foreign currency exchange contracts will generally be limited to the transactions described above. However, each Fund reserves the right to enter into forward foreign currency contracts for different purposes and under different circumstances. Use of forward currency contracts to hedge against a decline in the value of a currency does not eliminate fluctuations in the underlying prices of the securities. Additionally, although such contracts tend to minimize the risk of loss due to a decline in the value of the hedged currency, they also tend to limit any potential gain which might result from an increase in the value of that currency.

Although each Fund values its assets daily in terms of U.S. dollars, it does not intend to convert its holdings of foreign currencies into U.S. dollars on a daily basis. Foreign exchange dealers do not charge a fee for conversion, but they do realize a profit based on the difference (the "spread") between the prices at which they are buying and selling various currencies. Thus, a dealer may offer to sell a foreign currency to the Fund at one rate, while offering a lesser rate of exchange should the Fund desire to resell that currency to the dealer.

Foreign Government Obligations

The **Fixed Income Funds** may invest in foreign government obligations, which are debt securities issued or guaranteed by a supranational organization, or a foreign sovereign government or one of its agencies, authorities, instrumentalities or political subdivisions, including a foreign state, province or municipality.

Foreign Investments

Each Fund's Prospectus describes the extent to which a Fund may invest in securities of issuers organized or headquartered in foreign countries. Generally, such investments are likely to be made in issues in the developed markets of Europe, Asia and North America, as well as emerging markets (including frontier markets) deemed to be suitable by the Advisor. A Fund may make foreign investments in issuers organized or headquartered in emerging countries. A Fund may elect not to invest in all such countries, and it may also invest in other countries when such investments are consistent with the Fund's investment objective and policies.

There are special risks in investing in any foreign securities in addition to those relating to investments in U.S. securities including, but not limited to, the following:

Political, Geopolitical and Economic Factors. Individual foreign economies of certain countries may differ favorably or unfavorably from the United States' economy in such respects as growth of gross national product, rate of inflation, capital reinvestment, resource self-sufficiency, diversification and balance of payments position. The internal politics of certain foreign countries may not be as stable as those of the United States. Such instability may result from, among other things, authoritarian governments or military involvement in political and economic decision making; popular unrest associated with demands for improved economic, political and social conditions; terrorism; internal insurgencies; hostile relations with neighboring countries; and ethnic, religious and racial conflict.

Recently, the Israel-Hamas war has resulted in significant loss of life and increased volatility in the Middle East, and there is a risk that the war could worsen or spread within the region. The extent, duration, and impact of wars, international conflicts, and related sanctions and retaliatory actions are impossible to predict, but could be significant and have severe adverse effects on the region, including regional economies, the global economy, and the markets for certain securities and commodities.

Russia has attempted to assert its influence in Eastern Europe in the recent past through economic and military measures, including military incursions into Georgia in 2008 and eastern Ukraine in 2014, heightening geopolitical risk in the region and tensions with the West. In February 2022, Russia initiated a large-scale invasion of Ukraine resulting in the displacement of millions of Ukrainians from their homes, a substantial loss of life, and the widespread destruction of property and infrastructure throughout Ukraine. In response to Russia's invasion of Ukraine, the governments of the United States, the European Union, the United Kingdom, and many other nations joined together to impose heavy economic sanctions on certain Russian individuals, including its political leaders, as well as Russian corporate and banking entities and other Russian industries and businesses. The sanctions restrict companies from doing business with Russia and Russian companies, prohibit transactions with the Russian central bank and other key Russian financial institutions and entities, ban Russian airlines and ships from using many other countries' airspace and ports, respectively, and place a freeze on certain Russian assets. The sanctions also removed some Russian banks from the Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommunications (SWIFT), the electronic network that connects banks globally to facilitate cross-border payments. In addition, the United States has banned oil and other energy imports from Russia, and the United Kingdom made a commitment to phase out oil imports from Russia by the end of 2022. The United States, the European Union, the United Kingdom, and their global allies may impose additional sanctions or other intergovernmental actions against Russia in the future, but Russia may respond in kind by imposing retaliatory economic sanctions or countermeasures. The extent and duration of the war in Ukraine and the longevity and severity of sanctions remain unknown, but they could have a significant adverse impact on the European economy as well as the price and availability of certain commodities, including oil and natural gas, throughout the world. Further, an escalation of the military conflict beyond Ukraine's borders could result in significant, long-lasting damage to the economies of Eastern and Western Europe as well as the global economy.

Governments in certain foreign countries continue to participate to a significant degree, through ownership interest or regulation, in their respective economies. Action by these governments could include restrictions on foreign investment, nationalization, expropriation of goods or imposition of taxes, and could have a significant effect on market prices of securities and payment of interest. The economies of many foreign countries are

heavily dependent upon international trade and are accordingly affected by the trade policies and economic conditions of their trading partners. Enactment by these trading partners of protectionist trade legislation could have a significant adverse effect upon the securities markets of such countries.

On January 31, 2020, the United Kingdom (the "UK") formally withdrew from the European Union (the "EU") (commonly referred to as "Brexit") and, after a transition period, the UK left the EU single market and customs union under the terms of a new trade agreement, effective January 1, 2021. The agreement governs the relationship between the UK and EU with respect to trading goods and services, but certain aspects of the relationship remain unresolved and subject to further negotiation and agreement. The effects of Brexit are also being shaped by the trade agreements that the UK negotiates with other countries. Although the longer term political, regulatory, and economic consequences of Brexit are uncertain, Brexit has caused volatility in UK, EU, and global markets. The potential negative effects of Brexit on the UK and EU economies and the broader global economy could include, among others, business and trade disruptions, increased volatility and illiquidity, currency fluctuations, and potentially lower economic growth of markets in the UK, EU and globally, which could negatively impact the value of a Fund's investments. Brexit could also lead to legal uncertainty and politically divergent national laws and regulations while the relationship between the UK and EU continues to be defined and the UK determines which EU laws to replace or replicate.

Geographic Concentration and Country Risk. A small number of companies and industries may represent a large portion of the market in a particular country or region, and these companies and industries can be sensitive to adverse social, political, economic or regulatory developments in that country or region.

Emerging Markets Investments. Investments by a Fund in securities issued by the governments of emerging or developing countries, and of companies within those countries, involve greater risks than other foreign investments. Investments in emerging or developing markets involve exposure to economic and legal structures that are generally less diverse and mature (and in some cases the absence of developed legal structures governing private and foreign investments and private property), and to political systems which can be expected to have less stability, than those of more developed countries. The risks of investment in such countries may include matters such as relatively unstable governments, higher degrees of government involvement in the economy, the absence until recently of capital market structures or market-oriented economies, economies based on only a few industries, securities markets which trade only a small number of securities, restrictions on foreign investment in securities, and significant foreign currency devaluations and fluctuations.

The economies of many of these countries are heavily dependent upon international trade and are accordingly affected by protective trade barriers and economic conditions of their trading partners. The enactment by these trading partners of protectionist trade legislation could have a significant adverse effect upon the securities markets of such countries. Many of these countries may also have more government exchange controls, more volatile interest or currency exchange rates, less market regulation, and less developed and less stable economic, political and legal systems than those of more developed countries. There may be less publicly available information about issuers in emerging markets than is available about issuers in more developed capital markets, and such issuers may not be subject to regulatory, accounting, auditing, and financial reporting and recordkeeping standards comparable to those to which issuers in developed markets are subject. The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board ("PCAOB"), which regulates auditors of U.S. public companies, for example, may be unable to inspect audit work and practices in certain countries. The PCAOB's limited ability to oversee the operations of accounting firms in such countries means that inaccurate or incomplete financial records of an issuer's operations may not be detected, which could negatively impact a Fund's investments in such companies. Emerging market countries may also have currencies with no recognizable market value relative to the established currencies of western market economies, little or no experience in trading in securities and a lack of a banking and securities infrastructure to handle such trading, and less liquid securities markets. Securities markets in emerging markets may also be susceptible to manipulation or other fraudulent trade practices, which could disrupt the functioning of these markets or adversely affect the value of investments traded in these markets, including investments of the Funds. A Fund's rights with respect to its investments in emerging markets, if any, will generally be governed by local law, which may make it difficult or impossible for the Fund to pursue legal remedies or to obtain and enforce judgments in local courts. Delays may occur in settling securities transactions in emerging market countries, which could adversely affect a Fund's ability to make or liquidate investments in those markets in a timely fashion. In addition, it may not be possible for a Fund to find satisfactory custodial services in an emerging market country, which could increase the Fund's costs and cause delays in the transportation and custody of its investments.

In certain of these countries, severe and persistent levels of inflation, including, in some cases, hyperinflation, have, in turn, led to high interest rates, extreme measures by governments to keep inflation in check, and a generally debilitating effect on economic growth. Although inflation in many countries has lessened, there is no guarantee it will remain at lower levels. The political history of certain of these countries has also been characterized by political uncertainty, intervention by the military in civilian and economic spheres (including expropriation, nationalization and confiscation of assets and property, and restrictions on foreign investments and on repatriation of capital invested) and political corruption. Such developments, if they were to reoccur, could reverse favorable trends toward market and economic reform, privatization, and removal of trade barriers, and result in significant disruption in securities markets. A number of these countries are highly dependent on foreign loans for their operation. There have been moratoria on, and reschedulings of, repayment with respect to many countries' debts. Such events can restrict the flexibility of these debtor nations in the international markets and result in the imposition of onerous conditions on their economies.

A Fund may invest in Chinese companies through a structure known as a variable interest entity ("VIE"), which is designed to provide foreign investors, such as the Fund, with exposure to Chinese companies in sectors in which foreign investment is not permitted. In a VIE structure, a China-based operating company will establish an entity outside of China that will enter into service and other contracts with the China-based operating company. Shares of the entities established outside of China are often listed and traded on an exchange. Non-Chinese investors (such as the Fund) hold equity interests in the entities established outside of China rather than directly in the China-based operating companies. This arrangement allows U.S. investors to obtain economic exposure to the China-based operating company through contractual means rather than through formal equity ownership. An investment in a VIE structure subjects the Fund to the risks associated with the underlying China-based operating company. In addition, the Fund may be exposed to certain associated risks, including the risks that the Chinese government could subject the China-based operating company to penalties, revocation of business and operating licenses or forfeiture of ownership interests; the Chinese government may outlaw the VIE structure; the contracts underlying the VIE structure may not be enforced by Chinese courts; and shareholders of the China-based operating company may leverage the VIE structure to their benefit and to the detriment of the investors in the VIE structure. If any of these actions were to occur, a Fund could suffer a permanent loss of its investment.

In addition, there may be restrictions on imports from certain countries, such as Russia, and dealings with certain state-sponsored entities. For example, following Russia's large-scale invasion of Ukraine, the President of the United States signed an Executive Order in February 2022 prohibiting U.S. persons from entering into transactions with the Central Bank of Russia, and Executive Orders in March 2022 prohibiting U.S. persons from importing oil and gas from Russia as well as other popular Russian exports, such as diamonds, seafood and vodka. There may also be restrictions on investments in emerging market securities. For example, the President of the United States of America signed an Executive Order in June 2021 affirming and expanding the U.S. policy prohibiting U.S. persons from purchasing or investing in publicly-traded securities of companies identified by the U.S. Government as "Chinese Military-Industrial Complex Companies." The list of such companies can change from time to time, and as a result of forced selling or an inability to participate in an investment the Advisor otherwise believes is attractive, a Fund may incur losses.

Emerging markets can be substantially more volatile than both U.S. and more developed foreign markets. Such volatility may be exacerbated by illiquidity. The average daily trading volume in all of the emerging markets combined is a small fraction of the average daily volume of the U.S. market. Small trading volumes may affect the Fund's ability to purchase or sell securities at a favorable price.

Currency Fluctuations. To the extent that a Fund invests in securities denominated in foreign currencies, a change in the value of any such currency against the U.S. dollar will result in a corresponding change in the U.S. dollar value of a Fund's assets denominated in that currency. Such changes will also affect a Fund's income. The value of a Fund's assets may also be affected significantly by currency restrictions and exchange control regulations enacted from time to time. Currency exchange rates generally are determined by the forces of supply and demand in the foreign exchange markets and the relative merits of investments in different countries as viewed from an international perspective. Currency exchange rates can also be affected unpredictably by intervention by U.S. or foreign governments or central banks or by currency controls or political developments in the United States or abroad.

Market Characteristics. Foreign securities in which a Fund invests will be purchased on foreign over-the-counter markets or on foreign securities exchanges located in the countries in which the principal offices of the issuers of the various securities are located, if that is the best available market. Foreign securities markets may be less liquid

and more volatile than U.S. securities markets. While the volume of transactions effected on foreign stock exchanges has increased in recent years, it remains appreciably below that of the New York Stock Exchange. Accordingly, a Fund's foreign investments may be less liquid and their prices may be more volatile, than comparable investments in securities in U.S. companies. A Fund is subject to the risk that, because there are generally fewer investors on foreign exchanges and a smaller number of shares traded each day, it may be difficult for a Fund to buy and sell securities on those exchanges. Moreover, settlement practices for transactions in foreign markets may differ from those in United States markets, and may include delays beyond periods customary in the United States. Such differences and potential delays may expose the Fund to increased risk of loss in the event of a failed trade or the insolvency of a foreign broker-dealer.

The value of a Fund's portfolio positions may also be adversely impacted by delays in a Fund's ability to act upon economic events occurring in foreign markets during non-business hours in the United States.

Legal, Regulatory, and Taxation Matters. Certain foreign countries may have less supervision of securities markets, brokers and issuers of securities, and less financial information available to issuers, than is available in the United States. In addition, foreign markets for derivatives may be subject to less supervision, may provide less disclosure, and may present different or greater operational, custody, counterparty, and other risks than the markets for derivatives in the United States. Furthermore, the Funds may encounter difficulties in pursuing legal remedies or in obtaining judgments in foreign courts. The holding of foreign securities may be limited by the Funds to avoid investments in certain Passive Foreign Investment Companies ("PFICs"). A Fund's investments in PFICs may subject it to complex tax rules and result in unfavorable tax costs.

Futures Contracts and Options on Futures Contracts

Each Fund may invest in futures contracts and futures options with respect to, but not limited to, interest rates, security indexes and currencies. A futures contract is an agreement between two parties to buy and sell a security for a set price on a future date. These contracts are traded on exchanges, so that, in most cases, either party can close out its position on the exchange for cash, without delivering the security or commodity. An option on a futures contract gives the holder of the option the right to buy or sell a position in a futures contract to the writer of the option, at a specified price and on or before a specified expiration date.

An interest rate, foreign currency or index futures contract provides for the future sale by one party and purchase by another party of a specified quantity of a financial instrument, foreign currency or the cash value of an index at a specified price and time. A futures contract on an index is an agreement pursuant to which two parties agree to take or make delivery of an amount of cash equal to the difference between the value of the index at the close of the last trading day of the contract and the price at which the index contract was originally written. Although the value of an index might be a function of the value of certain specified securities, no physical delivery of these securities is made. The Advisor believes that a public market exists in futures contracts covering a number of indexes as well as financial instruments and foreign currencies, including: the S&P 500; the S&P Midcap 400; the Nikkei 225; the NYSE composite; U.S. Treasury bonds; U.S. Treasury notes; GNMA Certificates; three-month U.S. Treasury bills; 90-day commercial paper; bank certificates of deposit; Eurodollar certificates of deposit; the Australian dollar; the Canadian dollar; the British pound; the Japanese yen; the Swiss franc; the Mexican peso; and certain multinational currencies, such as the euro. It is expected that other futures contracts will be developed and traded in the future.

Each Fund may purchase and write call and put futures options. Futures options possess many of the same characteristics as options on securities and indexes (discussed above). A futures option gives the holder the right, in return for the premium paid, to assume a long position (call) or short position (put) in a futures contract at a specified exercise price at any time during the period of the option. Upon exercise of a call option, the holder acquires a long position in the futures contract and the writer is assigned the opposite short position. In the case of a put option, the opposite is true. A call option is "in the money" if the value of the futures contract that is the subject of the option exceeds the exercise price. A put option is "in the money" if the exercise price exceeds the value of the futures contract that is the subject of the option.

Limitations on Use of Futures and Futures Options. Each Fund will only enter into futures contracts and futures options which are standardized and traded on a U.S. or foreign exchange, board of trade, or similar entity, or quoted on an automated quotation system.

When a purchase or sale of a futures contract is made by a Fund, the Fund is required to deposit with its custodian (or broker, if legally permitted) a specified amount of assets determined to be liquid by the Advisor in accordance

with established procedures ("initial margin"). The margin required for a futures contract is set by the exchange on which the contract is traded and may be modified during the term of the contract. Margin requirements on foreign exchanges may be different than U.S. exchanges. The initial margin is in the nature of a performance bond or good faith deposit on the futures contract that is returned to the Fund upon termination of the contract, assuming all contractual obligations have been satisfied. Each Fund expects to earn interest income on its initial margin deposits. A futures contract held by a Fund is valued daily at the official settlement price of the exchange on which it is traded. Each day a Fund pays or receives cash, called "variation margin," equal to the daily change in value of the futures contract. This process is known as "marking to market." Variation margin does not represent a borrowing or loan by a Fund, but is instead a settlement between the Fund and the broker of the amount one would owe the other if the futures contract expired. In computing daily net asset value, a Fund will mark to market its open futures positions.

Each Fund is also required to deposit and maintain margin with respect to put and call options on futures contracts written by it. Such margin deposits will vary depending on the nature of the underlying futures contract (and the related initial margin requirements), the current market value of the option, and other futures positions held by a Fund.

Although some futures contracts call for making or taking delivery of the underlying securities, generally these obligations are closed out prior to delivery by offsetting purchases or sales of matching futures contracts (same exchange, underlying security or index, and delivery month). Closing out a futures contract sale is effected by purchasing a futures contract for the same aggregate amount of the specific type of financial instrument or commodity with the same delivery date. If an offsetting purchase price is less than the original sale price, a Fund realizes a capital loss. Conversely, if an offsetting sale price is more than the original purchase price, a Fund realizes a capital gain; if it is less, the Fund realizes a capital loss. The transaction costs also affect the gain or loss.

Each Fund may write covered straddles consisting of a call and a put written on the same underlying futures contract. A straddle will be covered when sufficient assets are deposited to meet the Fund's immediate obligations. A Fund may use the same liquid assets to cover both the call and put options where the exercise price of the call and put are the same, or the exercise price of the call is higher than that of the put. In such cases, the Fund will also segregate liquid assets equivalent to the amount, if any, by which the put is "in the money."

Futures and futures options are derivatives. Accordingly, under the Derivatives Rule, a Fund's obligations with respect to these instruments will depend on the Fund's aggregate usage and exposure to derivatives. The requirements for qualification as a regulated investment company (a "RIC") under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") also may limit the extent to which a Fund may enter into futures, futures options or forward contracts. See "Taxation."

Risks Associated with Futures and Futures Options. The use of futures contracts and futures options involves a number of risks. A purchase or sale of a futures contract may result in losses in excess of the amount invested in the futures contract. There can be no guarantee that there will be a correlation between price movements between the hedging instrument and the instrument being hedged. In addition, there are significant differences between the securities and futures markets that could result in an imperfect correlation between the markets, causing a given hedge not to achieve its objectives. The degree of imperfection of correlation depends on circumstances such as variations in speculative market demand for futures and futures options on securities, including technical influences in futures trading and futures options, and differences between the financial instruments being hedged and the instruments underlying the standard contracts available for trading in such respects as interest rate levels, maturities, and creditworthiness of issuers. A decision as to whether, when and how to hedge involves the exercise of skill and judgment, and even a well-conceived hedge may be unsuccessful to some degree because of market behavior or unexpected interest rate trends.

Futures contracts on U.S. Government securities historically have reacted to an increase or decrease in interest rates in a manner similar to the reaction of the underlying U.S. Government securities. To the extent, however, that a municipal bond fund enters into such futures contracts, the value of such futures will not vary in direct proportion to the value of a Fund's holdings of municipal securities. Thus, the anticipated spread between the price of the futures contract and the hedged security may be distorted due to differences in the nature of the markets. The spread also may be distorted by differences in initial and variation margin requirements, the liquidity of such markets and the participation of speculators in such markets.

Futures exchanges may limit the amount of fluctuation permitted in certain futures contract prices during a single trading day. The daily limit establishes the maximum amount that the price of a futures contract may vary either up or down from the previous day's settlement price at the end of the current trading session. Once the daily limit has been reached in a futures contract subject to the limit, no more trades may be made on that day at a price beyond that limit. The daily limit governs only price movements during a particular trading day and therefore does not limit potential losses because the limit may prevent the liquidation of unfavorable positions. For example, futures prices have occasionally moved to the daily limit for several consecutive trading days with little or no trading, thereby preventing prompt liquidation of positions and subjecting some holders of futures contracts to substantial losses.

There can be no assurance that a liquid market will exist at a time when a Fund seeks to close out a futures or a futures option position, and that Fund would remain obligated to meet margin requirements until the position is closed. There can be no assurance that an active secondary market will develop or continue to exist for any derivative.

Additional Risks of Foreign Derivatives. Options on securities, futures contracts, and options on currencies may be traded on foreign exchanges. Such transactions may not be regulated as effectively as similar transactions in the United States, may not involve a clearing mechanism and related guarantees, and are subject to the risk of governmental actions affecting trading in, or the prices of, foreign securities. The value of such positions also could be adversely affected by (1) other complex foreign political, legal and economic factors, (2) lesser availability than in the United States of data on which to make trading decisions, (3) delays in the Advisor's ability to act upon economic events occurring in foreign markets during non-business hours in the United States, (4) the imposition of different exercise and settlement terms and procedures and margin requirements than in the United States, and (5) lesser trading volume.

High Yield Bonds

Each Fund may invest in high yield bonds. Below investment grade debt securities, commonly referred to as "high yield bonds" or "junk bonds" are considered to be speculative and involve a greater risk of default or price changes due to changes in the issuer's creditworthiness than higher rated securities.

Like all fixed income securities, the market values of high yield securities tend to vary inversely with the level of interest rates, and the yields and market values of such securities fluctuate over time reflecting the market's perception of credit quality and the outlook for economic growth. However, high yield securities are generally subject to greater credit risk than higher-rated securities because the issuers are more vulnerable to economic downturns, higher interest rates and adverse issuer-specific developments. In addition, the prices of high yield securities are generally subject to greater market risk and therefore react more sharply to changes in interest rates. The risk of loss because of default by issuers of high yield securities is significantly greater because medium and lower-rated securities generally are unsecured and frequently subordinated to the prior payment of senior indebtedness. Their value and liquidity may also be diminished by adverse publicity and investor perceptions. Also, legislative and regulatory developments may have an adverse effect on the market value of these securities.

Because high yield securities are frequently traded only in markets where the number of potential purchasers and sellers, if any, is limited, the ability of the Fund to sell these securities at their fair value either to meet redemption requests or to respond to changes in the financial markets may be limited. In such an event, such securities could be regarded as illiquid for the purposes of the limitation on the purchase of illiquid securities. Thinly traded high yield securities may be more difficult to value accurately for the purpose of determining the Fund's net asset value. Also, because the market for certain high yield securities is relatively new, that market may be particularly sensitive to an economic downturn or a general increase in interest rates.

Subsequent to its purchase by a Fund, an issue of securities may cease to be rated or its rating may be reduced below the minimum required for purchase by the Fund. Neither such event will require sale of the securities by the Fund, although the Advisor will consider the event in determining whether the Fund should continue to hold the security.

Hybrid Instruments

Each Fund may invest in hybrid instruments. A hybrid instrument is a type of potentially high-risk derivative that combines a traditional stock or bond with an option or forward contract. Generally, the principal amount, amount

payable upon maturity or redemption, or interest rate of a hybrid is tied (positively or negatively) to the price of some currency or securities index or another interest rate or some other economic factor (each a "benchmark"). The interest rate or (unlike most fixed income securities) the principal amount payable at maturity of a hybrid security may be increased or decreased, depending on changes in the value of the benchmark.

Hybrids can be used as an efficient means of pursuing a variety of investment goals, including currency hedging, duration management, and increased total return. Hybrids may not bear interest or pay dividends. The value of a hybrid or its interest rate may be a multiple of a benchmark and, as a result, may be leveraged and move (up or down) more steeply and rapidly than the benchmark. These benchmarks may be sensitive to economic and political events, such as commodity shortages and currency devaluations, which cannot be readily foreseen by the purchaser of a hybrid. Under certain conditions, the redemption value of a hybrid could be zero. Thus, an investment in a hybrid may entail significant market risks that are not associated with a similar investment in a traditional, U.S. dollar-denominated bond that has a fixed principal amount and pays a fixed rate or floating rate of interest. The purchase of hybrids also exposes a Fund to the credit risk of the issuer of the hybrids. These risks may cause significant fluctuations in the net asset value of the Fund. Each Fund will not invest more than 5% of its total assets in hybrid instruments.

Certain issuers of structured products such as hybrid instruments may be deemed to be investment companies as defined in the 1940 Act. As a result, each Fund's investments in these products may be subject to limits applicable to investments in investment companies and may be subject to restrictions contained in the 1940 Act.

Illiquid and Restricted Securities

The Trust has implemented a Liquidity Risk Management Program and related procedures to identify illiquid investments pursuant to Rule 22e-4. Each Fund may hold up to 15% of its net assets in illiquid securities. Illiquid securities are securities that the Fund reasonably expects cannot be sold or disposed of in current market conditions in seven calendar days or less without the sale or disposition significantly changing the market value of the securities. As required by law, the Funds have adopted a liquidity risk management program to assist in the analysis and monitoring of liquidity in each Fund's portfolio.

Mutual funds do not typically hold a significant amount of these restricted or other illiquid securities because of the potential for delays on resale and uncertainty in valuation. Limitations on resale may have an adverse effect on the marketability of portfolio securities, and the Fund might not be able to dispose of restricted or other illiquid securities promptly or at reasonable prices and might thereby experience difficulty satisfying redemption requests within seven days. The Fund might also have to register such restricted securities in order to dispose of them, resulting in additional expense and delay. Adverse market conditions could impede such a public offering of securities. The Fund may incur significant additional costs in disposing of illiquid securities.

Illiquid securities do not include those which meet the requirements of Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933 (the "1933 Act") and which the Advisor has determined to be liquid based on the applicable trading markets. Rule 144A under the 1933 Act establishes a safe harbor from the registration requirements of the 1933 Act for resales of certain securities to qualified institutional buyers. Institutional markets for restricted securities sold pursuant to Rule 144A in many cases provide both readily ascertainable values for restricted securities and the ability to liquidate an investment to satisfy share redemption orders. Such markets might include automated systems for the trading, clearance and settlement of unregistered securities of domestic and foreign issuers, such as the PORTAL System sponsored by NASDAQ. An insufficient number of qualified buyers interested in purchasing Rule 144A eligible restricted securities, however, could adversely affect the marketability of such portfolio securities and result in a Fund's inability to dispose of such securities promptly or at favorable prices. In recent years, a large institutional market has also developed for certain securities that are not registered under the 1933 Act, including repurchase agreements, commercial paper, foreign securities, municipal securities and corporate bonds and notes. Institutional investors depend on an efficient institutional market in which the unregistered security can be readily resold or on an issuer's ability to honor a demand for repayment.

The fact that there are contractual or legal restrictions on resale of an investment to the general public or to certain institutions may not be indicative of the liquidity of such investments. In accordance with its Liquidity Risk Management Program, the Board has appointed the Advisor as its program administrator and the Advisor is responsible for the function of making day-to-day determinations of liquidity for the Funds. In accordance with guidelines established by the Board, the Advisor will determine the liquidity of each investment using various factors such as (1) the frequency of trades and quotations, (2) the number of dealers and prospective purchasers in the marketplace, (3) dealer undertakings to make a market, (4) the nature of the security (including any demand

or tender features); (5) the likelihood of continued marketability and credit quantity of the issuer, and (6) whether a reasonable portion of the holding can be sold in seven days or less without the sale significantly changing the market value of the investment.

Inflation-Indexed Securities

The **Fixed Income Funds** may invest in inflation-indexed fixed income securities, which are structured to provide protection against inflation and are issued by the U.S. and foreign governments, their agencies and instrumentalities and U.S. and foreign corporations. The value of principal or interest payments of an inflation-indexed security is adjusted periodically to track general movements of inflation in the country of issue.

As an example, a Fund may invest in U.S. Treasury Inflation Protected Securities ("TIPS"). Principal amounts of TIPS are adjusted daily based on changes in the rate of inflation (currently represented by the Consumer Price Index for Urban Consumers, non-seasonally adjusted ("CPI")). The U.S. Treasury currently issues TIPS only in 10-year maturities, although TIPS have previously been issued with maturities of five, 10 and 30 years. TIPS pay interest on a semi-annual basis, equal to a fixed percentage of the inflation-adjusted principal amount. The interest rate on TIPS is fixed at issuance, but over the life of the bond may be paid on an increasing or decreasing principal value. Repayment of the original bond principal upon maturity (as adjusted for inflation) is guaranteed even during a period of deflation. However, because the principal amount of TIPS would be adjusted downward during a period of deflation, the Fund will be subject to deflation risk with respect to its investments in these securities.

The value of inflation-indexed securities such as TIPS generally fluctuates in response to changes in real interest rates, which are in turn tied to the relationship between nominal interest rates and the rate of inflation. Therefore, if inflation were to rise at a faster rate than nominal interest rates, real interest rates might decline, leading to an increase in value of TIPS. In contrast, if nominal interest rates increased at a faster rate than inflation, real interest rates might rise, leading to a decrease in value of TIPS. Although the principal value of TIPS declines in periods of deflation, holders at maturity receive no less than the par value of the bond. However, if the Fund purchases TIPS in the secondary market whose principal values have been adjusted upward due to inflation since issuance, the Fund may experience a loss if there is a subsequent period of deflation. If inflation is lower than expected during the period the Fund holds TIPS, the Fund may earn less on the security than on a conventional bond.

The daily adjustment of the principal value of TIPS is currently tied to the non-seasonally adjusted CPI for Urban Consumers, which the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics calculates monthly. The CPI is a measurement of changes in the cost of living, made up of components such as housing, food, transportation and energy. There can be no assurance that such index will accurately measure the real rate of inflation in the prices of goods and services. In addition, calculation of the CPI includes a three-month lag for purposes of determining the principal value of TIPS, which, consequently, could have a negative impact on the value of TIPS under certain market conditions.

Initial Public Offerings

The Funds may purchase equity securities in initial public offerings ("IPOs"). These securities, which are often issued by unseasoned companies, may be subject to many of the same risks of investing in companies with smaller market capitalizations. Securities issued in IPOs have no trading history, and information about the companies may be available for very limited periods. Securities issued in an IPO frequently are very volatile in price, and the Funds may hold securities purchased in an IPO for a very short period of time. As a result, a Fund's investments in IPOs may increase portfolio turnover, which increases brokerage and administrative costs and may result in taxable distributions to shareholders.

At any particular time or from time to time a Fund may not be able to invest in securities issued in IPOs, or invest to the extent desired because, for example, only a small portion (if any) of the securities being offered in an IPO may be made available to the Fund. In addition, under certain market conditions a relatively small number of companies may issue securities in IPOs. Similarly, as the number of Funds to which IPO securities are allocated increases, the number of securities issued to any one fund may decrease. The investment performance of a Fund during periods when it is unable to invest significantly or at all in IPOs may be lower than during periods when the Fund is able to do so. In addition, as a Fund increases in size, the impact of IPOs on the Fund's performance will generally decrease. There can be no assurance that investments in IPOs will improve a Fund's performance.

Loan Participations and Assignments

The **Fixed Income Funds** may purchase participations in and assignments of commercial loans. Such loans are negotiated and underwritten by a bank or syndicate of banks and other institutional investors. Such indebtedness may be secured or unsecured and may be senior or subordinate to other obligations of the borrower. Investments in uncollateralized and/or subordinate loans entail a greater risk of nonpayment than investments in corporate loans which hold a more senior position in the borrower's capital structure or that are secured with collateral.

By purchasing a participation, a Fund acquires some or all of the interest of a bank or other lending institution in a loan. The loan is administered by an agent bank or other financial intermediary acting as agent for all holders. The agent administers the terms of the loan, as specified in the loan agreement. In addition, the agent is normally responsible for the collection of principal and interest payments from the corporate borrower and the apportionment of these payments to the credit of all institutions that are parties to the loan agreement. Unless, under the terms of the loan or other indebtedness, the Fund has direct recourse against the corporate borrower, the Fund may have to rely upon the agent bank or other financial intermediary to apply appropriate credit remedies against a corporate borrower.

When a Fund purchases a loan assignment, the Fund acquires direct rights against the borrower on the loan. However, since assignments are arranged through private negotiations between potential assignees and assignors, the rights and obligations acquired by the Fund as the purchase of an assignment may differ from, and be more limited than, those held by the lender from which the Fund is purchasing the assignment.

Purchasers of loans and other forms of direct indebtedness depend primarily upon the creditworthiness of the corporate borrower for payment of principal and interest. Changes in market interest rates may cause a decline in the value of these investments. Other factors, such as rating downgrades, credit deterioration, large downward movements in stock prices, a disparity in supply and demand of certain securities or market conditions that reduce liquidity could reduce the value of loans. If a Fund does not receive scheduled interest or principal payments on such indebtedness, the Fund's share price and yield could be adversely affected.

Loans that are fully secured offer a Fund more protection than an unsecured loan in the event of non-payment of scheduled interest or principal. However, there is no assurance that the liquidation of collateral from a secured loan would satisfy the corporate borrower's obligation, or that the collateral can be liquidated. If the terms of a senior loan do not require the borrower to pledge additional collateral, the Fund will be exposed to the risk that the value of the collateral will not at all times equal or exceed the amount of the borrower's obligations under the senior loans. In the event of bankruptcy of the borrower, liquidation may not occur and the court may not give lenders the full benefit of their senior positions. To the extent that a senior loan is collateralized by stock of the borrower or its subsidiaries, such stock may lose all of its value in the event of bankruptcy of the borrower.

When purchasing loan participations, a Fund assumes not only the credit risk associated with the corporate borrower but may also assume the credit risk associated with an interposed bank or other financial intermediary. A financial institution's employment as agent bank might be terminated in the event that it fails to observe a requisite standard of care or becomes insolvent. A successor agent bank would generally be appointed to replace the terminated agent bank, and assets held by the agent bank under the loan agreement should remain available to holders of such indebtedness. However, if assets held by the agent bank for the benefit of the Fund were determined to be subject to the claims of the agent bank's general creditors, the Fund might incur certain costs and delays in realizing payment on a loan or loan participation and could suffer a loss of principal and/or interest. In situations involving other interposed financial institutions (e.g., an insurance company or governmental agency) similar risks may arise. The participation interests in which the Funds intend to invest may not be rated by any nationally recognized rating service.

Investments in loans through a direct assignment of the financial institution's interests with respect to the loan may involve additional risks to the Funds. For example, if a loan is foreclosed, a Fund could become part owner of any collateral, and would bear the costs and liabilities associated with owning and disposing of the collateral. In addition, it is conceivable that under emerging legal theories of lender liability, the Fund could be held liable as co-lender. It is unclear whether loans and other forms of direct indebtedness offer securities law protections against fraud and misrepresentation. In the absence of definitive regulatory guidance, the Funds rely upon the Advisor's research in an attempt to avoid situations where fraud or misrepresentation could adversely affect the Funds.

Each Fund limits the amount of its total assets that it will invest in any one issuer or in issuers within the same industry. For purposes of such limits, the Funds generally will treat the corporate borrower as the "issuer" of

indebtedness held by the Funds. In the case of loan participations where a bank or other lending institution serves as a financial intermediary between a Fund and the corporate borrower, if the participation does not shift to the Fund the direct debtor-creditor relationship with the corporate borrower, SEC interpretations require the Fund to treat both the lending bank or other lending institution and the corporate borrower as "issuers" for the purposes of determining whether the Fund has invested more than 5% of its total assets in a single issuer. Treating a financial intermediary as an issuer of indebtedness may restrict a Fund's ability to invest in indebtedness related to a single financial intermediary, or a group of intermediaries engaged in the same industry, even if the underlying borrowers represent many different companies and industries.

Loans and other types of direct indebtedness may not be readily marketable and may be subject to restrictions on resale. In some cases, negotiations involved in disposing of indebtedness may require weeks to complete. Consequently, some indebtedness may be difficult or impossible to dispose of readily at what the Advisor believes to be a fair price. In addition, valuation of illiquid indebtedness involves a greater degree of judgment in determining a Fund's net asset value than if that value were based on available market quotations, and could result in significant variation in the Fund's daily share price. At the same time, some loan interests are traded among certain financial institutions and accordingly may be deemed liquid. As the overnight market for different types of indebtedness develops, the liquidity of these instruments is expected to improve. The Funds currently intend to treat indebtedness for which there is no readily available market as illiquid for purposes of the Funds' limitations on illiquid investments. Investments in loan participation or loan assignments are considered to be debt obligations for purposes of the Trust's investment restriction relating to the lending of funds or assets by the Funds.

Mortgage-Related Securities

The **Fixed Income Funds** may invest in mortgage-related securities, which are interests in pools of mortgage loans made to U.S. or foreign residential home buyers, including mortgage loans made by savings and loan institutions, mortgage bankers, commercial banks and others. Pools of mortgage loans are assembled, and interests in those pools are sold to investors by various governmental, government-related and private organizations. The Funds may also invest in debt securities which are secured with collateral consisting of U.S. mortgage-related securities, and in other types of U.S. mortgage-related securities. Different types of these derivative securities are subject to different combinations of prepayment, extension, interest rate and other market risks.

Interests in pools of mortgage-related securities differ from other forms of debt securities, which normally provide for periodic payment of interest in fixed amounts with principal payments at maturity or specified call dates. Instead, these securities provide a monthly payment which consists of both interest and principal payments. In effect, these payments are a "pass-through" of the monthly payments made by the individual borrowers on their residential mortgage loans, net of any fees paid to the issuer or guarantor of such securities. Additional payments are caused by repayments of principal resulting from the sale of the underlying residential property, refinancing or foreclosure, net of fees or costs which may be incurred. Some mortgage-related securities (such as securities issued by the Government National Mortgage Association) are described as "modified pass-through." These securities entitle the holder to receive all interest and principal payments owed on the mortgage pool, net of certain fees, at the scheduled payment dates regardless of whether or not the mortgagor actually makes the payment.

Although the underlying mortgage loans in a pool may have maturities of up to 30 years or longer, the actual average life of the pool certificates typically will be substantially less because the mortgages will be subject to normal principal amortization and may be prepaid prior to maturity. Prepayment rates vary widely and may be affected by changes in market interest rates. In periods of falling interest rates, the rate of prepayment tends to increase, thereby shortening the actual average life of the pool certificates. Conversely, when interest rates are rising, the rate of prepayments tends to decrease, thereby lengthening the actual average life of the certificates. Mortgage loan repayments may also be adversely affected by matters such as a general economic downturn, high unemployment, a general slowdown in the real estate market, and a drop in the market prices of real estate. Prepayment rates of individual pools may vary widely. Accordingly, it is not possible to predict accurately the average life of a particular pool.

Timely payment of interest and principal of these pools may be supported by various forms of insurance or guarantees, including individual loan, title, pool and hazard insurance and letters of credit, issued by governmental entities, private insurers and mortgage poolers. Such insurance and guarantees and the creditworthiness of the issuers thereof will be considered in determining whether a mortgage-related security meets a Fund's investment

quality standards. However, there can be no assurance that private insurers or guarantors will meet their obligations. In addition, the Funds may buy mortgage-related securities without insurance or guarantees if through an examination of the loan experience and practices of the originator/servicers and poolers the Advisor determines that the securities meet the Funds' quality standards.

U.S. Mortgage Pass-Through Securities. The principal governmental guarantor of U.S. mortgage-related securities is the Government National Mortgage Association ("GNMA"). GNMA is a wholly owned United States Government corporation within the Department of Housing and Urban Development. GNMA is authorized to guarantee, with the full faith and credit of the United States Government, the timely payment of principal and interest on securities issued by institutions approved by GNMA (such as savings and loan institutions, commercial banks and mortgage bankers) and backed by pools of mortgages insured by the Federal Housing Agency or guaranteed by the Veterans Administration.

Other government-related guarantors include the Federal National Mortgage Association ("FNMA") and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("FHLMC"). FNMA is a government-sponsored corporation owned entirely by private stockholders and subject to general regulation by the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development. FNMA purchases conventional residential mortgages not insured or guaranteed by any government agency from a list of approved seller/servicers which include state and federally chartered savings and loan associations, mutual savings banks, commercial banks and credit unions and mortgage bankers. FHLMC is a government-sponsored corporation created to increase availability of mortgage credit for residential housing and owned entirely by private stockholders. FHLMC issues participation certificates which represent interests in conventional mortgages from FHLMC's national portfolio. Pass-through securities issued by FNMA and participation certificates issued by FHLMC are guaranteed as to timely payment of principal and interest by FNMA and FHLMC, respectively, but are not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government.

Since 2008, the Federal Housing Finance Agency ("FHFA") has been appointed as the conservator of FHLMC and FNMA for an indefinite period. In accordance with the Federal Housing Finance Regulatory Reform Act of 2008 and the Federal Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act of 1992, as conservator, the FHFA will control and oversee these entities until the FHFA deems them financially sound and solvent. During the conservatorship, each entity's obligations are expected to be paid in the normal course of business. Although no express guarantee exists for the debt or mortgage-backed securities issued by these entities, the U.S. Department of Treasury, through a secured lending credit facility and a senior preferred stock purchase agreement, has attempted to enhance the ability of the entities to meet their obligations.

Private Mortgage Pass-Through Securities. Commercial banks, savings and loan institutions, private mortgage insurance companies, mortgage bankers and other secondary market issuers also create pass-through pools of conventional residential mortgage loans. Such issuers may, in addition, be the originators or servicers of the underlying mortgage loans as well as the guarantors of the mortgage-related securities. Pools created by such non-governmental issuers generally offer a higher rate of interest than government and government-related pools because they lack direct or indirect government or agency guarantees of payment. Timely payment of interest and principal of these pools may be supported by various forms of insurance or guarantees, including individual loan, title, pool and hazard insurance and letters of credit, issued by governmental entities, private insurers and mortgage poolers.

Mortgage-related securities issued by certain private organizations may be offered through private placements that are restricted as to further sale, and there may be a limited market for such securities, especially where there is a perceived weakness in the mortgage and real estate market sectors. Without an active trading market, mortgage-backed securities held in a Fund's portfolio may be particularly difficult to value because of the complexities involved in assessing the value of the underlying mortgage loans. A Fund will not purchase mortgage-related securities that are illiquid if, as a result, more than 15% of the value of the Fund's total assets will be illiquid.

In addition, privately issued mortgage-related securities are not subject to the underwriting requirements for the underlying mortgages that are applicable to mortgage-backed securities that have a government or government-sponsored entity guarantee. As a result, the mortgage loans underlying private mortgage-backed securities may, and frequently do, have less favorable collateral, credit risk or other underwriting characteristics than government or government-sponsored mortgage-backed securities and have wider variances in a number of terms including interest rate, term, size, purpose and borrower characteristics. Privately issued pools more frequently include second mortgages, high loan-to-value mortgages and manufactured housing loans. The coupon rates and maturities of the underlying mortgage loans in a private-label mortgage-backed securities pool may vary to a

greater extent than those included in a government guaranteed pool, and the pool may include subprime mortgage loans (loans made to borrowers with weakened credit histories or with a lower capacity to make timely payments on their loans). For these reasons, the loans underlying these securities have had in many cases higher default rates than those loans that meet government underwriting requirements.

Collateralized Mortgage Obligations ("CMOs"). The **Fixed Income Funds** may invest in CMOs. A CMO is a hybrid between a mortgage-backed bond and a mortgage pass-through security. CMOs may be collateralized by whole mortgage loans, but are more typically collateralized by portfolios of mortgage pass-through securities guaranteed by GNMA, FHLMC or FNMA.

CMOs are structured into multiple classes, each bearing a different stated maturity. Actual maturity and average life depend upon the prepayment experience of the collateral. CMOs provide for a modified form of call protection through a de facto breakdown of the underlying pool of mortgages according to how quickly the loans are repaid. Monthly payment of principal received from the pool of underlying mortgages, including prepayments, is first returned to investors holding the shortest maturity class. Investors holding the longer maturity classes receive principal only after the earlier classes have been retired. Timely payment of interest and principal of these pools may be supported by various forms of insurance or guarantees, including individual loan, title, pool and hazard insurance and letters of credit, issued by governmental entities, private insurers and mortgage poolers.

Like other privately issued mortgage-related securities, there may be a limited market for CMOs, which therefore may be difficult to value. A Fund will not purchase mortgage-related securities that are illiquid if, as a result, more than 15% of the value of the Fund's total assets will be illiquid.

Foreign Mortgage-Related Securities. The Fixed Income Funds may invest in foreign mortgage-related securities. Foreign mortgage-related securities are interests in pools of mortgage loans made to residential home buyers domiciled in a foreign country. These include mortgage loans made by trust and mortgage loan companies, credit unions, chartered banks, and others. Pools of mortgage loans are assembled as securities for sale to investors by various governmental, government-related, and private organizations (e.g., Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation and First Australian National Mortgage Acceptance Corporation Limited). Interests in pools of mortgage-related securities differ from other forms of debt securities, which normally provide for periodic payment of interest in fixed amounts with principal payments at maturity or specified call dates. Instead, these securities provide a monthly payment which consists of both interest and principal payments. In effect, these payments are a "pass-through" of the monthly payments made by the individual borrowers on their residential mortgage loans, net of any fees paid to the issuer or guarantor of such securities. Additional payments are caused by repayments of principal resulting from the sale of the underlying residential property, refinancing or foreclosure, net of fees or costs which may be incurred. Some mortgage-related securities are described as "modified passthrough." These securities entitle the holder to receive all interest and principal payments owed on the mortgage pool, net of certain fees, at the scheduled payment dates regardless of whether or not the mortgagor actually makes the payment. Timely payment of interest and principal of these pools may be supported by various forms of insurance or quarantees, including individual loan, title, pool and hazard insurance and letters of credit, issued by governmental entities, private insurers and mortgage poolers.

Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities. The Fixed Income Funds may invest in commercial mortgage-backed securities, which generally are multi-class debt or pass-through certificates secured by mortgage loans on commercial properties. The market for commercial mortgage backed is relatively small compared to the market for residential single-family mortgage-backed securities. Commercial lending typically involves larger loans to single borrowers or groups of related borrowers than residential one- to four-family mortgage loans. In addition, the repayment of loans secured by income producing properties typically depends upon the cash flow generated by the operation of the related real estate. As a result, changes in economic conditions may have a greater impact on commercial mortgage-backed securities than on residential mortgage-related securities.

Stripped Mortgage-Backed Securities. The Fixed Income Funds may invest in stripped mortgage-backed securities, which are created by segregating the cash flows from underlying mortgage loans or mortgage securities to create two or more new securities, each with a specified percentage of the underlying security's principal or interest payments. Mortgage securities may be partially stripped so that each investor class receives some interest and some principal. When securities are completely stripped, however, all of the interest is distributed to holders of one type of security, known as an interest-only security (or "IO"), and all of the principal is distributed to holders of another type of security known as a principal-only security (or "PO"). The yields to maturity on IOs and POs are very sensitive to the rate of principal payments (including prepayments) on the related underlying mortgage assets. If the underlying mortgage assets experience greater than anticipated

prepayments of principal, the Fund may not fully recoup its initial investment in IOs. Conversely, if the underlying mortgage assets experience less than anticipated prepayments of principal, the yield on POs could be materially and adversely affected.

Adjustable Rate Mortgage-Backed Securities. The Fixed Income Funds may invest in adjustable rate mortgagebacked securities (sometimes referred to as "ARM securities"), which are mortgage-backed securities that represent a right to receive interest payments at a rate that is adjusted to reflect the interest earned on a pool of mortgage loans bearing variable or adjustable rates of interest (such mortgage loans are referred to as "ARMs"). Because the interest rates on ARM securities are reset in response to changes in a specified market index, the values of such securities tend to be less sensitive to interest rate fluctuations than the values of fixed-rate securities. As a result, during periods of rising interest rates, such securities generally do not decrease in value as much as fixed-rate securities. Conversely, during periods of declining rates, such securities generally do not increase in value as much as fixed-rate securities. ARMs generally specify that the borrower's mortgage interest rate may not be adjusted above a specified lifetime maximum rate or, in some cases, below a minimum lifetime rate. In addition, certain ARMs specify limitations on the maximum amount by which the mortgage interest rate may adjust for any single adjustment period. ARMs also may limit changes in the maximum amount by which the borrower's monthly payment may adjust for any single adjustment period. If a monthly payment is not sufficient to pay the interest accruing on the ARM, any such excess interest is added to the mortgage loan ("negative amortization"), which is repaid through future payments. Borrowers under ARMs experiencing negative amortization may take longer to build up their equity in the underlying property than conventional borrowers and may be more likely to default. ARMs also may be subject to a greater rate of prepayments in a declining interest rate environment. Conversely, during a period of rising interest rates, prepayments on ARMs might decrease.

Other Mortgage-Related Securities. The Fixed Income Funds may invest in other mortgage-related securities. Other mortgage-related securities include securities of U.S. or foreign issuers that directly or indirectly represent a participation in, or are secured by and payable from, mortgage loans on real property. These other mortgage-related securities may be debt securities issued by governmental agencies or instrumentalities or by private originators of, or investors in, mortgage loans, including savings and loan associations, homebuilders, mortgage banks, commercial banks, investment banks, partnerships, trusts and special purpose entities.

Municipal Securities

The **Fixed Income Funds** may invest in debt obligations issued by state and local governments, territories and possessions of the U.S., regional government authorities, and their agencies and instrumentalities which provide interest income that, in the opinion of bond counsel to the issuer at the time of original issuance, is exempt from federal income taxes ("municipal securities"). In addition, the Fund may invest in issues of such entities that are taxable or not exempt from federal income taxes. Municipal securities include both notes (which have maturities of less than one year) and bonds (which have maturities of one year or more) that bear fixed or variable rates of interest.

In general, municipal securities are issued to obtain funds for a variety of public purposes, such as the construction, repair, or improvement of public facilities including airports, bridges, housing, hospitals, mass transportation, schools, streets, and water and sewer works. Municipal securities may be issued to refinance outstanding obligations, to raise funds for general operating expenses and lending to other public institutions and facilities, and in anticipation of the receipt of revenue or the issuance of other obligations. They may also be issued to provide for the construction, equipment, repair or improvement of privately operated facilities.

The two principal classifications of municipal securities are "general obligation" securities and "revenue" securities. General obligation securities are secured by the issuer's pledge of its full faith, credit, and taxing power for the payment of principal and interest. Accordingly, the capacity of the issuer of a general obligation bond as to the timely payment of interest and the repayment of principal when due is affected by the issuer's maintenance of its tax base. Characteristics and methods of enforcement of general obligation bonds vary according to the law applicable to a particular issuer, and the taxes that can be levied for the payment of debt service may be limited or unlimited as to rates or amounts of special assessments. Revenue securities are payable only from the revenues derived from a particular facility, a class of facilities or, in some cases, from the proceeds of a special excise tax or other specific revenue source. Accordingly, the timely payment of interest and the repayment of principal in accordance with the terms of the revenue security is a function of the economic viability of the facility or revenue source. Revenue bonds are issued to finance a wide variety of capital projects including: electric, gas, water, and sewer systems; highways, bridges, and tunnels; port and airport facilities; colleges and universities; and hospitals.

Although the principal security behind these bonds may vary, many provide additional security in the form of a debt service reserve fund the assets of which may be used to make principal and interest payments on the issuer's obligations. Housing finance authorities have a wide range of security, including partially or fully insured mortgages, rent subsidized and collateralized mortgages, and the net revenues from housing or other public projects. Some authorities are provided further security in the form of a state's assurance (although without obligation) to make up deficiencies in the debt service reserve fund.

A Fund may purchase insured municipal debt in which scheduled payments of interest and principal are guaranteed by a private, non-governmental or governmental insurance company. The insurance does not guarantee the market value of the municipal debt or the value of the shares of the Fund.

Securities of issuers of municipal obligations are subject to the provisions of bankruptcy, insolvency and other laws affecting the rights and remedies of creditors, such as the Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978. In addition, the obligations of such issuers may become subject to laws enacted in the future by Congress, state legislatures of referenda extending the time for payment of principal or interest, or imposing other constraints upon enforcement of such obligations or upon the ability of municipalities to levy taxes. Furthermore, as a result of legislation or other conditions, the power or ability of any issuer to pay, when due, the principal of and interest on its municipal obligations may be materially affected.

Certain of the municipal securities in which a Fund may invest, and certain of the risks of such investments, are described below.

Moral Obligation Securities. Municipal securities may include "moral obligation" securities which are usually issued by special purpose public authorities. If the issuer of moral obligation bonds cannot fulfill its financial responsibilities from current revenues, it may draw upon a reserve fund, the restoration of which is a moral commitment but not a legal obligation of the state or municipality which created the issuer.

Zero Coupon Securities. Zero coupon securities are debt securities issued or sold at a discount from their face value. These securities do not entitle the holder to interest payments prior to maturity or a specified redemption date, when they are redeemed at face value. Zero coupon securities may also take the form of debt securities that have been stripped of their unmatured interest coupons, the coupons themselves, and receipts and certificates representing interests in such stripped obligations and coupons. The market prices of zero coupon securities tend to be more sensitive to interest rate changes, and are more volatile, than interest bearing securities of like maturity. The discount from face value is amortized over the life of the security and such amortization will constitute the income earned on the security for accounting and tax purposes. Even though income is accrued on a current basis, the Fund does not receive the income currently in cash. Therefore, the Fund may have to sell other portfolio investments to obtain cash needed to make income distributions.

Mortgage-Backed Securities. Mortgage-backed securities are municipal debt obligations issued to provide financing for residential housing mortgages to targeted groups. Payments made on the underlying mortgages and passed through to the Fund will represent both regularly scheduled principal and interest payments. The Fund may also receive additional principal payments representing prepayments of the underlying mortgages. Investing in such municipal debt obligations involves special risks and considerations, including the inability to predict accurately the maturity of the Fund's investments as a result of prepayments of the underlying mortgages (which may require the Fund to reinvest principal at lower yields than would otherwise have been realized), the illiquidity of certain of such securities, and the possible default by insurers or guarantors supporting the timely payment of interest and principal.

Municipal Lease Obligations. Municipal lease obligations are lease obligations or installment purchase contract obligations of municipal authorities. Although lease obligations do not constitute general obligations of the municipality for which its taxing power is pledged, a lease obligation is ordinarily backed by the municipality's covenant to budget for, appropriate and make the payments due under the lease obligation. A Fund may also purchase "certificates of participation", which are securities issued by a particular municipality or municipal authority to evidence a proportionate interest in base rental or lease payments relating to a specific project to be made by the municipality, agency or authority. However, certain lease obligations contain "non-appropriation" clauses which provide that the municipality has no obligation to make lease or installment purchase payments in any year unless money is appropriated for such purpose for such year. Although "non-appropriation" lease obligations are secured by the leased property, disposition of the property in the event of default and foreclosure might prove difficult. In addition, these securities represent a relatively new type of financing, and certain lease obligations may therefore be considered to be illiquid securities.

Short-Term Obligations. Short-term municipal obligations include the following:

- Tax Anticipation Notes, which are used to finance working capital needs of municipalities and are issued
 in anticipation of various seasonal tax revenues, to be payable from these specific future taxes. They are
 usually general obligations of the issuer, secured by the taxing power of the municipality for the payment
 of principal and interest when due.
- Revenue Anticipation Notes, which are issued in expectation of receipt of other kinds of revenue, such as
 federal revenues available under the Federal Revenue Sharing Program. They also are usually general
 obligations of the issuer.
- Bond Anticipation Notes, which normally are issued to provide interim financing until long-term financing can be arranged. The long-term bonds then provide the money for the repayment of the notes.
- Short-Term Discount Notes (tax-exempt commercial paper), which are short-term (365 days or less) promissory notes issued by municipalities to supplement their cash flow.

Floating Rate and Variable Rate Demand Notes. Floating rate and variable rate demand notes and bonds may have a stated maturity in excess of one year, but permit a holder to demand payment of principal plus accrued interest upon a specified number of days' notice. Frequently, such obligations are secured by letters of credit or other credit support arrangements provided by banks. The issuer has a corresponding right, after a given period, to prepay in its discretion the outstanding principal of the obligation plus accrued interest upon a specific number of days' notice to the holders. The interest rate of a floating rate instrument may be based on a known lending rate, such as a bank's prime rate, and is reset whenever such rate is adjusted. The interest rate on a variable rate demand note is reset at specified intervals at a market rate.

Each Fund will limit its purchase of municipal securities that bear floating rates and variable rates of interest to those meeting the rating quality standards set forth in the Fund's prospectus. Frequently, such obligations are secured by letters of credit or other credit support arrangements provided by banks. The Advisor monitors the earning power, cash flow and other liquidity ratios of the issuers of such obligations, as well as the creditworthiness of the institution responsible for paying the principal amount of the obligations under the demand feature.

The Fund may also invest in municipal securities in the form of "participation interests" in variable rate tax-exempt demand obligations held by a financial institution, usually a commercial bank. Municipal participation interests provide the purchaser with an undivided interest in one or more underlying municipal securities and the right to demand payment from the institution upon a specified number of days' notice (no more than seven) of the unpaid principal balance plus accrued interest. In addition, the municipal participation interests are typically enhanced by an irrevocable letter of credit or guarantee from such institution. Since the Fund has an undivided interest in the obligation, it participates equally with the institution with the exception that the institution normally retains a fee out of the interest paid for servicing, providing the letter of credit or guarantee, and issuing the repurchase commitment.

Obligations with Puts Attached. The Fixed Income Funds may invest in obligations with puts attached. Obligations with puts attached are long-term fixed rate municipal debt obligations which may be coupled with an option granted by a third party financial institution allowing the Fund at specified intervals to tender (or "put") such debt obligations to the institution and receive the face value. These third party puts are available in many different forms, and may be represented by custodial receipts or trust certificates and may be combined with other features such as interest rate swaps. The financial institution granting the option does not provide credit enhancement. If there is a default on, or significant downgrading of, the bond or a loss of its tax-exempt status, the put option will terminate automatically. The risk to the Fund will then be that of holding a long-term bond.

These investments may require that the Fund pay a tender fee or other fee for the features provided. In addition, the Fund may acquire "stand-by commitments" from banks or broker dealers with respect to the municipal securities held in its portfolios. Under a stand-by commitment, a bank or broker/dealer agrees to purchase at the Fund's option a specific municipal security at a specific price on a specific date. The Fund may pay for a stand-by commitment either separately, in cash, or in the form of a higher price paid for the security. The Fund will acquire stand-by commitments solely to facilitate portfolio liquidity.

Private Activity and Industrial Development Bonds. The Funds may purchase certain private activity or industrial development bonds, the interest paid on which is exempt from federal income tax. These bonds are issued by or on behalf of public authorities to raise money to finance various privately-owned or -operated facilities for

business and manufacturing, housing and pollution control. They are also used to finance public facilities such as airports, mass transit systems, ports, parking or sewage or solid waste disposal facilities, as well as certain other categories. The payment of the principal and interest on such bonds is secured primarily by revenues derived from loan repayments or lease payments by the entity owning or operating the facility, which may or may not be guaranteed by a parent company or otherwise secured. Such bonds generally are not secured by a pledge of the taxing power of the issuer of the bonds, and therefore depend on the revenue of a private entity. The continued ability of such an entity to generate sufficient revenues for the payment of principal and interest on such bonds may be affected by many factors, including the size of the entity, its capital structure, demand for its products or services, competition, general economic conditions, government regulation and the extent of the entity's dependence on revenues from the operation of the particular facility being financed, and may be dependent solely on the revenues generated by the use of the facility.

Options on Securities and Indexes

Each Fund may purchase and sell both put and call options on securities or indexes in standardized contracts traded on foreign or domestic securities exchanges, boards of trade, or similar entities, or quoted on NASDAQ or on an over-the-counter market, and agreements, sometimes called cash puts, which may accompany the purchase of a new issue of bonds from a dealer.

An option on a security (or index) is a contract that gives the holder of the option, in return for a premium, the right to buy from (in the case of a call) or sell to (in the case of a put) the writer of the option the security underlying the option (or the cash value of the index) at a specified exercise price at any time during the term of the option. The writer of an option on a security has the obligation upon exercise of the option to deliver the underlying security upon payment of the exercise price or to pay the exercise price upon delivery of the underlying security. Upon exercise, the writer of an option on an index is obligated to pay the difference between the cash value of the index and the exercise price multiplied by the specified multiplier for the index option. (An index is designed to reflect features of a particular financial or securities market, a specific group of financial instruments or securities, or certain economic indicators.)

Each Fund will write call options and put options only if they are "covered." A call option on a security is "covered" if the Fund owns the security underlying the call or has an absolute and immediate right to acquire that security without additional cash consideration upon conversion or exchange of other securities held by the Fund (or, if additional cash consideration is required, cash or other assets determined to be liquid by the Advisor in accordance with established procedures in such amount are segregated). A call option on an index is covered if a Fund maintains with its custodian assets determined to be liquid by the Advisor in accordance with established procedures, in an amount equal to the contract value of the index. A call option is also covered if a Fund holds a call on the same security or index as the call written where the exercise price of the call held is (1) equal to or less than the exercise price of the call written, provided the difference is maintained by the Fund in segregated assets determined to be liquid by the Advisor in accordance with established procedures.

A put option on a security or an index is "covered" if a Fund segregates assets determined to be liquid by the Advisor in accordance with established procedures equal to the exercise price. A put option is also covered if the Fund holds a put on the same security or index as the put written where the exercise price of the put held is (1) equal to or greater than the exercise price of the put written, or (2) less than the exercise price of the put written, provided the difference is maintained by the Fund in segregated assets determined to be liquid by the Advisor in accordance with established procedures.

If an option written by a Fund expires unexercised, the Fund realizes a capital gain equal to the premium received at the time the option was written. If an option purchased by a Fund expires unexercised, the Fund realizes a capital loss equal to the premium paid. Each Fund may sell put or call options it has previously purchased, which could result in a net gain or loss depending on whether the amount realized on the sale is more or less than the premium and other transaction costs paid on the put or call option which is sold. Before an exchange traded option is exercised or expired, it may be closed out by an offsetting purchase or sale of an option of the same series (type, exchange, underlying security or index, exercise price, and expiration date). There can be no assurance, however, that a closing purchase or sale transaction can be effected when the Fund desires. A Fund will realize a capital gain from a closing purchase transaction if the cost of the closing option is less than the premium received from writing the option, or, if it is more, the Fund will realize a capital loss. If the premium received from a closing sale transaction is more than the premium paid to purchase the option, a Fund will realize

a capital gain or, if it is less, the Fund will realize a capital loss. The principal factors affecting the market value of a put or a call option include supply and demand, interest rates, the current market price of the underlying security or index in relation to the exercise price of the option, the volatility of the underlying security or index, and the time remaining until the expiration date.

The premium paid for a put or call option purchased by a Fund is an asset of the Fund. The premium received for an option written by the Fund is recorded as a deferred credit. The value of an option purchased or written is marked to market daily and is valued at the closing price on the exchange on which it is traded or, if not traded on an exchange or no closing price is available, at the mean between the last bid and asked prices.

Each Fund may write covered straddles consisting of a combination of a call and a put written on the same underlying security. A straddle will be covered when sufficient assets are deposited to meet the Fund's immediate obligations. A Fund may use the same liquid assets to cover both the call and put options where the exercise price of the call and put are the same, or the exercise price of the call is higher than that of the put. In such cases, the Fund will also segregate liquid assets equivalent to the amount, if any, by which the put is "in the money."

Risks Associated with Options on Securities and Indexes. Transactions in options on securities and on indexes are subject to a number of risks. For example, there are significant differences between the securities and options markets that could result in an imperfect correlation between these markets, causing a given transaction not to achieve its objectives. A decision as to whether, when and how to use options involves the exercise of skill and judgment, and even a well-conceived transaction may be unsuccessful to some degree because of market behavior or unexpected events.

During the option period, the covered call writer has, in return for the premium on the option, given up the opportunity to profit from a price increase in the underlying security above the exercise price, but, as long as its obligation as a writer continues, has retained the risk of loss should the price of the underlying security decline. The writer of an option has no control over the time when it may be required to fulfill its obligation as a writer of the option. Once an option writer has received an exercise notice, it cannot effect a closing purchase transaction in order to terminate its obligation under the option and must deliver the underlying security at the exercise price. If a put or call option purchased by the Fund is not sold when it has remaining value, and if the market price of the underlying security remains equal to or greater than the exercise price (in the case of a put), or remains less than or equal to the exercise price (in the case of a call), a Fund will lose its entire investment in the option. Also, where a put or call option on a particular security is purchased to hedge against price movements in a related security, the price of the put or call option may move more or less than the price of the related security.

There can be no assurance that a liquid market will exist when a Fund seeks to close out an option position. Secondary markets on an exchange may not exist or may not be liquid for a variety of reasons including:
(i) insufficient trading interest in certain options; (ii) restrictions on opening transactions or closing transactions imposed by an exchange; (iii) trading halts, suspensions or other restrictions may be imposed with respect to particular classes or series of options; (iv) unusual or unforeseen circumstances which interrupt normal operations on an exchange; (v) inadequate facilities of an exchange or the Options Clearing Corporation to handle current trading volume at all times; or (vi) discontinuance in the future by one or more exchanges for economic or other reasons, of trading of options (or of a particular class or series of options), in which event the secondary market on that exchange (or in that class or series of options) would cease to exist, although outstanding options on that exchange that had been issued by the Options Clearing Corporation as a result of trades on that exchange would continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms.

If a Fund were unable to close out an option that it had purchased on a security, it would have to exercise the option in order to realize any profit or the option may expire worthless. If a Fund were unable to close out a covered call option that it had written on a security, it would not be able to sell the underlying security unless the option expired without exercise. As the writer of a covered call option, a Fund forgoes, during the option's life, the opportunity to profit from increases in the market value of the security covering the call option above the sum of the premium and the exercise price of the call.

If trading were suspended in an option purchased by a Fund, the Fund would not be able to close out the option. If restrictions on exercise were imposed, a Fund might be unable to exercise an option it has purchased. Except to the extent that a call option on an index written by the Fund is covered by an option on the same index purchased by the Fund, movements in the index may result in a loss to the Fund; however, such losses may be mitigated by changes in the value of the Fund's securities during the period the option was outstanding.

Other Asset-Backed Securities

The **Fixed Income Funds** may invest in asset-backed securities. Asset-backed securities, unrelated to mortgage loans, represent a direct or indirect participation in, or are secured by and payable from, cash flows from pools of assets such as loans or receivables due from a number of different parties. These receivables can include but are not limited to credit card receivables, retail automobile installment sales contracts, home equity loans and lines of credit, student loans, airplane leases, and other equipment leases. Payment of principal and interest on asset-backed securities may largely depend upon the cash flows generated by the assets backing the securities.

In an effort to lessen the effect of failures by obligors on these underlying assets to make payments, such securities may contain elements of credit support, based on the underlying assets or credit enhancements provided by a third party. Credit support falls into two classes — liquidity protection and protection against ultimate default on the underlying assets. Liquidity protection refers to the provision of advances, generally by the entity administering the pool of assets, to ensure that scheduled payments on the underlying pool are made in a timely fashion. Protection against ultimate default ensures payment on at least a portion of the assets in the pool. This protection may be provided through guarantees, insurance policies, letters of credit obtained from third parties, various means of structuring the transaction, or a combination of such approaches. The degree of credit support provided on each issue is based generally on historical information respecting the level of credit risk associated with such payments. Delinquency or loss in excess of that anticipated could adversely affect the return on an investment in an asset-backed security.

Asset-backed securities are generally subject to the risks of the underlying assets and can be subject to certain additional risks including damage or loss of the collateral backing the security, failure of the collateral to generate the anticipated cash flow, and more rapid prepayment because of events affecting the collateral (such as accelerated prepayment of loans backing these securities or destruction of equipment subject to equipment trust certificates). If underlying obligations are repaid earlier than expected, the Fund may have to reinvest the proceeds from the securities at a lower interest rate.

The values of asset-backed securities are affected by, among other things, changes in the market's perception of the asset backing the security, the creditworthiness of the servicing agent for the loan pool, the originator of the loans, or the financial institution providing any credit enhancement, and the exhaustion of any credit enhancement. In its capacity as purchaser of an asset-backed security, a fund would generally have no recourse to the entity that originated the loans in the event of default by the borrower. Asset-backed securities may present certain risks not relevant to mortgage-backed securities. Assets underlying asset-backed securities such as credit card receivables are generally unsecured, and debtors are entitled to the protection of various state and federal consumer protection laws, some of which provide a right of set-off that may reduce the balance owed.

Asset-backed securities are relatively new and untested instruments and may be subject to greater risk of default during periods of economic downturn than other securities. In addition, the secondary market for asset-backed securities may not be as liquid as the market for other securities, which may result in difficulty in valuing asset-backed securities.

Subordinated Securities. The **Fixed Income Funds** may invest in securities which are subordinated to other securities in some manner as to the payment of principal and/or interest. In the case of securities issued by a trust, such as asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities, these securities may be subordinated to holders of more senior securities collateralized by the same pool of assets. Because holders of subordinate securities may have to absorb losses in greater proportion than holders of more senior securities, they may have greater risk than would holders of the underlying collateral. The holders of subordinated securities typically are compensated with a higher stated yield than are the holders of more senior securities in exchange for accepting greater risk. As a result, rating agencies tend to assign lower ratings to subordinate securities than they do to senior securities of the same trust or issuer. The market for subordinate securities may be less liquid than is the case for more senior debt securities.

Other Investment Companies

Each Fund may invest in securities issued by other investment companies, including (to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act) other investment companies managed by the Advisor. They may include shares of money market funds, exchange-traded funds ("ETFs"), closed-end investment companies, and PFICs.

Many ETFs are not actively managed. Typically, an ETF's objective is to track the performance of a specified index. Therefore, securities may be purchased, retained and sold by ETFs at times when an actively managed trust would not do so. As a result, a Fund may have a greater risk of loss (and a correspondingly greater prospect of gain) from changes in the value of the securities that are heavily weighted in the index than would be the case if the ETF were not fully invested in such securities. Because of this, an ETF's price can be volatile. In addition, the results of an ETF will not match the performance of the specified index due to reductions in the ETF's performance attributable to transaction and other expenses, including fees paid by the ETF to service providers. The Funds do not invest in actively managed ETFs.

Shares of closed-end funds and ETFs (except, in the case of ETFs, for "aggregation units" of 50,000 shares) are not individually redeemable, but are traded on securities exchanges. The prices of such shares are based upon, but not necessarily identical to, the value of the securities held by the issuer. There is no assurance that the requirements of the securities exchange necessary to maintain the listing of shares of any closed-end fund or ETF will continue to be met.

Each Fund limits its investments in securities issued by other investment companies in accordance with the 1940 Act and SEC rules. Under the 1940 Act, a Fund may acquire securities of an Underlying Fund in amounts which, as determined immediately after the acquisition is made, do not exceed (i) 3% of the total outstanding voting stock of such Underlying Fund, (ii) 5% of the value of the Fund's total assets, and (iii) 10% of the value of the Fund's total assets when combined with all other Underlying Fund securities held by the Fund. The Fund may exceed these statutory limits in certain cases, including pursuant to other statutory exemptions and rules under the 1940 Act including Rule 12d1-4, if certain conditions are met.

As a shareholder of another investment company, a Fund would bear, along with other shareholders, its pro rata portion of the other investment company's expenses, including advisory fees. Accordingly, in addition to bearing their proportionate share of the Fund's expenses (i.e., management fees and operating expenses), shareholders will also indirectly bear similar expenses of such other investment companies.

Investments by a Fund in wholly-owned investment entities created under the laws of certain countries will not be deemed the making of an investment in other investment companies.

Participatory Notes

The Funds may invest in participatory notes issued by banks or broker-dealers that are designed to replicate the performance of certain non-U.S. companies traded on a non-U.S. exchange. Participatory notes are a type of equity-linked derivative which generally are traded over-the-counter. Even though a participatory note is intended to reflect the performance of the underlying equity securities on a one-to-one basis so that investors will not normally gain or lose more in absolute terms than they would have made or lost had they invested in the underlying securities directly, the performance results of participatory notes will not replicate exactly the performance of the issuers or markets that the notes seek to replicate due to transaction costs and other expenses. Investments in participatory notes involve risks normally associated with a direct investment in the underlying securities. In addition, participatory notes are subject to counterparty risk, which is the risk that the broker-dealer or bank that issues the notes will not fulfill its contractual obligation to complete the transaction with a Fund. Participatory notes constitute general unsecured, unsubordinated contractual obligations of the banks or broker-dealers that issue them, and each Fund is relying on the creditworthiness of such banks or broker-dealers and has no rights under a participatory note against the issuers of the securities underlying such participatory notes. There can be no assurance that the trading price or value of participatory notes will equal the value of the underlying equity securities they seek to replicate.

Preferred Stock

The Funds may invest in preferred stock. Preferred stocks are equity securities that often pay dividends at a specific rate and have a preference over common stocks in dividend payments and liquidation of assets. A preferred stock has a blend of the characteristics of a bond and common stock. It can offer the higher yield of a bond and has priority over common stock in equity ownership, but does not have the seniority of a bond and, unlike common stock, its participation in the issuer's growth may be limited. Although the dividend is set at a fixed annual rate, in some circumstances it can be changed or omitted by the issuer.

Real Estate Investment Trusts

The Funds may invest in real estate investment trusts and similar entities ("REITs"). Equity REITs invest directly in real property and derive their income primarily from rents and capital gains from appreciation realized through property sales. Mortgage REITs invest in mortgages on real property and derive their income primarily from interest payments. Hybrid REITs combine the characteristics of equity and mortgage REITs. A REIT is not taxed on income distributed to its shareholders or unit holders if it complies with statutory requirements relating to its organization, ownership, assets and income, and with an additional statutory requirement that it distribute to its shareholder or unit holders at least 90% of its taxable income for each taxable year.

REITs may be subject to certain risks associated with the direct ownership of real estate, including declines in the value of real estate, risks related to general and local economic conditions, overbuilding and increased competition, increases in property taxes and operating expenses, variations in rental income and defaults by borrowers or tenants. Furthermore, REITs are dependent on specialized management skills. Some REITs may have limited diversification and may be subject to risks inherent in financing a limited number of properties.

REITs pay dividends to their shareholders based upon available funds from operations. It is quite common for these dividends to exceed a REIT's taxable earnings and profits, resulting in the excess portion of such dividends being designated as a return of capital. Each Fund intends to include the gross dividends from such REITs in its distribution to its shareholders and, accordingly, a portion of the Fund's distributions may also be designated as a return of capital.

Redemption Risk

A Fund may experience periods of significant redemptions, particularly during periods of declining or illiquid markets, that could cause the Fund to liquidate its assets at inopportune times or unfavorable prices, or increase or accelerate taxable gains or transaction costs, and may negatively affect the Fund's NAV, performance, or ability to satisfy redemptions in a timely manner which could cause the value of your investment to decline. Redemption risk is greater to the extent that the Fund has investors with large shareholdings, short investment horizons, unpredictable cash flow needs or where one decision maker has control of Fund shares owned by separate Fund shareholders, including clients of the Advisor. In addition, redemption risk is heightened during periods of overall market turmoil. A large redemption by one or more shareholders of their holdings in the Fund could hurt performance and/or cause the remaining shareholders in the Fund to lose money.

Repurchase Agreements

To maintain liquidity, each Fund may enter into repurchase agreements (agreements to purchase U.S. Treasury notes and bills, subject to the seller's agreement to repurchase them at a specified time and price) with well-established registered securities dealers or banks.

A repurchase agreement is a transaction in which a Fund purchases a security and, at the same time, the seller (normally a commercial bank or broker-dealer) agrees to repurchase the same security (and/or a security substituted for it under the repurchase agreement) at an agreed-upon price and date in the future. The resale price is in excess of the purchase price, as it reflects an agreed-upon market interest rate effective for the period of time during which the Fund holds the securities. Repurchase agreements may be viewed as a type of secured lending. The purchaser maintains custody of the underlying securities prior to their repurchase; thus the obligation of the bank or dealer to pay the repurchase price on the date agreed to is, in effect, secured by such underlying securities. If the value of such securities is less than the repurchase price, the other party to the agreement is required to provide additional collateral so that at all times the collateral is at least equal to the repurchase price.

The majority of these transactions run from day to day and not more than seven days from the original purchase. However, the maturities of the securities subject to repurchase agreements are not subject to any limits and may exceed one year. The securities will be marked to market every business day so that their value is at least equal to the amount due from the seller, including accrued interest. A Fund's risk is limited to the ability of the seller to pay the agreed-upon sum on the delivery date.

Although repurchase agreements carry certain risks not associated with direct investments in securities, the Fund intends to enter into repurchase agreements only with banks and dealers believed by the Advisor to present minimum credit risks in accordance with guidelines established by the Board of Trustees. The Advisor will review and monitor the creditworthiness of such institutions under the Board's general supervision. To the extent that the proceeds from any sale of collateral upon a default in the obligation to repurchase were less than the repurchase

price, the purchaser would suffer a loss. If the other party to the repurchase agreement petitions for bankruptcy or otherwise becomes subject to bankruptcy or other liquidation proceedings, the purchaser's ability to sell the collateral might be restricted and the purchaser could suffer a loss if it were treated as an unsecured creditor. However, with respect to financial institutions whose bankruptcy or liquidation proceedings are subject to the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, each Fund intends to comply with provisions under such Code that would allow it immediately to resell the collateral.

Reserves

Each Fund may establish and maintain reserves when the Advisor determines that such reserves would be desirable for temporary defensive purposes (for example, during periods of substantial volatility in interest rates) or to enable it to take advantage of buying opportunities. The Fund's reserves may be invested in domestic and foreign money market instruments, including government obligations.

Reverse Repurchase Agreements

The **Fixed Income Funds** may enter into reverse repurchase agreements (agreements to sell portfolio securities, subject to such Fund's agreement to repurchase them at a specified time and price) with well-established registered dealers and banks. Whenever a Fund enters into a reverse repurchase agreement, it will either (i) consistent with Section 18 of the 1940 Act, maintain asset coverage of at least 300% of the value of the repurchase agreement or (ii) treat the reverse repurchase agreement as a derivatives transaction for purposes of the Derivatives Rule, including, as applicable, the VaR based limit on leverage risk. Reverse repurchase agreements are the economic equivalent of borrowing by the Fund, and are entered into by the Fund to enable it to avoid selling securities to meet redemption requests during market conditions deemed unfavorable by the Advisor.

Securities Lending

To realize additional income, each Fund may lend securities with a value of up to 30% of its total assets to broker-dealers or institutional investors. Each loan will be secured by collateral which is maintained at no less than 100% of the value of the securities loaned by marking to market daily. For the duration of the loan, the Fund will continue to receive the equivalent of the dividends or interest paid by the issuer on the securities loaned. A Fund may pay reasonable administrative and custodial fees in connection with a loan of securities. Each Fund will have the right to call each loan and obtain the securities on five business days' notice or, in connection with securities trading on foreign markets, within a longer period of time which coincides with the normal settlement period for purchases and sales of such securities in such foreign markets. Loans will only be made to persons deemed by the Advisor to be of good standing in accordance with standards approved by the Board and will not be made unless, in the judgment of the Advisor, the consideration to be earned from such loans would justify the risk. The risks in lending portfolio securities, as with other extensions of credit, consist of possible delay in recovery of the securities should the borrower fail financially. In addition, voting rights or rights to consent with respect to the loaned securities pass to the borrower.

Short-Term Investments

The Funds may at times invest in short-term securities either for temporary, defensive purposes or as part of their overall investment strategies. These securities include U.S. dollar denominated bank certificates of deposit, bankers' acceptances, commercial paper and other short-term debt obligations of U.S. and foreign issuers, including U.S. Government and agency obligations. A certificate of deposit is a short-term obligation of a commercial bank. A bankers' acceptance is a time draft drawn on a commercial bank by a borrower, usually in connection with an international commercial transaction. Commercial paper is a short-term, unsecured promissory note issued to finance short-term credit needs. All these obligations are high quality, meaning that the security is rated in one of the two highest categories for short-term securities by one of the nationally recognized rating services or, if unrated, is determined by the Advisor to be of comparable quality. The values of these investments may be adversely affected by the inability of the issuers (or related supporting institutions) to make principal or interest payments on the obligations in a timely manner.

Cash Management

Each Fund may hold cash pending investment or may invest in money market instruments for cash management purposes. The amount of assets a Fund may hold for cash management purposes will depend on market conditions and the need to meet expected redemption requests.

Structured Notes

Each Fund may invest in structured notes. Structured notes are derivative debt securities, the interest rate or principal of which is determined by an unrelated indicator. Indexed securities include structured notes as well as securities other than debt securities, the interest rate or principal of which is determined by an unrelated indicator. Indexed securities may include a multiplier that multiplies the indexed element by a specified factor and, therefore, the value of such securities may be very volatile.

Swaps and Options on Swaps

Each Fund may engage in swaps, including, but not limited to, swaps on interest rates, security indexes, specific securities, currencies and credit default and event-linked swaps. The Fund may also enter into options on swaps ("swap options").

Each Fund may enter into swaps for any legal purpose consistent with its investment objective and policies, such as for the purpose of attempting to obtain or preserve a particular return or spread at a lower cost than obtaining a return or spread through purchases and/or sales of instruments in other markets, to protect against currency fluctuations, as a duration management technique, to protect against any increase in the price of securities a Fund anticipates purchasing at a later date, or to gain exposure to certain markets in the most economical way possible.

Following the adoption and implementation of the Dodd-Frank Act, many categories of swaps (such as interest rate swaps, currency swaps, and swaps on broad-based securities indexes) are commodity interests subject to the jurisdiction of the CFTC If a Fund enters into such a swap, it may be considered a "commodity pool," which in turn may trigger a requirement for the Advisor to register as a "commodity pool operator" (a "CPO") with the CFTC absent the ability to rely on the exemption from CPO status provided by CFTC Regulation 4.5. Under amendments to the exemption provided under CFTC Regulation 4.5, if a Fund uses futures, options on futures, or swaps other than for bona fide hedging purposes (as defined by the CFTC), the aggregate initial margin and premiums on these positions (after taking into account unrealized profits and unrealized losses on any such positions and excluding the amount by which options are "in-the-money" at the time of purchase) may not exceed 5% of the Fund's liquidation value, or alternatively, the aggregate net notional value of those positions may not exceed 100% of the Fund's liquidation value (after taking into account unrealized profits and unrealized losses on any such positions).

Swaps on single securities, single loans, and narrow-based securities indexes – as well as some index credit default swaps – are known as "security-based swaps." These instruments are subject to SEC, rather than CFTC, jurisdiction. Accordingly, a Fund would not be considered a commodity pool subject to CFTC jurisdiction as a result of entering into this type of swap.

Swaps bearing attributes of both CFTC-regulated swaps and security-based swaps are considered "mixed swaps." Absent a determination to the contrary by the CFTC and the SEC, these instruments would generally be considered to be commodity interests. As a result, a Fund that enters into a mixed swap would be considered a commodity pool, which in turn may trigger a requirement for the Advisor to register as a CPO with the CFTC absent the ability to rely on the exemption from CPO status provided by Regulation 4.5.

A Fund could be considered a "major swap participant" or a "major-security based swap participant" if its trading of swaps or security-based swaps exceeded certain tests specified in CFTC and SEC regulations that, generally speaking, measure swap counterparty exposure. Major swap participants and major security-based swap participants are subject to comprehensive requirements under CFTC and SEC regulations, respectively. Those requirements, if they were to apply to a Fund, would potentially have an adverse effect on a Fund's ability to trade swaps and security-based swaps.

Swaps are two party contracts entered into primarily by institutional investors for periods ranging from a few weeks to more than one year. In a standard "swap" transaction, two parties agree to exchange the returns (or differentials in rates of return) earned or realized on particular predetermined investments or instruments, which may be adjusted for an interest factor. The gross returns to be exchanged or "swapped" between the parties are generally calculated with respect to a "notional amount," i.e., the return on or increase in value of a particular dollar amount invested at a particular interest rate, in a particular foreign currency, or in a "basket" of securities or commodities representing a particular index. A "quanto" or "differential" swap combines both an interest rate and a currency transaction. Other forms of swaps include interest rate caps, under which, in return for a premium, one party agrees to make payments to the other to the extent that interest rates exceed a specified rate, or "cap"; interest rate floors, under which, in return for a premium, one party agrees to make payments to the other to the

extent that interest rates fall below a specified rate, or "floor"; and interest rate collars, under which a party sells a cap and purchases a floor or vice versa in an attempt to protect itself against interest rate movements exceeding given minimum or maximum levels.

Each Fund may enter into credit default swaps. The "buyer" in a credit default contract is obligated to pay the "seller" a periodic stream of payments over the term of the contract provided that no event of default on an underlying reference obligation has occurred. If an event of default occurs, the seller must pay the buyer the full notional value, or "par value," of the reference obligation in exchange for the reference obligation. A Fund may be either the buyer or seller in a credit default swap. If the Fund is a buyer and no event of default occurs, the Fund will lose its investment and recover nothing. However, if an event of default occurs, the Fund (if the buyer) will receive either the full notional value in exchange for the reference obligation or the difference in value between the full notional value and the reference obligation. As a seller, a Fund receives a fixed rate of income throughout the term of the contract, which typically is between six months and three years, provided that there is no default event. If an event of default occurs, the seller must pay the buyer the full notional value of the reference obligation. Credit default swaps involve greater risks than if the Fund had invested in the reference obligation directly.

A swap option is a contract that gives a counterparty the right (but not the obligation) in return for payment of a premium, to enter into a new swap or to shorten, extend, cancel or otherwise modify an existing swap, at some designated future time on specified terms. Each Fund may write (sell) and purchase put and call swap options.

Most swaps entered into by a Fund would calculate the obligations of the parties to the agreement on a "net basis." Consequently, the Fund's current obligations (or rights) under a swap will generally be equal only to the net amount to be paid or received under the agreement based on the relative values of the positions held by each party to the agreement (the "net amount"). A Fund's current obligations under a swap will be accrued daily (offset against any amounts owed to the Fund) As a matter of operating policy, a Fund will limit its swaps, along with any other transactions that are considered commodity interests subject to CFTC jurisdiction, so that either: (a) the aggregate initial margin or premium required to establish those positions does not exceed 5% of the Fund's net assets; or (b) the aggregate net notional value of those positions does not exceed 100% of the Fund's net assets. For this purpose, the caps, collars, and floors described above are considered swaps.

Swaps involve special risks. Swaps may in some cases be illiquid. In the absence of a central exchange or market for swaps, they may be difficult to trade or value, especially in the event of market disruptions. Credit default swaps involve additional risks. For example, credit default swaps increase credit risk since a Fund has exposure to both the issuer of the referenced obligation (typically a debt obligation) and the counterparty to the credit default swap.

Whether a Fund's use of swaps or swap options will be successful in furthering its investment objective will depend on the Advisor's ability to predict correctly whether certain types of investments are likely to produce greater returns than other investments. Because they are two party contracts and because they may have terms of greater than seven days, swaps may be considered to be illiquid depending on the underlying circumstances. Moreover, a Fund bears the risk of loss of the amount expected to be received under a swap in the event of the default or bankruptcy of a swap counterparty. Each Fund will enter into swaps only with counterparties that meet certain standards of creditworthiness. Certain restrictions imposed on the Fund by the Derivatives Rule and by the Code may limit the Fund's ability to use swaps. It is possible that developments in the swaps market, including regulations being implemented under the Dodd-Frank Act, could adversely affect a Fund's ability to terminate existing swaps or to realize amounts to be received under such agreements.

Depending on the terms of the particular option agreement, a Fund will generally incur a greater degree of risk when it writes a swap option than it will incur when it purchases a swap option. When a Fund purchases a swap option, it risks losing only the amount of the premium it has paid should it decide to let the option expire unexercised. However, when a Fund writes a swap option, upon exercise of the option the Fund will become obligated according to the terms of the underlying agreement.

Swaps and security-based swaps are subject to a comprehensive regulatory regime under the Dodd-Frank Act that is being implemented by the CFTC and the SEC. Many aspects of this regime have yet to be finalized, so their overall effect on a Fund remains uncertain. One key aspect of these regulations will be to provide for the centralized clearing of several categories of swaps. Centralized clearing may reduce some risks associated with bilateral trading – like counterparty and credit risks – but may present other risks, like risks associated with the failure of the member firm through which swaps are submitted for clearing. Centrally-cleared swaps will generally be required to be executed on a designated contract market or a swap execution facility, and the clearing

organizations for those transactions may impose initial and variation margin requirements. Swaps that are uncleared may be subject to margin requirements imposed by regulation. A swap counterparty will have certain recordkeeping requirements regarding its swaps, and information about those transactions may be required to be reported and made publicly available. These new requirements will impose additional costs on entering into swaps, the full scope of which will remain unknown until the regulations are fully implemented.

Trust Preferred Securities

The Funds may invest in trust-preferred securities, which share characteristics of preferred stock, corporate debt, and asset-backed securities. Trust preferred securities represent interests in a trust formed by a parent company to finance its operations. The trust sells preferred shares and invests the proceeds in debt securities of the parent. This debt may be subordinated and unsecured. Dividend payments on the trust preferred securities match the interest payments on the debt securities. If no interest is paid on the underlying debt securities, the trust will not make interest payments to holders of its preferred securities. Unlike typical asset-backed securities, trust preferred securities have only one underlying obligor and are not over-collateralized. For that reason the market may effectively treat trust preferred securities as subordinate corporate debt of the underlying issuer. Issuers of trust preferred securities receive favorable tax treatment. If the tax rules regarding trust preferred securities were to change, they could be redeemed by the issuers, which could result in a loss to holders.

U.S. Government Securities

Each Fund may invest in securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government, its agencies and instrumentalities. U.S. government securities include direct obligations issued by the United States Treasury, such as Treasury bills, certificates of indebtedness, notes and bonds. U.S. Treasury obligations differ mainly in the lengths of their maturities (e.g., Treasury bills mature in one year or less, and Treasury notes and bonds mature in two to 30 years).

U.S. government agencies and instrumentalities that issue or guarantee securities include, but are not limited to, the Federal National Mortgage Association (d/b/a Fannie Mae) ("FNMA"), Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (d/b/a Freddie Mac) ("FHLMC"), Government National Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal Land Banks, Farmers Home Administration, Banks for Cooperatives, Federal Intermediate Credit Banks, Federal Financing Bank, Farm Credit Bank, Small Business Administration and Tennessee Valley Authority. Securities issued by these agencies and instrumentalities may have maturities from one day to 30 years or longer. Except for U.S. Treasury securities, obligations of U.S. government agencies and instrumentalities may or may not be supported by the full faith and credit of the United States. Some (such as those of the Federal Home Loan Banks) are backed by the right of the issuer to borrow from the Treasury; others (such as those of FNMA) are backed by discretionary authority of the U.S. government to purchase the agencies' obligations; and others (such as those of FHLMC) are supported only by the credit of the instrumentality.

U.S. government securities also include securities issued by non-governmental entities (such as financial institutions) that carry direct guarantees from U.S. government agencies as part of government initiatives in response to market crises or otherwise.

A guarantee of principal by an agency or instrumentality may be a guarantee of payment at the maturity of the obligation, so that in the event of a default prior to maturity there might not be a market and thus no means of realizing the value of the obligation prior to its maturity. In the case of securities not backed by the full faith and credit of the United States, the investor must look principally to the agency issuing or guaranteeing the obligation for ultimate repayment and may not be able to assert a claim against the United States itself in the event the agency or instrumentality does not meet its commitment. No government agency or instrumentality guarantees the market value of the securities it issues, and such market value will fluctuate in response to changes in interest rates.

In 2008, the FHFA was appointed as the conservator of FHLMC and FNMA for an indefinite period. In accordance with the Federal Housing Finance Regulatory Reform Act of 2008 and the Federal Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act of 1992, as conservator, the FHFA will control and oversee these entities until the FHFA deems them financially sound and solvent. During the conservatorship, each entity's obligations are expected to be paid in the normal course of business. Although no express guarantee exists for the debt or mortgage-backed securities issued by these entities, the U.S. Department of Treasury, through a secured lending credit facility and a senior preferred stock purchase agreement, has attempted to enhance the ability of the entities to meet their obligations.

Variable Rate and Floating Rate Demand Notes

The **Fixed Income Funds** may invest in variable and floating rate demand notes. Variable rate demand notes and bonds have a stated maturity in excess of one year, but permit a holder to demand payment of principal plus accrued interest upon a specified number of days' notice. Frequently, such obligations are secured by letters of credit or other credit support arrangements provided by banks. The issuer has a corresponding right, after a given period, to prepay in its discretion the outstanding principal of the obligation plus accrued interest upon a specific number of days' notice to the holders.

The interest rate of a floating rate instrument may be based on a known lending rate, such as a bank's prime rate, and is reset whenever such rate is adjusted. The interest rate on a variable rate demand note is reset at specified intervals at a market rate. The Advisor monitors the earning power, cash flow and other liquidity ratios of the issuers of such obligations, as well as the creditworthiness of the institution responsible for paying the principal amount of the obligations under the demand feature.

Warrants

The Funds may invest in warrants. A warrant, which is issued by the underlying issuer, gives the holder a right to purchase at any time during a specified period a predetermined number of shares of common stock at a fixed price. Unlike convertible debt securities or preferred stock, warrants do not pay a fixed dividend. Investments in warrants involve certain risks, including the possible lack of a liquid market for resale of the warrants, potential price fluctuations as a result of speculation or other factors and failure of the price of the underlying security to reach, or have reasonable prospects of reaching, a level at which the warrant can be prudently exercised (in which event the warrant may expire without being exercised, resulting in a loss of a Fund's entire investment therein).

When-Issued Securities

Each Fund may from time to time purchase securities on a "when-issued," delayed delivery or forward commitment basis, generally in connection with an underwriting or other offering. The price of such securities, which may be expressed in yield terms, is fixed at the time the commitment to purchase is made, but delivery and payment for the when-issued securities take place at a later date, beyond normal settlement dates, generally from 15 to 45 days after the transaction.

With to be announced (TBA) transactions, the particular securities to be delivered or received are not identified at the trade date, but are "to be announced" at a later settlement date. However, securities to be delivered must meet specified criteria, including face value, coupon rate and maturity, and be within industry-accepted "good delivery" standards.

When purchasing a security on a when-issued, delayed delivery, or forward commitment basis, a Fund assumes the rights and risks of ownership of the security, including the risk of price and yield fluctuations, and takes such fluctuations into account when determining its net asset value. Because the Fund is not required to pay for the security until the delivery date, these risks are in addition to the risks associated with the Fund's other investments. If the Fund remains substantially fully invested at a time when when-issued, delayed delivery, or forward commitment purchases are outstanding, the purchases may result in a form of leverage. Should market values of the Fund's portfolio securities decline while the Fund is in a leveraged position, greater depreciation of its net assets would likely occur than if it were not in such a position. The Fund will not borrow money to settle these transactions and, therefore, will liquidate other portfolio securities in advance of settlement if necessary to generate additional cash to meet its obligations. After a transaction is entered into, the Fund may still dispose of or renegotiate the transaction. Additionally, prior to receiving delivery of securities as part of a transaction, the Fund may sell such securities.

When a Fund has sold a security on a when-issued, delayed delivery, or forward commitment basis, the Fund does not participate in future gains or losses with respect to the security. If the other party to a transaction fails to deliver or pay for the securities, the Fund could miss a favorable price or yield opportunity or could suffer a loss. Each Fund may dispose of or renegotiate a transaction after it is entered into, and may sell when-issued, delayed delivery or forward commitment securities before they are delivered, which may result in a capital gain or loss. There is no percentage limitation on the extent to which a Fund may purchase or sell securities on a when-issued, delayed delivery, or forward commitment basis.

Under the Derivatives Rule, when issued, forward-settling and non-standard settlement cycle securities, as well as TBAs, will be treated as derivatives unless the Fund intends to physically settle these transactions and the transactions will settle within 35 days of their respective trade dates.

INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS

The Trust has adopted the following fundamental investment policies and restrictions with respect to the Funds in addition to the policies and restrictions discussed in the prospectuses. The policies and restrictions listed below with respect to a Fund cannot be changed without approval by the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Fund. A "majority of the outstanding voting securities" of a Fund is defined in the 1940 Act to mean the lesser of (1) 67% of the shares of the Fund represented at a meeting at which more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Fund are represented or (2) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Fund.

As a matter of fundamental policy, each Fund is diversified, i.e., at least 75% of the value of its total assets is represented by cash and cash items (including receivables), government securities, securities of other investment companies, and other securities for the purposes of this calculation limited in respect of any one issuer to an amount not greater in value than 5% of the value of the total assets of the Fund and to not more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer.

In addition, no Fund may:

- 1. Issue senior securities, borrow money or pledge its assets, except that the Fund may borrow on an unsecured basis from banks for temporary or emergency purposes or for the clearance of transactions in amounts not exceeding 10% of its total assets (not including the amount borrowed), provided that it will not make investments while borrowings in excess of 5% of the value of its total assets are outstanding;
- 2. Act as underwriter (except to the extent the Fund may be deemed to be an underwriter in connection with the sale of securities in its investment portfolio);
- 3. Invest 25% or more of its total assets, calculated at the time of purchase and taken at market value, in any one industry (other than U.S. government securities), except that the Fund reserves the right to invest all of its assets in shares of another investment company;
- 4. Purchase or sell real estate or interests in real estate or real estate limited partnerships (although the Fund may purchase and sell securities which are secured by real estate, securities of companies which invest or deal in real estate and securities issued by real estate investment trusts);
- 5. Purchase or sell commodities or commodity futures contracts, except that the Fund may purchase and sell stock index futures contracts for hedging purposes to the extent permitted under applicable federal and state laws and regulations and except that the Funds may engage in foreign exchange forward contracts, although it has no current intention to use such contracts except to settle transactions in securities requiring foreign currency;
- 6. Make loans (except for purchases of debt securities consistent with the investment policies of the Funds and except for repurchase agreements);
- 7. Make investments for the purpose of exercising control or management; or
- 8. Invest in oil and gas limited partnerships or oil, gas or mineral leases.

The International Equity Fund, the Global Equity Fund, the Emerging Markets Value Fund, the International Small Cap Fund, and the Small Cap Value Fund may not:

- 1. Make short sales of securities or maintain a short position, except for short sales against the box;
- 2. Purchase securities on margin, except such short-term credits as may be necessary for the clearance of transactions; or
- 3. Write put or call options, except that the Fund may (a) write covered call options on individual securities and on stock indices; (b) purchase put and call options on securities which are eligible for purchase by the Fund and on stock indices; and (c) engage in closing transactions with respect to its options writing and purchases, in all cases subject to applicable federal and state laws and regulations.

Operating Restrictions

Each Fund observes the following restrictions as a matter of operating, but not fundamental, policy, which can be changed by the Board without shareholder approval.

No Fund may:

- Purchase any security if as a result the Fund would then hold more than 10% of any class of voting securities of an issuer (taking all common stock issues as a single class, all preferred stock issues as a single class, and all debt issues as a single class), except that the Fund reserves the right to invest all of its assets in a class of voting securities of another investment company; or
- 2. Purchase (i) more than 3% of the total outstanding shares of another investment company, (ii) shares of another investment company having an aggregate value in excess of 5% of the value of the total assets of the Fund, or (iii) shares of another registered investment company in an amount that would cause the Fund's aggregate investment in all investment companies to be in excess of 10% of the value of the total assets of the Fund, except as permitted by federal and state law and regulations promulgated thereunder, and except that the Fund reserves the right to invest all of its assets in another investment company.

In addition, neither the International Equity Fund, the Global Equity Fund, the Emerging Markets Value Fund, the International Small Cap Fund, the Small Cap Value Fund, nor the Core Plus Fund may make any change to its investment policy of investing at least 80% of its net assets in the investments suggested by the Fund's name without first providing the Fund's shareholders with at least 60 days' prior written notice.

PORTFOLIO TURNOVER

The annual portfolio turnover rate indicates changes in the Funds' portfolios, and is calculated by dividing the lesser of long-term purchases or sales of portfolio securities for the fiscal year by the monthly average of the value of portfolio long-term securities owned by the Funds during the fiscal year. A 100% portfolio turnover rate would occur if all the securities in the Funds' portfolios, with the exception of securities whose maturities at the time of acquisition were one year or less, were sold and either repurchased or replaced within one year. A high rate of portfolio turnover (100% or more) generally leads to high transaction costs and might result in a greater number of taxable transactions. Each Fund's rate of portfolio turnover for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

	2023	2022
International Equity Fund	21.81%	28.67%
Global Equity Fund	17.28%	14.57%
Emerging Markets Value Fund	19.23%	23.04%
International Small Cap Fund	32.77%	38.17%
Small Cap Value Fund ¹	30.99%	160.47%
Core Plus Fund	15.72%	25.44%
SMART Fund	23.24%	28.94%

¹ The portfolio turnover rate for the Small Cap Value Fund was significantly lower for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023 than for the prior year. The decrease in the portfolio turnover rate was primarily due to Fund flows during the periods.

PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS DISCLOSURE

The Funds will not disclose (or authorize its custodian or principal underwriter to disclose) portfolio holdings information to any person or entity except as follows:

- To persons providing services to the Funds who have a need to know such information in order to fulfill
 their obligations to the Funds, such as portfolio managers, administrators, custodians, pricing services,
 proxy voting services, accounting and auditing services, and research and trading services, and the Trust's
 Board of Trustees:
- In connection with periodic reports that are available to shareholders and the public;
- To mutual fund rating or statistical agencies or persons performing similar functions;
- Pursuant to a regulatory request or as otherwise required by law; or
- To persons approved in writing by the Chief Compliance Officer of the Trust (the "CCO").

Any disclosures made to persons approved by the CCO will be reported by the CCO to the Board at the end of the quarter in which such disclosure was made. The portfolio holdings information that may be distributed to any person is limited to the information that the Advisor believes is reasonably necessary in connection with the services to be provided by the service provider receiving the information. Neither the Trust nor the Advisor may receive compensation in connection with the disclosure of information about the Fund's portfolio securities. In the event of a conflict between the interests of Trust shareholders and those of the Advisor or any affiliated person of the Trust or the Advisor, the CCO will make a determination in the best interests of the Trust's shareholders, and will report such determination to the Board at the end of the quarter in which such determination was made.

The Funds disclose their portfolio holdings quarterly, in their Annual and Semi-Annual Reports, as well as in filings with the SEC, in each case no later than 60 days after the end of the applicable fiscal year. The Funds typically disclose their portfolio holdings publicly on their website on the 22nd calendar day after each calendar quarter end.

Registered investment companies that are sub-advised by the Advisor may be subject to different portfolio holdings disclosure policies, and neither the Board of Trustees nor the Advisor exercises control over such policies. In addition, the Advisor's separately managed account clients have access to their portfolio holdings and are not subject to the Trust's Disclosure Policies and Procedures. Certain of the Advisor's separately managed accounts and investment companies which it sub-advises have substantially similar or identical investment objectives and strategies to the Trust, and therefore have substantially similar, and in certain cases nearly identical, portfolio holdings as the Trust.

Such disclosure may be made to service providers and other persons approved by the CCO only if the recipients of such information are subject to a confidentiality agreement that among other things, prohibits any trading upon such information and if the authorizing persons (as determined by the Funds' CCO) determine that, under the circumstances, disclosure is in the best interests of the Funds' shareholders. Organizations that publish ratings and/or rankings of the Funds and perform portfolio analysis (collectively, "Ratings and Rankings Agencies") may require portfolio holdings information in order to assign and monitor a Fund's rating or ranking. The Funds have determined that selective and complete disclosure of portfolio holdings information to Ratings and Rankings Agencies fulfills a legitimate business purpose and is in the best interest of shareholders, as it provides existing and potential shareholders with an independent basis for evaluating the Funds in comparison to other mutual funds.

MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Trust's business. The Board approves all significant agreements between the Trust and persons or companies furnishing services to it, including the agreements with the Advisor, Administrator, the Trust's Custodian, Distributor, and Transfer Agent. The Board delegates the day-to-day operations of the Trust to its officers, subject to each Fund's investment objective and policies and to general supervision by the Board.

The Trustees and officers of the Trust, their business addresses and principal occupations during the past five years are:

Name, Address, and Age	Position(s) Held with Trust	Term of Office and Length of Time Served ⁽¹⁾	Principal Occupation During Past Five Years	Number of Fund Series Overseen by Trustee	Other Directorships/ Trusteeships Held by Trustee
Independent Trustees(2)					
Gregory Bishop, CFA 4275 Executive Square, 5th Floor La Jolla, CA 92037 (1961)	Trustee	Since January 2017	Retired. Previously Executive Vice President and Head of Retail Business, PIMCO Investments, from 1997 to 2014.	7	None
Robert M. Fitzgerald 4275 Executive Square, 5th Floor La Jolla, CA 92037 (1952)	Trustee	Since April 2008	Retired from 2002 to 2005 and since 2007; Chief Financial Officer of National Retirement Partners from 2005 to 2007.	7	Hotchkis and Wiley Funds (10 portfolios).

Name, Address, and Age	Position(s) Held with Trust	Term of Office and Length of Time Served ⁽¹⁾	Principal Occupation During Past Five Years	Number of Fund Series Overseen by Trustee	Other Directorships/ Trusteeships Held by Trustee
Craig Wainscott, CFA 4275 Executive Square, 5th Floor La Jolla, CA 92037 (1961)	Trustee and (beginning January 2018) Chairman of the Board	Since February 2012	Retired from Russell Investments, Managing Director, US Mutual Funds; Currently Partner with The Paradigm Project and advisor to early-stage companies.	7	None
"Interested" Trustees(3)					
Jeff Busby, CFA 4275 Executive Square, 5th Floor La Jolla, CA 92037 (1961)	Trustee and President	•	Executive Director of the Advisor since January 2004.	7	None
Oliver Murray 4275 Executive Square, 5th Floor La Jolla, CA 92037 (1962)	Trustee	Since February 2012	CEO, Brandes Investment Partners & Co. since 2002; Managing Director – PCPM of the Advisor since 2011.	7	None
Officers of the Trust					
Thomas M. Quinlan 4275 Executive Square, 5th Floor La Jolla, CA 92037 (1970)	Secretary	Since June 2003	Associate General Counsel to the Advisor since January 2006.	N/A	N/A
Gary Iwamura, CPA 4275 Executive Square, 5th Floor La Jolla, CA 92037 (1956)	Treasurer	Since September 1997	Retired. Consultant to Advisor January 2022 to present. Finance Director of the Advisor January 1997 through December 2021.	N/A	N/A
Roberta Loubier 4275 Executive Square, 5th Floor La Jolla, CA 92037 (1971)	Chief Compliance Officer and Anti-Money Laundering Officer	Since September 2015	Global Head of Compliance of the Advisor.	N/A	N/A

⁽¹⁾ Trustees and officers of the Fund serve until their resignation, removal or retirement.

Additional Information Concerning the Board of Trustees

The Role of the Board

The Board oversees the management and operations of the Trust. Like all mutual funds, the day-to-day management and operation of the Trust is the responsibility of the various service providers to the Trust, such as the Advisor, the Distributor, the Administrator, the Custodian, and the Transfer Agent, each of which are discussed in greater detail in this Statement of Additional Information. The Board has appointed various senior individuals of

⁽²⁾ Not "interested persons" of the Trust as defined in the 1940 Act.

^{(3) &}quot;Interested persons" of the Trust as defined in the 1940 Act. Jeff Busby is an interested person of the Trust because he is the President of the Trust and the Executive Director of the Advisor. Oliver Murray is an interested person of the Trust, because he is Managing Director of the Advisor.

certain of these service providers as officers of the Trust, with responsibility to monitor and report to the Board on the Trust's operations. In conducting this oversight, the Board receives regular reports from these officers and the service providers. For example, the Treasurer reports as to financial reporting matters and the President reports as to matters relating to the Trust's operations. In addition, the Advisor provides regular reports on the investment strategy and performance of the Funds. The Board has appointed a Chief Compliance Officer who administers the Trust's compliance program and regularly reports to the Board as to compliance matters. These reports are provided as part of formal Board Meetings which are typically held quarterly and involve the Board's review of recent operations. In addition, various members of the Board also meet with management in less formal settings, between formal Board Meetings, to discuss various topics. In all cases, however, the role of the Board and of any individual Trustee is one of oversight and not of management of the day-to-day affairs of the Trust and its oversight role does not make the Board a guarantor of the Trust's investments, operations or activities.

Board Structure, Leadership

The Board has structured itself in a manner that it believes allows it to perform its oversight function effectively. It has established two standing committees, a Nominating and Governance Committee and an Audit Committee, which are discussed in greater detail below under "Board Committees." Currently, three of the five Trustees are Independent Trustees, who are not affiliated with the Advisor, the principal underwriter, or their affiliates. Mr. Wainscott, an Independent Trustee, serves as Chairman of the Board. The Nominating and Governance Committee and Audit Committee are comprised entirely of Independent Trustees. The Independent Trustees also are advised by independent legal counsel. The Board has determined that this leadership structure is appropriate to ensure that the regular business of the Board is conducted efficiently while still permitting the Independent Trustees to effectively fulfill their fiduciary and oversight obligations. The Board reviews its structure and the structure of its committees annually.

Board Oversight of Risk Management

As part of its oversight function, the Board of Trustees receives and reviews various risk management reports and discusses these matters with appropriate management and other personnel. Because risk management is a broad concept comprised of many elements (e.g., investment risk, issuer and counterparty risk, compliance risk, operational risk, business continuity risk), the oversight of different types of risks is handled in different ways. For example, the Audit Committee meets with the Treasurer and the Trust's independent registered public accounting firm to discuss, among other things, the internal control structure of the Trust's financial reporting function. The Board meets regularly with the Chief Compliance Officer to discuss compliance and operational risks and how they are managed. The Board also receives reports from the Advisor as to investment risks of the Funds. In addition to these reports, from time to time the Board receives reports from the Administrator and the Advisor as to enterprise risk management. Not all risks that may affect the Funds can be identified or processes and controls developed to eliminate or mitigate their effect. Moreover, it is necessary to bear certain risks (such as investment related risks) to achieve the Funds' objectives. As a result of the foregoing and other factors, the ability of the Funds' service providers to eliminate or mitigate risks is subject to limitations.

Information about Each Trustee's Qualification, Experience, Attributes or Skills

The current Trustees were selected with a view to establishing a board that would have the broad experience needed to oversee a registered investment company comprised of multiple series employing a variety of different investment strategies. As a group, the Board has extensive experience in many different aspects of the financial services and asset management industries. In addition, each of the Trustees has served on the Board for a number of years, and has gained substantial insight as to the operation of the Advisor and the Trust.

The Trustees were selected to join the Board based upon the following factors, among others: character and integrity; willingness to service and to commit the time necessary to perform the duties of a Trustee; and as to a majority of the Board satisfying the criteria for not being classified as an "interested person" of the Trust as defined in the 1940 Act.

In addition to the information provided in the chart above, below is certain additional information concerning the professional experience of each Trustee. The information is not all-inclusive as relevant Trustee attributes also involve intangible elements, such as intelligence, integrity, work ethic, the ability to work together, the ability to communicate effectively, the ability to exercise judgment and to ask incisive questions, and commitment to shareholder interests.

Mr. Bishop has substantial mutual fund and financial services experience. He is currently retired, and previously spent over 17 years in the investment management business at Pacific Investment Management Company, LLC ("PIMCO"), where he served as Executive Vice President and Head of Retail Business Management for PIMCO Investments with responsibilities related to retail distribution and operations for PIMCO's mutual fund complex. He has extensive experience in the financial services industry. Mr. Bishop has held the Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) designation since 1996 and has experience with mutual fund operations, compliance, marketing and distribution.

Mr. Fitzgerald has substantial experience in public accounting as a Partner of Price Waterhouse LLP primarily serving financial services companies. He has also served as Chief Financial Officer of Pimco Advisors (a publicly traded asset manager and fund sponsor) and as Chief Financial Officer of National Retirement Partners and currently serves as a Trustee and chair of the audit committee of Hotchkis and Wiley Funds.

Mr. Wainscott has substantial mutual fund and financial services experience. He has extensive experience in the investment management business at Russell Investments where he served as a Managing Director in the U.S. mutual fund group, President of Russell Canada and Director of Russell Australia. Mr. Wainscott has worked as a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) since 1985 and has experience with quantitative investment techniques, fund marketing and fund distribution.

Mr. Busby has significant investment advisory experience. He currently serves as Executive Director and a member of the Advisor's Executive Committee. As an Executive Committee member, he contributes to strategic decisions and guides the Advisor toward its vision and objectives. He also is a member of the Advisor's Investment Oversight Committee.

Mr. Murray has significant investment advisory experience. He currently serves as Managing Director, Private Client Portfolio Management of the Advisor and Chief Executive Officer of the Advisor's Toronto entity where he is responsible for all of the Advisor's Canadian functional areas. Mr. Murray is responsible for client service, sales and marketing globally for the Advisor. Mr. Murray has served on the boards of a number of industry organizations and is past Chair of the board of directors of the Investment Funds Institute of Canada (IFIC). He has extensive experience in the financial services industry.

Board Committees

Audit Committee. The Board has an Audit Committee, which is comprised of the independent members of the Board, Gregory Bishop, Craig Wainscott, and Robert Fitzgerald. Mr. Fitzgerald is the Audit Committee Chair. The Audit Committee reviews financial statements and other audit-related matters for the Trust, and serves as the Trust's "qualified legal compliance committee." The Audit Committee also holds discussions with management and with the independent auditors concerning the scope of the audit and the auditor's independence. The Audit Committee met three times during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023.

Nominating and Governance Committee. The Board has a Nominating and Governance Committee, which is comprised of the independent members of the Board, Gregory Bishop, Craig Wainscott, and Robert Fitzgerald. Mr. Bishop is the Nominating and Governance Committee Chair. The Nominating and Governance Committee is responsible, among other things, for seeking and reviewing candidates for consideration as nominees for the position of Trustees as is considered necessary from time to time and meets as necessary. The Nominating and Governance Committee will consider candidates for trustees nominated by shareholders. Shareholders may recommend candidates for Board positions by forwarding their correspondence to the Secretary of the Trust. The Nominating and Governance Committee met one time during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023.

Fund Shares Owned by Trustees as of December 31, 2023.

Amount Invested Key			
Α.	\$0		
В.	\$1-\$10,000		
C.	\$10,001-\$50,000		
D.	\$50,001-100,000		
E.	over \$100,000		

	D	Dollar Range of Equity Securities Owned in the Funds					Securities in all		
Name of Trustee	International Equity Fund	Global Equity Fund	Emerging Markets Value Fund	International Small Cap Fund	Small Cap Value Fund	Core Plus Fund	SMART Fund	Registered Investment Companies Overseen by Trustee in Family of Investment Companies	
			u	Independent	" Trust	ees			
Gregory Bishop	Α	Α	Α	Α	Α	Α	Α	А	
Robert Fitzgerald	Α	С	Α	С	С	Α	Α	D	
Craig Wainscott	С	С	В	С	С	С	Α	Е	
				"Interested"	Truste	es			
Jeff Busby	Α	Е	Α	Α	Α	Α	Е	Е	
Oliver Murray ⁽¹⁾	Α	Α	Α	Α	Α	Α	Α	А	

Aggregate Dollar

Compensation

The Trust pays Independent Trustees an annual retainer of \$85,000 in quarterly installments of \$21,250. They also receive a fee of \$1,000 for any special telephonic Board meetings held on dates other than scheduled Board meeting dates, and are reimbursed for any expenses incurred in attending meetings. The Board Chairman receives an additional fee of \$20,000 per year. The Audit Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee Chairs each receive an additional fee of \$10,000 per year and \$1,000 per year, respectively. No other compensation, pension, or retirement benefits are received by any Trustee or officer from the Funds. The Advisor reimburses the Trust the portion of such amounts attributable to the Separately Managed Account Reserve Trust series of the Trust. These compensation matters are subject to review by the Independent Trustees annually.

The table below shows the compensation paid to each Trustee for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023:

Name	Aggregate Compensation from Trust ⁽¹⁾	Total Compensation from Trust and Trust Complex Paid to Trustees
Gregory Bishop		
(Independent Trustee)	\$ 87,000	\$ 87,000
Robert Fitzgerald		
(Independent Trustee)	\$ 96,000	\$ 96,000
Craig Wainscott		
(Independent Trustee)	\$106,000	\$106,000
Jeff Busby		
(Interested Trustee)	None	None
Oliver Murray		
(Interested Trustee)	None	None

⁽¹⁾ The Advisor pays all expenses of the SMART Fund. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, the Advisor compensated Trustees in the amount of \$24,801 on behalf of the SMART Fund.

Code of Ethics

The Trust, the Advisor and the Distributor have each adopted a Code of Ethics pursuant to Rule 17j-1 of the 1940 Act. Each Code permits personnel of the Advisor and Distributor to invest in securities that may be purchased or held by the Funds, subject to certain conditions. In accordance with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Trust has also adopted a supplemental Code of Ethics for its principal officers and senior financial officers. Each Code has been filed as an exhibit to this registration statement and is available upon request by contacting the Trust.

⁽¹⁾ Oliver Murray is a Canadian resident and as such is prohibited from purchasing shares of the Funds because the Funds' shares are not sold in Canada; however, Mr. Murray does invest in many of the Advisor's similarly managed strategies.

PROXY VOTING PROCEDURES

The Funds do not invest in any security for the purpose of exercising control or management. Because the Advisor is in a better position than the Board of Trustees to monitor corporate actions, analyze proxy proposals, make voting decisions and ensure that proxies are submitted promptly, the Funds have delegated their authority to vote proxies to the Advisor, subject to the supervision of the Board. The Funds' proxy voting policies are summarized below.

Policies of the Funds' Investment Advisor

The Advisor shall take reasonable steps under the circumstances to ensure that proxies are received and voted in the best interest of its clients, including the Funds, which generally means voting proxies with a view to enhancing the long-term value of the shares of stock held in client accounts. The long-term financial interest of the Advisor's clients, including the Funds, is the primary consideration in determining how proxies should be voted.

The Advisor votes proxies in accordance with the following three governing principles:

1. Proxy Voting

One of the most significant rights as shareholders is the right to vote at a company's annual and extraordinary meetings. In voting proxies on behalf of the Advisor's clients, the Advisor ensures that our clients' votes are cast in a manner that is most consistent with the Advisor's Proxy Voting Guidelines, and which are based on the underlying guiding principle of voting in the best economic interests of shareholders over the long term.

2. Corporate Governance

The Advisor believes well-governed companies should apply prudent principles to their corporate governance structure and demonstrate consistency with them through the decisions they make. Fundamental to a well-governed company is an appropriately structured and functioning board that is comprised of qualified and engaged directors. The Advisor's assessment process consists of consulting a variety of sources, including relevant company filings and research materials provided by proxy advisors and other third parties, as well as engaging with company management. Accordingly, the Advisor believes all corporate boards of directors should display the following traits:

- Act independently from management, free from conflicts of interest and in the best interests of the shareholders
- Make decisions that are consistently in the best interests of the shareholders and be held accountable for such decisions and actions
- · Give the highest priority to shareholder rights and equality in treatment of shareholders
- Evaluate management in an objective manner, ensuring that compensation programs are reasonable in size and commensurate with performance
- Communicate with shareholders in a timely, responsive, and transparent manner

The Advisor considers the following principles in assessing corporate governance votes in order to encourage companies to take the actions that the Advisor believes, in the long run, are in the best economic interest of the shareholders, and therefore, will analyze and consider individual company circumstances in light of the following:

- Independence and Effectiveness of the Board of Directors
- Alignment of Management and Director Remuneration
- Protection of Shareholder Rights

3. Responsible Ownership

While proxy voting is a basic and important fundamental right, it is only one of the Advisor's areas of focus on behalf of its clients as shareholders. The Advisor is also committed to continuing to monitor a company's financial and non-financial performance after each investment has been made. In doing so, the Advisor embraces

the concept of being an active, engaged, and responsible owner of the companies the firm invests in on behalf of the Advisor's clients. Accordingly, the Advisor participates in a number of activities on a case-by-case basis, including:

- Ongoing engagement and dialogue with companies
- Assessment of the ability of the board of directors to make effective decisions that are in the best interests of shareholders
- Collaboration with other shareholders where appropriate

At least annually, The Advisor presents to the Board its policies, procedures and other guidelines for voting proxies. In addition, The Advisor shall notify the Board promptly of material changes to any of these documents. The Board will monitor the implementation of these policies to ensure that the Advisor's voting decisions:

- Are consistent with the Advisor's fiduciary duty to each Fund and its shareholders;
- Seek to maximize shareholder return and the value of Fund investments;
- · Promote sound corporate governance; and
- Are consistent with each Fund's investment objectives and policies.

International Proxy Voting

Voting proxies with respect to shares of foreign companies may involve significantly greater effort and corresponding cost due to the variety of regulatory schemes and corporate practices in foreign countries with respect to proxy voting. Logistical challenges in voting foreign proxies include the following:

- Each country has its own rules and practices regarding shareholder notification, voting restrictions, registration conditions, and share blocking.
- To vote shares in some countries, the shares may be "blocked" by the custodian or depository (or bearer shares deposited with a specified financial institution) for a specified number of days (usually five or fewer but sometimes longer) before or after the shareholder meeting. When blocked, shares typically may not be traded until the day after the blocking period. The Advisor may refrain from voting shares of foreign stocks subject to blocking restrictions where, in the Advisor's judgment, the benefit from voting the shares is outweighed by the interest of maintaining client liquidity in the shares. This decision generally is made on a case-by-case basis based on relevant factors, including the length of the blocking period, the significance of the holding, and whether the stock is considered a long-term holding.
- Often it is difficult to ascertain the date of a shareholder meeting because certain countries do not require companies to publish announcements in any official stock exchange publication.
- Time frames between shareholder notifications, distribution of proxy materials, book-closure and the actual meeting date may be too short to allow timely action.
- Language barriers will generally mean that an English translation of proxy information must be obtained or commissioned before the relevant shareholder meeting.
- Some companies and/or jurisdictions require that, in order to be eligible to vote, the shares of the beneficial holders be registered in the company's share registry.
- Lack of a "proxy voting service" by custodians in certain countries. In countries in which custodians do not
 offer a "proxy voting service", the Advisor will attempt, on a best efforts basis, to lodge votes in such
 countries.
- Presence of voting fees in countries in which custodians do not offer a "proxy voting service", may limit the Advisor's ability to lodge votes in such countries.
- Due to limited voting ability of some ADR programs, the Advisor will attempt on a best efforts basis, to vote when it is prudent to do so and if the Depositary offers a path to receive our vote instructions.

Because the cost of voting on a particular proxy proposal could exceed the expected benefit to a client (including an ERISA Plan), the Advisor may weigh the costs and benefits of voting on proxy proposals relating to foreign securities and make an informed decision on whether voting a given proxy proposal is prudent.

Conflicts of Interest

The Advisor is sensitive to conflicts of interest that may arise in the proxy decision-making process. For example, conflicts of interest may arise when:

- (i) Proxy votes regarding non-routine matters are solicited by an issuer who has an institutional separate account relationship with the Advisor;
- (ii) The Advisor has material business relationships with participants in proxy contests, corporate executives, corporate directors or director candidates;
- (iii) Proxy votes regarding non-routine matters are solicited by an issuer in which the Advisor has a vested interest involving different products, type or class of securities; or
- (iv) An Advisor employee has a material personal interest in the outcome of a particular matter before shareholders.

The Advisor is committed to resolving all such and similar conflicts in its clients' best interests. The Advisor has developed these policies and procedures to serve the best interests of its clients, and accordingly, will generally vote pursuant to its Guidelines when conflicts of interest arise. Proxy voting proposals that give rise to conflicts of interest that are not addressed by the Guidelines, including conflicts that may arise when the Advisor holds both equity and fixed income securities of the same issuer on behalf of its clients and there are contested situations, will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis by the Advisor's ESG Oversight Committee, in consultation with the Global Head of Compliance ("GHOC") and the steps taken to address the issue will be documented in writing.

If necessary, the ESG Oversight Committee, GHOC and senior management will consult with an independent consultant or outside counsel to resolve any material conflicts of interest. Possible resolutions of such conflicts may include:

- (i) Voting in accordance with the guidance of an independent consultant or outside counsel;
- (ii) Erecting information barriers around the person or persons making voting decisions;
- (iii) Designating a person or committee to vote that has no knowledge of any relationship between the Advisor and the issuer, its officers or directors, director candidates, or proxy proponents; or voting in other ways that are consistent with the Advisor's obligation to vote in its clients' best interests.

More Information

The actual voting records relating to portfolio securities of the Funds during the most recent 12-month period ended June 30 are available without charge, upon request by calling toll-free, 1-800-331-2979 or by accessing the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. In addition, a copy of the Funds' proxy voting policies and procedures is available by calling 1-800-331-2979 and will be sent within three business days of receipt of a request.

PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF SECURITIES

As of December 31, 2023, the following persons held of record 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Funds; the Trust has no information regarding the beneficial owners of such securities.

% hold as of

Fund/Class	Shareholder Name & Address	December 31, 2023
International Equity Fund – Class I Shares	National Financial Services Cust The Exclusive Benefit Of Our Customers ⁽¹⁾ 499 Washington Blvd., Attn Mutual Funds Dept 4th Fl Jersey City, NJ 07310-1995	24.98%
	Morgan Stanley Cust The Exclusive Benefit Of Its Customers ⁽¹⁾ 1 New York Plaza, Floor 12 New York, NY 10004-1901	22.02%
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	10.40%

Fund/Class	Shareholder Name & Address	% held as of December 31, 2023
	Raymond James Omnibus for Mutual Funds 880 Carillon Parkway Saint Petersburg, FL 33716	9.56%
	Wells Fargo Bank Special Custody Account The Exclusive Benefit Of Its Customers ⁽¹⁾ 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63101	8.36%
	UBS WM USA ⁽¹⁾ 1000 Harbor Blvd. Weehawken, NJ 07086	6.85%
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	5.46%
International Equity Fund – Class A Shares	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	29.68%
	Wells Fargo Bank Special Custody Acct For the Exclusive Benefit of Customer ⁽¹⁾ 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	17.97%
	Morgan Stanley Cust The Exclusive Benefit Of Its Customers ⁽¹⁾ 1 New York Plaza, Floor 12 New York, NY 10004-1901	17.66%
	UBS WM USA ⁽¹⁾ 1000 Harbor Blvd Weehawken, NJ 07086-6761	6.64%
	D A Davidson And Co Corddry Family Interests Ltd 8 Third St North Great Falls, MT 59401-3155	5.52%
International Equity Fund – Class C Shares	Morgan Stanley Cust The Exclusive Benefit Of Its Customers ⁽¹⁾ 1 New York Plaza, Floor 12 New York, NY 10004-1901	21.47%
	UBS WM USA ⁽¹⁾ 1000 Harbor Blvd Weehawken, NJ 07086-6761	20.83%
	Wells Fargo Bank Special Custody Acct For the Exclusive Benefit of Customer ⁽¹⁾ 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	20.47%
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	14.69%
	Pershing LLC ⁽¹⁾ 1 Pershing Plaza Jersey City, NJ 07399-0002	10.28%

Fund/Class	Shareholder Name & Address	% held as of December 31, 2023
International Equity Fund – Class R6 Shares	Reliance Trust Company FBO T. Rowe Price Retirement Plan Services Inc. ⁽¹⁾ P.O. Box 78446 Atlanta, GA 30328	28.66%
	Matrix Trust Company Trustee FBO ⁽¹⁾ Zimmer Gunsul Frasca Partnership 40 P.O. Box 52129 Phoenix, AZ 85072-2129	24.53%
	Empower Trust FBO Employee Benefits Clients 401K 8515 E. Orchard Road 2T2 Greenwood Village, CO 80111-5002	10.46%
	FFB Registration Cash Account 5100 N Classen Blvd. Oklahoma City, OK 73118	9.30%
	National Financial Services Cust The Exclusive Benefit Of Our Customers ⁽¹⁾ 499 Washington Blvd., Attn Mutual Funds Dept 4th Fl Jersey City, NJ 07310-1995	7.16%
Global Equity Fund – Class I Shares	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	69.85%
	The Davis Trust #3 Glenn Carlson & Lynn Carlson TR 4275 Executive Square, 5th Floor La Jolla, CA 92037	9.19%
Global Equity Fund – Class A Shares	Wells Fargo Bank Special Custody Acct For the Exclusive Benefit of Customer ⁽¹⁾ 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	18.98%
	LPL Financial FBO Customer Accounts 4707 Executive Drive San Diego, CA 92121-3091	18.34%
	UBS WM USA ⁽¹⁾ 1000 Harbor Blvd Weehawken, NJ 07086-6761	15.76%
	Pershing LLC ⁽¹⁾ 1 Pershing Plaza Jersey City, NJ 07399-0002	9.15%
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	8.67%
	Morgan Stanley Cust The Exclusive Benefit Of Its Customers ⁽¹⁾ 1 New York Plaza, Floor 12 New York, NY 10004-1901	8.51%
	TD Ameritrade Inc For The Exclusive Benefit Of Our Clients ⁽¹⁾ PO Box 2226 Omaha, NE 68103-2226	7.23%

Fund/Class	Shareholder Name & Address	% held as of December 31, 2023
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	5.45%
Global Equity Fund – Class C Shares	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	30.57%
	LPL Financial FBO Customer Accounts ⁽¹⁾ 4707 Executive Drive San Diego, CA 92121-3091	23.15%
	Wells Fargo Bank Special Custody Acct For the Exclusive Benefit of Customer ⁽¹⁾ 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	20.53%
	Pershing LLC ⁽¹⁾ 1 Pershing Plaza Jersey City, NJ 07399-0002	14.59%
	SEI Private Trust Company C O Gwp Us Advisors 1 Freedom Valley Drive Oaks, PA 19456	7.93%
Emerging Markets Value Fund – Class I Shares	National Financial Services Cust The Exclusive Benefit Of Our Customers ⁽¹⁾ 499 Washington Blvd., Attn Mutual Funds Dept 4th Fl Jersey City, NJ 07310-1995	24.38%
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	23.81%
	Morgan Stanley Cust The Exclusive Benefit Of Its Customers ⁽¹⁾ 1 New York Plaza, Floor 12 New York, NY 10004-1901	18.99%
	Wells Fargo Bank Special Custody Acct For the Exclusive Benefit of Customer ⁽¹⁾ 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	12.98%
	UBS WM USA ⁽¹⁾ 1000 Harbor Blvd. Weehawken, NJ 07086-6761	5.33%
Emerging Markets Value Fund – Class A Shares	National Financial Services ⁽¹⁾ 499 Washington Blvd Jersey City, NJ 07310-1995	66.99%
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	5.38%
Emerging Markets Value Fund – Class C Shares	Morgan Stanley Cust The Exclusive Benefit Of Its Customers ⁽¹⁾ 1 New York Plaza, Floor 12 New York, NY 10004-1901	27.36%

Fund/Class	Shareholder Name & Address	% held as of December 31, 2023
	Wells Fargo Bank Special Custody Acct For the Exclusive Benefit of Customer ⁽¹⁾ 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	22.41%
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	19.13%
	UBS WM USA ⁽¹⁾ 1000 Harbor Blvd. Weehawken, NJ 07086-6761	10.44%
	Pershing LLC ⁽¹⁾ 1 Pershing Plaza Jersey City, NJ 07399-0002	6.80%
Emerging Markets Value Fund – Class R6 Shares	Jasco Co 800 Philadelphia Street Indiana, PA 15701	26.06%
	Wells Fargo Bank NA FBO ASPLUNDH C B JR -AGY PLEDGED SUB P.O. Box 1533 Minneapolis, MN 55480	15.97%
	Wells Fargo Bank NA FBO Berger Ilene IMG - PLGD P.O. Box 1533 Minneapolis, MN 55480	9.02%
	Wells Fargo Bank NA FBO SCHRAMM ROGER REV LV TR-AGY-MAIN P.O. Box 1533 Minneapolis, MN 55480	6.88%
	Wells Fargo Bank NA FBO DAVIS KATHRYN SEP PR TR-AGY PL-MAI P.O. Box 1533 Minneapolis, MN 55480	5.49%
International Small Cap Fund – Class A Shares	National Financial Services ⁽¹⁾ 499 Washington Blvd. Jersey City, NJ 07310-1995	38.39%
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	26.06%
	Morgan Stanley Cust The Exclusive Benefit Of Its Customers ⁽¹⁾ 1 New York Plaza, Floor 12 New York, NY 10004-1901	13.05%
International Small Cap Fund – Class I Shares	City of Los Angeles Trst City of Los Angeles City Hall Employee Benefits Office City Hall Employee Benefits Office 200 North Spring Street, Room 867 Los Angeles, CA 90012-3245	39.98%

Fund/Class	Shareholder Name & Address	% held as of December 31, 2023
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	21.04%
	National Financial Services Cust The Exclusive Benefit Of Our Customers ⁽¹⁾ 499 Washington Blvd., Attn Mutual Funds Dept 4th Fl Jersey City, NJ 07310-1995	13.55%
	UBS WM USA ⁽¹⁾ 1000 Harbor Blvd Weehawken, NJ 07086-6761	8.20%
International Small Cap Fund – Class C Shares	Morgan Stanley Cust The Exclusive Benefit Of Its Customers ⁽¹⁾ 1 New York Plaza, Floor 12 New York, NY 10004-1901	27.38%
	Wells Fargo Bank Special Custody Acct For the Exclusive Benefit of Customer ⁽¹⁾ 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	17.65%
	Charles Schwab & Co Inc. Special Custody A/C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street, ATTN Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105	7.79%
	Pershing LLC ⁽¹⁾ 1 Pershing Plaza Jersey City, NJ 07399-0002	6.80%
International Small Cap Fund – Class R6 Shares	Ascensus Trust Company Cust H and M Metal Processing PO Box 10758 Fargo, ND 58106	35.06%
	National Financial Services Cust The Exclusive Benefit Of Our Customers ⁽¹⁾ 499 Washington Blvd., Attn Mutual Funds Dept 4th Fl Jersey City, NJ 07310-1995	25.59%
	SEI Private Trust Company C/O Truist Bank 1 Freedom Valley Drive Attn: Mutual Fund Admin Oaks, PA 19456	22.11%
	Ascensus Trust Company Cust DRC Marketing Group Inc 401k PO Box 10758 Fargo, ND 58106	8.38%
Small Cap Fund – Class I Shares	Pershing LLC ⁽¹⁾ 1 Pershing Plaza Jersey City, NJ 07399-0002	45.05%
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	36.55%

Fund/Class	Shareholder Name & Address	% held as of December 31, 2023
	Reliance Trust Company FBO T. Rowe Price Retirement Plan Services Inc. ⁽¹⁾ P.O. Box 78446 Atlanta, GA 30328	6.45%
Small Cap Fund – Class A Shares	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	69.14%
	Pershing LLC ⁽¹⁾ 1 Pershing Plaza Jersey City, NJ 07399-0002	14.39%
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	10.81%
Small Cap Fund – Class R6 Shares	Mid Atlantic Trust Company FBO Spencer Research Inc 401k 1251 Waterfront Place, Suite 525 Pittsburgh, PA 15222	65.61%
	Ascensus Trust Company FBO Max Arnold Sons LLC PO Box 10758 Fargo, ND 58106	19.24%
	Ascensus Trust Company FBO Southern Colorado Clinic 401K PO Box 10758 Fargo, ND 58106	10.76%
Core Plus Fund – Class I Shares	Wells Fargo Bank Special Custody Acct For the Exclusive Benefit of Customer ⁽¹⁾ 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	41.94%
	The Davis Trust 3 Glenn Carlson and Lynne Carlson TR U A 4275 Executive Square, 5th Floor La Jolla, CA 92037	15.01%
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	13.73%
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc Special Custody A C FBO Customers ⁽¹⁾ 211 Main Street Attn Mutual Funds San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	7.83%
	UBS WM USA Special Custody AC EBOC UBSFI ⁽¹⁾ 1000 Harbor Blvd Weehawken, NJ 07086-6761	7.00%
Core Plus Fund – Class A Shares	Wells Fargo Bank Special Custody Acct For the Exclusive Benefit of Customer ⁽¹⁾ 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	79.91%

Fund/Class	Shareholder Name & Address	% held as of December 31, 2023	
Core Plus Fund – Class R6 Shares	North Attleboro Retirement System 500 E Washington St, 2nd Floor North Attleboro, MA 02760	100.00%	
SMART Fund	Wells Fargo Bank Special Custody Acct For the Exclusive Benefit of Customer ⁽¹⁾ 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	80.43%	

0. 1. . 1.1 6

A control person is one who owns beneficially or through controlled companies more than 25% of the voting securities of a Fund or acknowledges that it controls a Fund. Shareholders with a controlling interest could affect the outcome of voting or the direction of management of a Fund. As of December 31, 2023, there were no control persons of the Funds.

As of December 31, 2023, the Trustees and Officers as a group owned 4.07% of the voting securities of Class I Shares of the Global Equity Fund, and 3.25% of the SMART Fund. As of December 31, 2023, the Trustees and Officer as a group owned less than 1% of the voting securities of the International Equity Fund, the Emerging Markets Value Fund, the Small Cap Value Fund, the International Small Cap Fund, and the Core Plus Fixed Income Fund.

INVESTMENT ADVISORY AND OTHER SERVICES

Advisory Agreement

Subject to the supervision of the Board, the Advisor provides investment management and services to the Funds, pursuant to an Investment Advisory Agreement (the "Advisory Agreement"). Under the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor provides a continuous investment program for the Funds and makes decisions and places orders to buy, sell or hold particular securities. In addition to the fees payable to the Advisor and the Administrator, each Fund is responsible for its operating expenses, including: (i) interest and taxes; (ii) brokerage commissions; (iii) insurance premiums; (iv) compensation and expenses of Trustees other than those affiliated with the Advisor or the Administrator; (v) legal and audit expenses; (vi) fees and expenses of the custodian, shareholder service and transfer agents; (vii) fees and expenses for registration or qualification of the Fund and its shares under federal and state securities laws; (viii) expenses of preparing, printing and mailing reports and notices and proxy material to shareholders; (ix) other expenses incidental to holding any shareholder meetings; (x) dues or assessments of or contributions to the Investment Company Institute or any successor; (xi) such non-recurring expenses as may arise, including litigation affecting the Trust or the Fund and the legal obligations with respect to which the Trust or the Fund may have to indemnify the Trust's officers and Trustees; and (xii) amortization of organization costs.

Under the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor and its officers, directors, agents, employees, controlling persons, shareholders and other affiliates will not be liable to any Fund for any error of judgment by the Advisor or any loss sustained by the Fund, except in the case of a breach of fiduciary duty with respect to the receipt of compensation for services (in which case any award of damages will be limited as provided in the 1940 Act) or of willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of duty. In addition, the Funds will indemnify the Advisor and such other persons from any such liability to the extent permitted by applicable law.

The Advisory Agreement with respect to a Fund will continue automatically for successive annual periods, provided that such continuance is specifically approved at least annually in the manner required by applicable law.

⁽¹⁾ These shareholders represent the nominee accounts for many individual shareholder accounts; the Funds are not aware of the size or identity of any individual shareholder accounts.

As compensation, the Funds each pay the Advisor at an annual rate as shown below:

Fund	Annual Advisory Fee	Net Management Fee Receive (after waivers or recoupments	
International Equity Fund	0.75% on average daily net assets up to \$2.5 billion; 0.70% between \$2.5 billion and \$5.0 billion; 0.67% on average daily net assets greater than \$5.0 billion.	0.68%	
Global Equity Fund	0.80%	0.59%	
Emerging Markets Value Fund	0.95% on average daily net assets up to \$2.5 billion; 0.90% on average daily net assets from \$2.5 billion to \$5.0 billion; and 0.85% on average daily net assets greater than \$5.0 billion.	0.94%	
International Small Cap Fund	0.95% on average daily net assets up to \$1 billion; and 0.90% on average daily net assets greater than \$1 billion.	0.94%	
Small Cap Value Fund	0.70%	0.00%	
Core Plus Fixed Income Fund	0.35%	0.05%	
SMART Fund	0.00%	0.00%	

The Board of Trustees or the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Funds can terminate the Advisory Agreement with respect to the Funds at any time without penalty, on 60 days written notice to the Advisor. The Advisor may also terminate the Advisory Agreement on 60 days written notice to the Funds. The Advisory Agreement terminates automatically upon its assignment (as defined in the 1940 Act).

The Advisor has agreed that it will waive management fees and reimburse operating expenses of each Fund to the extent necessary to ensure that the expenses of the Fund do not exceed the amounts shown below during each fiscal year for the respective class (the "Expense Cap"). Such agreement is currently in effect through January 28, 2025:

		Expen	Expense Caps	
Fund	Class A	Class C	Class R6	Class I
International Equity Fund	1.20%	1.95%	0.75%	0.85%
Global Equity Fund	1.25%	2.00%	0.82%	1.00%
Emerging Markets Value Fund	1.37%	2.12%	0.97%	1.12%
International Small Cap Fund	1.40%	2.15%	1.00%	1.15%
Small Cap Value Fund	1.15%	N/A	0.72%	0.90%
Core Plus Fund	0.50%	N/A	0.30%	0.30%
SMART Fund	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

With respect to the **SMART Fund**, the Advisor receives no fee for its services and is responsible for payment of all operating expenses of the Fund other than extraordinary expenses, including: (i) interest and taxes; (ii) brokerage commissions; (iii) insurance premiums; (iv) compensation and expenses of Trustees other than those affiliated with the Advisor or the Administrator; (v) legal and audit expenses; (vi) fees and expenses of the custodian, shareholder service and transfer agents; (vii) fees and expenses for registration or qualification of the Fund and its shares under federal and state securities laws; (viii) expenses of preparing, printing and mailing reports and notices and proxy material to shareholders; (ix) other expenses incidental to holding any shareholder meetings; (x) dues or assessments of or contributions to the Investment Company Institute or any successor; and (xi) amortization of organization costs. However, the Fund is an integral part of one or more "wrap-fee" programs sponsored by investment advisers and broker-dealers that are not affiliated with the Fund or the Advisor. Participants in these programs pay a "wrap" fee to the sponsor of the program, a portion of which is paid to the Advisor pursuant to one or more agreements between the Advisor and the sponsors.

Subject to Board approval, the Trust has agreed that the amount of any waiver or reimbursement will be repaid to the Advisor without interest at any time before the end of the third full fiscal year of a Fund after the fiscal year in which the waiver or reimbursement occurred, unless that repayment would cause the aggregate operating expenses of a Fund to exceed the Expense Cap for the fiscal year in which the waiver or reimbursement occurred or any lower expense cap in effect at the time of reimbursement.

Advisory fees, waiver and expense reimbursements/(recoupment) for the last three fiscal years were as follows:

Fiscal year ended September 30, 2023:	Gross Advisory Fee	Advisory Fees Waived / Expenses Reimbursed	Advisory Fees Recouped	Net Advisory Fees Paid
International Equity Fund	\$4,470,874	\$471,697	\$ 0	\$3,999,177
Global Equity Fund	\$ 335,464	\$ 89,159	\$ 0	\$ 246,305
Emerging Markets Value Fund	\$6,489,238	\$138,307	\$ 0	\$6,350,931
International Small Cap Fund	\$2,801,342	\$ 23,094	\$8,878	\$2,787,126
Small Cap Value Fund	\$ 49,048	\$111,993	\$ 0	\$ (62,945)
Core Plus Fund ⁽²⁾	\$ 218,375	\$223,825	\$ 0	\$ (5,450)
SMART Fund ⁽¹⁾	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

Fiscal year ended September 30, 2022:	Gross Advisory Fee	Advisory Fees Waived / Expenses Reimbursed	Fe	isory ees ouped		Net Advisory ees Paid
International Equity Fund	\$4,680,487	\$440,163	\$	0	\$4	,240,324
Global Equity Fund	\$ 364,405	\$ 96,460	\$	0	\$	267,945
Emerging Markets Value Fund	\$9,724,487	\$141,386	\$36	,235	\$9	,619,336
International Small Cap Fund	\$3,151,100	\$ 25,089	\$	0	\$3	,126,011
Small Cap Value Fund	\$ 27,436	\$132,843	\$	0	\$ ((105,407)
Core Plus Fund ⁽²⁾	\$ 242,426	\$245,996	\$	0	\$	(3,570)
SMART Fund ⁽¹⁾	N/A	N/A		N/A		N/A

Fiscal year ended September 30, 2021:	Gross Advisory Fee	Advisory Fees Waived / Expenses Reimbursed	Advisory Fees Recouped	Net Advisory Fees Paid
International Equity Fund	\$ 4,522,555	\$311,474	\$ 0	\$ 4,211,081
Global Equity Fund	\$ 327,750	\$ 78,902	\$ 3,166	\$ 252,014
Emerging Markets Value Fund	\$12,402,979	\$ 56,334	\$216,384	\$12,563,029
International Small Cap Fund	\$ 3,713,667	\$ 8,859	\$ 14,808	\$ 3,719,616
Small Cap Value Fund	\$ 12,689	\$100,743	\$ 0	\$ (88,054)
Core Plus Fund ⁽²⁾	\$ 282,166	\$256,682	\$ 0	\$ 25,484
SMART Fund ⁽¹⁾	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

⁽¹⁾ Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor receives no fee for its services with respect to the SMART Fund.

Portfolio Managers

The following includes information regarding the Funds' portfolio managers and the accounts managed by each of them as of the dates indicated.

The Advisor has contractually agreed to limit the Management Fee of each share class of the Core Plus Fund to 0.30% pursuant to an Investment Advisory Fee Waiver Agreement in effect until January 28, 2025.

International Equity Fund

Investment decisions with respect to the International Equity Fund are the responsibility of the Advisor's International Large Cap Investment Committee ("International Large Cap Committee") which is comprised of a limited number of senior analysts and portfolio management professionals of the Advisor. The voting members of the International Large Cap Committee are listed below. As an oversight function, the Advisor also has an Investment Oversight Committee that establishes broad standards and practices to be followed by its product investment committees including the International Large Cap Committee. Messrs. Brent V. Woods, Jeffrey Germain, Shingo Omura and Luiz G. Sauerbronn and Ms. Amelia Maccoun Morris are members of the International Large Cap Committee. The following chart provides information regarding other accounts managed by the members of the Advisor's International Large Cap Committee as of September 30, 2023.

Portfolio Manager	Account Category	Number of Accounts	Total Assets in Accounts (in millions)	Number of Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance	Total Assets in Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance (in millions)
Jeffrey Germain, CFA	Registered Mutual Funds Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	1 11 226	\$659 \$1,099 \$6,647	0 0 5	\$0 \$0 \$1,118
Amelia Morris, CFA	Registered Mutual Funds Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	1 11 226	\$659 \$1,099 \$6,647	0 0 5	\$0 \$0 \$1,118
Shingo Omura, CFA	Registered Mutual Funds Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	1 11 239	\$659 \$1,099 \$6,647	0 0 5	\$0 \$0 \$1,118
Luiz G. Sauerbronn	Registered Mutual Funds Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	3 19 240	\$1,006 \$2,268 \$8,016	0 0 5	\$0 \$0 \$1,118
Brent V. Woods, CFA	Registered Mutual Funds Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	1 11 226	\$659 \$1,099 \$6,647	0 0 5	\$0 \$0 \$1,118

Global Equity Fund

Investment decisions with respect to the Global Equity Fund are the responsibility of the Advisor's Global Large Cap Investment Committee ("Global Large Cap Committee") which is comprised of a limited number of senior analysts and portfolio management professionals of the Advisor. The voting members of the Global Large Cap Committee are listed below. As an oversight function, the Advisor also has an Investment Oversight Committee that establishes broad standards and practices to be followed by its product investment committees including the Global Large Cap Committee. Messrs. Brent Fredberg, Ted Kim, Kenneth Little and Brian A. Matthews are

members of the Global Large Cap Committee. The following chart provides information regarding other accounts managed by the members of the Advisor's Global Large Cap Committee as of September 30, 2023.

Portfolio Manager	Account Category	Number of Accounts	Total Assets in Accounts (in millions)	Number of Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance	Total Assets in Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance (in millions)
Brent Fredberg	Registered	1	\$42	0	\$0
	Mutual Funds	10	\$1,770	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	236	\$4,916	5	\$98
Ted Kim, CFA	Registered	1	\$42	0	\$0
•	Mutual Funds	10	\$1,770	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	236	\$4,916	5	\$98
Kenneth Little, CFA	Registered	1	\$42	0	\$0
	Mutual Funds	12	\$1,932	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	236	\$4,916	5	\$98
Brian A. Matthews, CFA	Registered	1	\$42	0	\$0
	Mutual Funds	10	\$1,770	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	236	\$4,916	5	\$98

Emerging Markets Value Fund

Investment decisions with respect to the Emerging Markets Value Fund are the responsibility of the Advisor's Emerging Markets Investment Committee ("Emerging Markets Committee") which is comprised of a limited number of senior analysts and portfolio management professionals of the Advisor. The voting members of the Emerging Markets Committee are listed below. As an oversight function, the Advisor also has an Investment Oversight Committee that establishes broad standards and practices to be followed by its product investment committees including the Emerging Markets Committee. Messrs. Mauricio Abadia, Christopher J. Garrett, Louis Y. Lau and Gerardo Zamorano are members of the Emerging Markets Committee. The following chart provides information regarding other accounts managed by the members of the Advisor's Emerging Markets Committee as of September 30, 2023.

Portfolio Manager	Account Category	Number of Accounts	Total Assets in Accounts (in millions)	Number of Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance	Total Assets in Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance (in millions)
Mauricio Abadia	Registered	1	\$677	0	\$0
	Mutual Funds	7	\$485	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	108	\$1,345	1	\$508

Portfolio Manager	Account Category	Number of Accounts	Total Assets in Accounts (in millions)	Number of Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance	Total Assets in Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance (in millions)
Christopher J.	Registered	1	\$677	0	\$0
Garrett, CFA	Mutual Funds	7	\$485	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	108	\$1,345	1	\$508
Louis Y. Lau, CFA	Registered	1	\$677	0	\$0
	Mutual Funds	7	\$485	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	108	\$1,345	1	\$508
Gerardo	Registered	1	\$677	0	\$0
Zamorano, CFA	Mutual Funds	9	\$648	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	108	\$1,345	1	\$508

International Small Cap Fund

Small Cap Value Fund

Investment decisions with respect to the International Small Cap Fund and the Small Cap Value Fund are the joint responsibility of the Advisor's Small Cap Investment Committee ("Small Cap Committee") which is comprised of a limited number of senior analysts and portfolio management professionals of the Advisor. The voting members of the Small Cap Committee are listed below. As an oversight function, the Advisor also has an Investment Oversight Committee that establishes broad standards and practices to be followed by its product investment committees including the Small Cap Committee. Messrs. Mark Costa, Luiz Sauerbronn and Bryan Barrett and Ms. Yingbin Chen are members of the Small Cap Committee. The following chart provides information regarding other accounts managed by the members of the Advisor's Small Cap Committee as of September 30, 2023.

Portfolio Manager	Account Category	Number of Accounts	Total Assets in Accounts (in millions)	Number of Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance	Total Assets in Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance (in millions)
Bryan Barrett, CFA	Registered	2	\$347	0	\$0
	Mutual Funds	8	\$1,169	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	14	\$1,370	0	\$0
Yingbin Chen, CFA	Registered	2	\$347	0	\$0
	Mutual Funds	10	\$1,332	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	14	\$1,370	0	\$0

Portfolio Manager	Account Category	Number of Accounts	Total Assets in Accounts (in millions)	Number of Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance	Total Assets in Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance (in millions)
Mark Costa, CFA	Registered	2	\$347	0	\$0
	Mutual Funds	8	\$1,169	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	14	\$1,370	0	\$0
Luiz G. Sauerbronn	Registered	3	\$1,006	0	\$0
	Mutual Funds	19	\$2,268	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	240	\$8,016	5	\$1,118

Core Plus Fund

SMART Fund

Investment decisions with respect to the Core Plus Fund and the SMART Fund are the responsibility of the Advisor's Fixed Income Investment Committee ("Fixed Income Committee") which is comprised of a limited number of senior analysts and portfolio management professionals of the Advisor. The voting members of the Fixed Income Committee are listed below. As an oversight function, the Advisor also has an Investment Oversight Committee that establishes broad standards and practices to be followed by its product investment committees including the Fixed Income Committee. Messrs. Charles Gramling, David Gilson and Timothy Doyle are members of the Fixed Income Committee. The following chart provides information regarding other accounts managed by the members of the Advisor's Fixed Income Committee as of September 30, 2023.

Portfolio Manager	Account Category	Number of Accounts	Total Assets in Accounts (in millions)	Number of Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance	Total Assets in Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance (in millions)
Charles Gramling, CFA	Registered	2	\$74	0	\$0
	Mutual Funds	3	\$108	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	17	\$692	0	\$0
David Gilson, CFA	Registered	2	\$74	0	\$0
	Mutual Funds	3	\$108	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	17	\$692	0	\$0
Timothy Doyle, CFA	Registered	2	\$74	0	\$0
	Mutual Funds	3	\$108	0	\$0
	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles Other Accounts	17	\$692	0	\$0

Compensation

As of December 31, 2023, the Advisor's compensation structure for portfolio managers/analysts consists of: competitive base salaries, participation in an annual bonus plan, and eligibility for participation in the Advisor's equity through partnership or phantom equity.

The base salary for each of the portfolio managers is fixed. Participation in the annual bonus plan is linked to a number of qualitative and quantitative evaluation criteria. The criteria include research productivity, performance of portfolio management professionals, and the attainment of client service goals. Compensation is not based on the performance of the Fund or other accounts. There is no difference between the method used to determine the compensation of the portfolio managers with respect to the Fund and the other accounts managed by the portfolio managers.

Security Ownership of the Funds by the Portfolio Managers as of December 31, 2023

Fund and Portfolio Manager	Investment Range		
Brandes International Equity Fund			
Jeffrey Germain	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Amelia Morris	\$500,001 to \$1,000,000		
Shingo Omura	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Luiz Sauerbronn	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Brent Woods	Over \$1,000,000		
Brandes Global Equity Fund			
Brent Fredberg	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Ted Kim	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Kenneth Little	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Brian Matthews	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Brandes Emerging Markets Value Fund			
Mauricio Abadia	\$50,001 to \$100,000		
Christopher Garrett	\$50,001 to \$100,000		
Louis Lau	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Gerardo Zamorano	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Brandes International Small Cap Equity Fund			
Bryan Barrett	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Yingbin Chen	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Mark Costa	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Luiz Sauerbronn	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Brandes Small Cap Value Fund			
Bryan Barrett	\$10,001 to \$50,000		
Yingbin Chen	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Mark Costa	\$100,001 to \$500,000		
Luiz Sauerbronn	\$100,001 to \$500,000		

No portfolio managers owned shares of the Core Plus Fixed Income Fund or the SMART Fund.

Material Conflicts of Interest That May Arise

Investment Opportunities. It is possible that at times identical securities will be held by more than one fund and/or account managed by the Advisor. If one of the Advisor's investment committees identifies a limited investment opportunity that may be suitable for more than one fund or other account, the Fund may not be able to take full advantage of that opportunity with a single trade due to partial trade execution of a purchase or sale order across all eligible funds and other accounts. In order to address these situations, the Advisor has adopted procedures for allocating portfolio transactions across multiple accounts. For all client accounts, including the International Equity Fund, International Small Cap Fund, Small Cap Value Fund, Global Equity Fund, and Emerging Markets Value Fund, that are able to participate in aggregated transactions, the Advisor utilizes a rotational equity client trading system to execute client transactions in order to provide, over the long-run, fair treatment for each account. For fixed income client accounts, including the Core Plus and SMART Funds, the Adviser generally uses a pro-rata allocation method, based on account market value.

Investment in the Fund. Members of the Advisor's investment committees may invest in a fund or other accounts that they are involved in the management of and a conflict may arise where they may therefore have an incentive to treat the fund that they invest in preferentially as compared to other accounts. In order to address this potential conflict, the Advisor's investment decision-making and trade allocation policies and methodologies as described above are designed to ensure that none of the Advisor's clients are disadvantaged in the Advisor's management of accounts.

Performance-Based Fees. For a small number of accounts, the Advisor may be compensated based on the profitability of the account, such as by a performance-based management fee. These incentive compensation structures may create a conflict of interest for the Advisor with regard to other accounts where the Advisor is paid based on a percentage of assets in that the portfolio manager may have an incentive to allocate securities preferentially to the accounts where the Advisor might share in investment gains. In order to address these potential conflicts, the Advisor's investment decision-making and trade allocation policies and procedures are designed to ensure that none of the Advisor's clients are disadvantaged in the Advisor's management of accounts.

Receipt of Research Benefits. The receipt of research in exchange for brokerage commissions creates conflicts of interest. The Advisor receives a benefit because it can, at no cost to the Advisor, supplement its own research and analysis activities, receive the views and information of individuals and research staff of other securities firms, and gain access to persons having special expertise on certain companies, industries, areas of the economy and market factors. The Advisor may have an incentive to select a broker-dealer based on a desire to receive research, rather than based on the Funds' interest to receive most favorable execution. The Advisor does select broker-dealers based on their ability to provide quality executions and the Advisor's belief that the research, information and other services provided by such broker-dealer may benefit client accounts including the Funds. Accordingly, the Fund may pay higher commissions if it determines in good faith the value of the brokerage and/or research services provided is reasonable in relation to another broker.

To address the conflict, the Advisor compares the brokerage commissions paid by comparable investors to determine the reasonableness of the brokerage commissions paid in connection with portfolio transactions. The Advisor will not enter into any agreement or understanding with any broker-dealer which would obligate the Advisor to direct a specific amount of brokerage transactions or commissions in return for such services.

Compliance Program. Additionally, the Advisor's internal controls are tested on a routine schedule as part of the Advisor's compliance monitoring program. Many of the Advisor's compliance policies and procedures, particularly those involving the greatest risk potential are reviewed on a regular basis firm-wide by committees that include representatives from various departments within the Advisor, including personnel who are responsible for carrying out the job functions covered by the specific policies and procedures; representatives of the Legal and Compliance department (including the CCO); representatives of operations; and other representatives of senior management.

The compliance committees meet on a periodic basis to review the applicable compliance policies and procedures, any suspected instances of non-compliance and discuss how the policy and procedures have worked and how they may be improved. The specific operations of the various compliance committees are set forth in the compliance policies for the particular program area. The compliance committees utilize a risk-based approach in reviewing the compliance policies and procedures.

Administration Agreement

Under the Fund Administration and Accounting Services Agreement, The Northern Trust Company, 333 South Wabash Avenue, Chicago, Illinois 60604, serves as administrator for the Funds ("the Administrator"), subject to the overall supervision of the Trustees. The Administrator is responsible for providing such services as the Trustees may reasonably request, including but not limited to (i) maintaining the Funds' books and records (other than financial or accounting books and records maintained by any custodian, transfer agent or accounting services agent); (ii) overseeing the Funds' insurance relationships; (iii) preparing for the Funds (or assisting counsel and/or auditors in the preparation of) all required tax returns, proxy statements and reports to the Funds' shareholders and Trustees and reports to and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission and any other governmental agency; (iv) preparing such applications and reports as may be necessary to register or maintain the Funds' registration and/or the registration of the shares of the Funds under the blue sky laws of the various states; (v) responding to all inquiries or other communications of shareholders; (vi) overseeing all relationships between the Funds and any custodian(s), transfer agent(s) and accounting services agent(s); and (vii) authorizing and

directing any of the Administrator's directors, officers and employees who may be elected as Trustees or officers of the Trust to serve in the capacities in which they are elected. The Trust's Agreement with the Administrator contains limitations on liability and indemnification provisions similar to those of the Advisory Agreement described above. Prior to February 1, 2020, U.S. Bancorp Fund Services, LLC doing business as U.S. Bank Global Fund Services ("Fund Services"), 615 E. Michigan Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202, served as Administrator for the Funds, subject to the overall supervision of the Trustees.

For its services, Fund Services received a fee at the annual rate of 0.03% of the first \$1 billion of the Trust's average daily net assets and 0.02% thereafter, subject to a \$50,000 annual minimum for each Fund which is allocated across the Trust based on average net assets; and the Northern Trust Company received a fee at the annual rate of 0.0225% for the first \$1 billion of the Trust's average daily net assets, 0.02% of the next \$1.5 billion of the Trust's average daily net assets, 0.0175% of the next \$2.5 billion of the Trust's average daily net assets, and 0.015% thereafter, along with a \$10,000 annual fee per Fund.

During the fiscal years ended September 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021, each Fund paid the following administration fees:

2023	2022	2021
\$138,272	\$144,459	\$138,898
\$ 19,172	\$ 21,653	\$ 20,609
\$157,015	\$234,808	\$286,829
\$ 73,450	\$ 82,327	\$ 94,278
\$ 11,097	\$ 25,975	\$ 12,368
\$ 23,427	\$ 27,025	\$ 28,967
N/A	N/A	N/A
	\$138,272 \$ 19,172 \$157,015 \$ 73,450 \$ 11,097 \$ 23,427	\$138,272 \$144,459 \$ 19,172 \$ 21,653 \$157,015 \$234,808 \$ 73,450 \$ 82,327 \$ 11,097 \$ 25,975 \$ 23,427 \$ 27,025

⁽¹⁾ Pursuant to the Administration Agreement with Fund Services, the Advisor pays all fees and reimbursable expenses with respect to the SMART Fund.

Distribution Agreement

Under the Distribution Agreement, ALPS Distributors, Inc. (the "Distributor"), 1290 Broadway, Suite 1000, Denver, Colorado 80203, serves as Distributor for the Funds, subject to the overall supervision of the Trustees. The Distribution Agreement contains provisions with respect to renewal and termination similar to those in the Advisory Agreement. Pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, the Trust has agreed to indemnify the Distributor to the extent permitted by applicable law against certain liabilities under the 1933 Act. The Advisor pays the Distributor's fees. The Distributor is a registered broker-dealer under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is a member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA").

PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS AND BROKERAGE

In all purchases and sales of securities for the Funds, the primary consideration is to seek to obtain the most favorable price and execution available. Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor determines which securities are to be purchased and sold by the Funds and which broker-dealers are eligible to execute portfolio transactions, subject to the direction and control of the Board.

For equity trading, the Advisor's objective in selecting brokers and dealers when buying or selling securities for the Funds is to seek to obtain best execution. The execution price and brokerage commissions are two of the many important factors that the Advisor considers in seeking best execution.

The Advisor may also consider:

- · its ability to access global markets in real time for blocks of a particular stock;
- · its relationships with bulge-bracket and boutique brokerage firms;
- · the liquidity of the security being traded;
- · the market capitalization of the security being traded;

- · the potential for information leakage;
- the different rules and regulations applicable in global markets;
- market conditions at the time of the trade (both general conditions and conditions impacting the specific stock);
- · potential price movement in the security;
- the use of limit orders and the likelihood of getting within the limit or missing the desired trade if the trading process takes too long;
- · its traders' experience with Brandes securities;
- timing of order generation and market hours (ability to trade during local market hours diminishes the exposure against price movement);
- the nature of its investment committees' desire (for example a desire for speed versus other factors, including concern with obtaining the stock within a price range for all accounts) to own the stock.

The Advisor believes broker selection is an integral component of best execution process. When selecting brokers, it considers the following:

- · its experience with the broker on prices and other results obtained in prior trading transactions;
- the quality of the brokerage services provided to the Advisor;
- the broker's ability to source and access to liquidity in the stock;
- the broker's trading activity in a particular stock over a recent timeframe;
- the research services (if any) provided by the broker-dealer for the benefit of the Advisor's clients;
- the speed and attention it receives from the broker which is evaluated, tracked and recorded via the bi-annual Trader Vote;
- whether the brokerage firm can and will commit its capital (if the Advisor requests this) to obtain or dispose of the position;
- any particular trading expertise of the firm in a particular sector, country or region;
- any past issues it encountered when using a particular broker-dealer for similar trades.

The Advisor has procedures in place to monitor broker performance and execution.

For fixed-income trading, the duty to seek best execution generally applies to all of the Funds' portfolio transactions, including those relating to fixed-income securities. Certain factors outlined above with respect to the ability of a broker to provide best execution are also considered when the Advisor manages the fixed-income Funds. However, certain factors would not be considered with respect to a broker's ability to provide best execution with respect to fixed-income securities, such as the Advisor's knowledge of the negotiated commission rates currently available and other current transaction costs and the ability and willingness of a broker-dealer to facilitate transactions by acting as principal and utilizing its own capital to facilitate trades. These, and other similar considerations, are not applicable to the best execution analysis utilized in trading fixed-income securities due to the nature of fixed-income securities and the way such securities are traded.

FINRA has adopted rules governing FINRA members' execution of investment company portfolio transactions. These rules prohibit broker-dealers from selling the shares of, or acting as an underwriter for, any investment company if the broker-dealer knows or has reason to know that the investment company or its investment adviser or underwriter have directed brokerage arrangements in place that are intended to promote the sale of investment company securities. The Advisor does not consider whether a broker-dealer sells shares of the Fund when allocating the Fund's brokerage.

When the Advisor executes portfolio transactions for the Funds and when it is consistent with its duty to seek best execution, the Advisor may execute securities transactions for the Funds with broker-dealers who provide the Advisor with research and brokerage products and services. When the Advisor receives research services from broker-dealers in connection with brokerage commissions generated with respect to client account including the funds, it receives a benefit in that it is not required to pay for from its own resources or produce on its own.

The research services may include tangible research products as well as access to analysts, companies, and traders. These services can be either proprietary or provided by a third party.

The brokerage commissions the Advisor uses to acquire research are known as "soft dollars." The Advisor utilizes soft dollars in two ways:

- Full service broker-dealers who provide research and trade execution services in exchange for brokerage commission generated by executing trades with that broker-dealer.
- Full service broker-dealers who provide research and trade execution services and participate in client
 commission arrangements. In a client commission arrangement, the Advisor agrees with a broker
 effecting trades for its client accounts that a portion of the commissions paid by the accounts will be
 credited to purchase research services either from the executing broker or another research provider, as
 directed from time to time by the Advisor. Participating in CCAs enables the Advisor to consolidate
 payments for research services through one or more channels using accumulated client commissions and
 helps to facilitate the Advisor's receipt of research services and ability to seek best execution in the
 trading process.

The Advisor makes investment decisions for the Funds independently from those of the Advisor's other client accounts. Nevertheless, at times the same securities may be acceptable for the Fund and for one or more of such client accounts. To the extent any of these client accounts and the Fund seek to acquire or sell the same security at the same time, the Funds may not be able to acquire/sell as large a portion of such security as it desires, or it may have to pay a higher price or obtain a lower yield for such security. Similarly, the Funds may not be able to obtain as high a price for, or as large an execution of, an order to sell any particular security at the same time. If the Funds and one or more of such other client accounts simultaneously purchases or sells the same security, the Advisor allocates each day's transactions in such security between the Funds and all such client accounts as it decides is fair, taking into account the amount being purchased or sold and other factors it deems relevant. In some cases this system could have a detrimental effect on the price or value of the security insofar as the Funds are concerned. In other cases, however, the ability of the Funds to participate in volume transactions may produce better executions for the Funds.

During the fiscal years ended September 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Funds paid total brokerage commissions as follows:

Fund	2	2023		2022		2021
International Equity Fund ⁽¹⁾	\$25	57,468	\$	324,199	\$2	240,024
Global Equity Fund	\$ ^	11,983	\$	7,993	\$	10,922
Emerging Markets Value Fund(1)	\$62	22,134	\$1	,011,464	\$8	303,298
International Small Cap Fund(1)	\$22	20,685	\$	308,971	\$2	203,049
Small Cap Value Fund ⁽¹⁾	\$	7,065	\$	8,598	\$	1,709
Core Plus Fund	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
SMART Fund	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0

⁽¹⁾ The variances in the brokerage commissions year over year were due to fluctuations in the volume of trading in the portfolio.

As of the close of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, the Funds listed below owned securities of their regular broker-dealers as defined by Rule 10b-1 under the 1940 Act. (Generally, a regular broker or dealer of an investment company is one of the ten brokers or dealers that received the greatest dollar amount of brokerage commissions from participating in portfolio transactions, engaged as principal in the largest dollar amount of portfolio transactions, or sold the largest dollar amount of portfolio securities during the Fund's most recent fiscal year).

Global Equity Fund

Broker-dealer	Amount
UBS Group AG Registered	\$1,227,570

International Equity Fund

Broker-dealer	Amount
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc.	\$11,190,122
UBS Group AG Registered	\$14,329,038

ADDITIONAL PURCHASE AND REDEMPTION INFORMATION

Net Asset Value

The net asset value per share of each Class of each of the Funds is calculated by adding the value of all portfolio securities and other assets of the Funds attributable to the Class, subtracting the liabilities of the Funds attributable to the Class, and dividing the result by the number of outstanding shares of such Class. Assets attributable to a Class consist of the consideration received upon the issuance of shares of the Class together with all net investment income, realized gains/losses and proceeds derived from the investment thereof, including any proceeds from the sale of such investments, and any funds or payments derived from any reinvestment of such proceeds.

Net asset value for purposes of pricing purchase and redemption orders is determined as of 4:00 p.m. Eastern time, the normal close of regular trading hours on the New York Stock Exchange, on each day the Exchange is open for trading and the Federal Reserve Bank's Fedline System is open. Currently, the Exchange observes the following holidays: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Juneteenth National Independence Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving and Christmas Day.

The Funds use pricing services approved by the Board for purposes of valuing the assets held in the Funds. The following sets out the primary pricing methodology for each security type. The Funds value securities and other assets for which market quotations are not readily available at fair value as determined by the Advisor, as valuation designee, pursuant to policies and procedures approved by the Board.

- Equity securities that are traded on a national or foreign securities exchange are valued at the last sale price on the exchange on which they are primarily traded on the day of valuation or, if there has been no sale on such day, at the mean between the last bid and ask price.
- Rights and warrants are valued at the last reported sale price on the exchange on which they are traded.
- Over-the-counter ("OTC") equity securities are valued at the last sale price on the exchange on which they
 are primarily traded on the day of valuation or, if there has been no sale on such day, at the mean between
 the last bid and ask price.
- Bonds, notes, debentures and other debt securities are valued using the evaluated price received from the pricing service.
- Options are valued at the last sale price on the exchange on which they are primarily traded on the day of
 valuation or, if there has been no sale on such day, at the mean between the last bid and ask price on any
 of such exchanges on such day closest in time to the close of New York Stock Exchange.
- Futures contracts and options are valued at the last sale price on the exchange on which they are primarily traded on the day of valuation or, if there has been no sale on such day, at the mean between the last bid and ask price on any of such exchanges on such day closest in time to the close of New York Stock Exchange.

Foreign securities markets normally complete trading well before the close of the New York Stock Exchange. In addition, foreign securities trading may not take place on all days on which the New York Stock Exchange is open for trading and may occur in certain foreign markets on days on which the Fund's net asset value is not calculate d. Except as described below, calculations of net asset value will not reflect events affecting the values of portfolio securities that occur between the time their prices are determined and the close of the New York Stock Exchange. The Fund translates assets or liabilities expressed in foreign currencies into U.S. dollars based on the spot exchange rates at 4:00 p.m., Eastern time, or at such other rates as the Advisor may determine to be appropriate. In addition, the Board has approved the use of Interactive Data Pricing and Reference Data Fair Value Information Service ("IDC") to assist in determining the fair value of the Fund's foreign equity securities in the

wake of certain significant events. Specifically, when changes in the value of a certain index suggest that the closing prices on the foreign exchange no longer represent the amount that the Fund could expect to receive for the securities, IDC will provide adjusted prices for certain foreign equity securities based on an analysis showing historical correlations between the prices of those securities and changes in the index.

The Funds value securities and other assets for which market quotations are not readily available at fair value as determined by the Advisor, as valuation designee, pursuant to policies and procedures approved by the Board. Fair values are determined by a valuation committee of the Advisor, in consultation with the Advisor's portfolio managers and research and credit analyst, on the basis of factors such as the cost of the security or asset, transactions in comparable securities or assets, relationships among various securities and assets, and other factors as the Advisor may determine will affect materially the value of the security. All determinations of such committee are reviewed at the next meeting of the full Board.

Extraordinary Circumstances Affecting Redemptions.

Under the extraordinary circumstances discussed under Section 22(e) under the 1940 Act, the Trust may suspend the right of redemption or postpone the date of payment of a redemption for longer than seven days for any Fund. Generally, those extraordinary circumstances are when: (1) the New York Stock Exchange is closed or trading thereon is restricted; (2) an emergency exists which makes the disposal by a Fund of securities it owns, or the fair determination of the value of the Fund's net assets not reasonable or practical; or (3) the SEC, by order, permits the suspension of the right of redemption for the protection of shareholders.

Purchases and Redemptions Through Brokers and/or Their Affiliates.

A broker may charge transaction fees on the purchase and/or sale of Fund shares in addition to those fees described in the Prospectuses in the Summary of Expenses. The Trust has authorized one or more brokers to receive on its behalf purchase and redemption orders, and such brokers are authorized to designate other intermediaries to receive purchase and redemption orders on the Trust's behalf. The Trust will be deemed to have received a purchase or redemption order for Fund shares when an authorized broker or, if applicable, a broker's authorized designee, receives the order, and such orders will be priced based on the Fund's NAV next calculated after they are received by the authorized broker or the broker's designee.

SHAREHOLDER SERVICE PLAN

The Trust has adopted a Shareholder Service Plan on behalf of certain Funds that allows a Fund to pay fees to broker-dealers and other financial intermediaries for certain non-distribution services provided to Class C Shares of the Global Equity Fund, International Equity Fund, International Small Cap Fund and Emerging Markets Value Fund which commenced operations on January 31, 2013. Because these fees are paid out of the assets attributable to each applicable Fund's share class, over time they will increase the cost of your investment in such shares. The maximum annual shareholder servicing fees paid as a percentage of the average daily net assets of each Fund under the Shareholder Service Plan are as follows:

Fund	Maximum Shareholder Servicing Fee Class C Shares
International Equity Fund	0.25%
Global Equity Fund	0.25%
Emerging Markets Value Fund	0.25%
International Small Cap Fund	0.25%
Small Cap Value Fund	N/A
Core Plus Fund	N/A
SMART Fund	N/A

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023 the Funds paid the following in Shareholder Servicing Fees:

Fund	Shareholder Servicing Fee
International Equity Fund	\$18,133
Global Equity Fund	\$ 1,561
Emerging Markets Value Fund	\$12,510
International Small Cap Fund	\$ 8,166
Small Cap Value Fund	N/A
Core Plus Fund	N/A
SMART Fund	N/A

As authorized by the Shareholder Service Plan, each Fund may enter into a Shareholder Service Agreement with a service provider pursuant to which the service provider agrees to provide certain shareholder support services to its customers who own Class C shares of the Fund. Such shareholder support services may include, but are not limited to: (1) maintaining shareholder accounts; (2) providing information periodically to shareholders showing their positions in shares; (3) arranging for bank wires; (4) responding to shareholder inquiries relating to the services performed by the service provider; (5) responding to inquiries from shareholders concerning their investments in shares; (6) forwarding shareholder communications from the Fund (such as proxies, shareholder reports, annual and semi-annual financial statements and dividend, distribution and tax notices) to shareholders; (7) processing purchase, exchange and redemption requests from shareholders and placing such orders with the Fund or its service providers; (8) assisting shareholders in changing dividend options, account designations, and addresses; (9) providing sub-accounting with respect to shares beneficially owned by shareholders; (10) processing dividend payments from the Fund on behalf of shareholders; and (11) providing such other similar services as the Fund may reasonably request to the extent that the service provider is permitted to do so under applicable laws or regulations.

SUB-TRANSFER AGENCY SERVICE FEES

In addition to the fees that the Funds may pay to their Transfer Agent, the Board has authorized Class I shares of the Funds to pay service fees, at the annual rate of up to 0.05% of applicable average net assets to intermediaries such as banks, broker-dealers, financial advisers or other financial institutions, for sub-administration, sub-transfer agency, recordkeeping (collectively, "sub-accounting services") and other shareholder services associated with shareholders whose shares are held of record in omnibus, networked, or other group accounts or accounts traded through registered securities clearing agents.

The Funds pay certain financial intermediaries fees for sub-transfer agency services or other shareholder services. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, the Funds paid the following amounts for sub-transfer agency services:

Fund	Sub-Transfer Agency Payments (Class I)
International Equity Fund	\$231,715
Global Equity Fund	\$ 14,199
Emerging Markets Value Fund	\$233,222
International Small Cap Fund	\$110,948
Small Cap Value Fund	\$ 2,656
Core Plus Fund	\$ 15,701
SMART Fund	N/A

DISTRIBUTION PLAN

The Trust has adopted a Distribution Plan applicable to Class A shares and Class C Shares, which commenced operations on January 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014, in accordance with Rule 12b-1 under the 1940 Act, which regulates circumstances under which an investment company may directly or indirectly bear expenses relating to the distribution of its shares. Because these fees are paid out of the assets attributable to each applicable Fund's share class, over time they will increase the cost of your investment in such shares. The Board has determined that the Distribution Plan is in the best interests of the Funds' Class A and Class C shareholders.

Continuance of the Distribution Plan must be approved annually by a majority of the Trustees and by a majority of the Trustees who have no direct or indirect financial interest in the operation of the Distribution Plan or in any agreements related to the Plan ("Qualified Trustees"). All material amendments to the Distribution Plan must be approved by a majority of the Trustees and of the Qualified Trustees. In addition, the Distribution Plan may not be amended to increase materially the amount that may be spent under the Distribution Plan without approval by a majority of the outstanding shares of the Class of each Fund affected.

The Distribution Plan provides that the Trust will pay the Distributor an annual fee of up to 0.25% of the average daily net assets attributable to each Fund's Class A shares. The Distribution Plan also provides that the Trust will pay the Distributor an annual fee of up to 0.75% of the average daily net assets attributable to of the Class C shares of the Global Equity Fund, the International Equity Fund, the International Small Cap Fund, and the Emerging Markets Value Fund. The Distributor can use such payments to compensate broker-dealers and service providers that provide distribution-related services to the Class A or Class C shareholders or to their customers who beneficially own Class A or Class C shares. Such services include reviewing purchase and redemption orders, assisting in processing purchase, exchange and redemption requests from customers, providing certain shareholder communications requested by the Distributor, forwarding sales literature and advertisements provided by the Distributor, and arranging for bank wires.

Distribution fees paid by a particular Class of a Fund may only be used to pay for the distribution expenses of that Class of the Fund. Distribution fees are accrued daily and paid monthly, and are charged as expenses as accrued. Shares are not obligated under the Distribution Plan to bear any distribution expense in excess of the distribution fee. Thus, if the Distribution Plan is terminated or otherwise not continued with respect to a Fund, no amounts (other than current amounts accrued but not yet paid) would be owed by the Class A or Class C shares of the Fund to the Distributor.

The Distribution Plan (and any distribution-related agreement among the Fund, the Distributor and a selling agent with respect to the shares) may be terminated with respect to a Class of shares of a Fund without penalty upon at least 60 days' notice by the Distributor, or by the Trust by vote of a majority of the Independent Trustees, or by vote of a majority of the outstanding shares (as defined in the 1940 Act) of the applicable Class of the Fund.

All distribution fees paid by the Fund under the Distribution Plan will be paid in accordance with Rule 2830 of the Rules of Conduct of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, as such Rule may change from time to time. Pursuant to the Distribution Plan, the Trustees will review at least quarterly a written report of the distribution expenses incurred by the Distributor on behalf of the shares of the Funds. In addition, as long as the Distribution

Plan remains in effect, the selection and nomination of Trustees who are not "interested persons" (as defined in the 1940 Act) of the Trust will be made by the Independent Trustees.

The tables below show the amount of 12b-1 fees for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023.

Fund	12b-1 fees incurred by Class A and Class C Shares
International Equity Fund	\$150,015
Global Equity Fund	\$ 7,053
Emerging Markets Value Fund	\$385,460
International Small Cap Fund	\$137,859
Small Cap Value Fund	\$ 3,494
Core Plus Fund	\$ 2,053
SMART Fund	N/A

Fund	Advertising and Marketing		Printing and Postage		Payment to Distributor		Payment to Dealers		Compensation to Sales Personnel		Interest, or C Financing	Other Expenses		
International Equity Fund	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$1	50,015	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Global Equity Fund	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	7,053	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Emerging Markets Value Fund	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$3	85,460	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
International Small Cap Fund	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$1	37,859	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Small Cap Value Fund	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	3,494	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Core Plus Fund	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	2,053	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
SMART Fund	N	I/A	١	I/A	١	I/A		N/A	١	I/A	١	I/A	١	I/A

Class A Shares – Dealer Commissions and Compensation

The Advisor may pay dealers a commission of up to 1.00% on certain investments in Class A shares that are not subject to an initial sales charge. These purchases consist of purchases of \$1 million or more, purchases by employer-sponsored defined contribution-type retirement plans investing \$1 million or more or with 100 or more eligible employees, and purchases made at net asset value by certain retirement plans, endowments and foundations with assets of \$50 million or more. Commissions on such investments (other than IRA rollover assets that roll over at no sales charge under the Fund's IRA rollover policy as described in the Prospectus) are paid to dealers at the following rates:

1.00% on amounts of less than \$4 million, 0.50% on amounts of at least \$4 million but less than \$10 million and 0.25% on amounts of at least \$10 million. Commissions are based on cumulative investments over the life of the account with no adjustment for redemptions, transfers, or market declines. For example, if a shareholder has accumulated investments in excess of \$4 million (but less than \$10 million) and subsequently redeems all or a portion of the account(s), purchases following the redemption will generate a dealer commission of 0.50%. A dealer concession of up to 0.25% may be paid by a Fund under its Class A plan of distribution to reimburse the principal underwriter in connection with dealer and wholesaler compensation paid by it with respect to investments made with no initial sales charge.

The table below shows the aggregate amount of underwriting commissions for each Fund for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023.

	Aggregate Amount of Underwriting Commissions	Amount Retained by Principal Underwriter
International Equity Fund	\$0	\$0
Global Equity Fund	\$0	\$0
Emerging Markets Fund	\$0	\$0
International Small Cap Equity Fund	\$0	\$0
Small Cap Value Fund	\$0	\$0
Core Plus Fund	\$0	\$0
SMART Fund	\$0	\$0

REDEMPTIONS

The Funds intend to pay cash (U.S. dollars) for all shares redeemed, but, under abnormal conditions which make payment in cash unwise, the Funds may make payment partly in readily marketable securities with a current market value equal to the redemption price. Although the Funds do not expect to make any part of a redemption payment in securities, if such payment were made, an investor would incur brokerage costs in converting such securities to cash. The Funds have elected to be governed by the provisions of Rule 18f-1 under the 1940 Act, which commits the Funds to paying redemptions in cash, limited in amount with respect to each shareholder during any 90-day period to the lesser of \$250,000 or 1% of the Funds' total net assets at the beginning of such 90-day period.

TAXATION

The Funds have elected (or will elect) and intend to continue to qualify each year for treatment as RICs under the Code. In each taxable year that a Fund so qualifies, the Fund will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on income distributed in a timely manner to shareholders.

In order to qualify for treatment as a RIC, each Fund must distribute annually to shareholders an amount at least equal to the sum of (i) 90% of its investment company taxable income for such year (which includes, among other things, dividends, taxable interest, and the excess of any net short-term capital gains over net long-term capital losses, as reduced by certain deductible expenses) without regard to the deduction for dividends paid, and (ii) 90% of the Fund's net tax-exempt interest income, if any, over certain disallowed deductions; and each Fund must meet several additional requirements relating to the composition of its income and the diversification of its holdings. One of these additional requirements for RIC qualification is that a Fund must receive at least 90% of its gross income each taxable year from dividends, interest, payments with respect to certain securities loans, gains from the sale or other disposition of stock, securities or foreign currencies, or other income (including but not limited to gains from options, futures or forward contracts) derived with respect to a Fund's business of investing in such stock, securities, foreign currencies and net income from interests in qualified publicly traded partnerships (the "90% Test"). A second requirement for qualification as a RIC is that a Fund must diversify its holdings so that, at the end of each guarter of the Fund's taxable year: (a) at least 50% of the market value of the Fund's total assets is represented by cash and cash items, U.S. government securities, securities of other RICs, and other securities, with these other securities limited, in respect to any one issuer, to an amount not greater than 5% of the value of the Fund's total assets or 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer, including the equity securities of a qualified publicly traded partnership; and (b) not more than 25% of the value of its total assets is invested, including through corporations in which the Fund owns a 20% or more voting stock interest, in the securities (other than U.S. government securities or securities of other RICs) of any one issuer or the securities (other than the securities of another RIC) of two or more issuers that the Fund controls and which are engaged in the same or similar trades or businesses or related trades or businesses, or the securities of one or more qualified publicly traded partnerships (the "Asset Test"). These rules may affect the Funds' ability to fully implement their investment strategies.

If a Fund fails to satisfy the 90% Test or the Asset Test, the Fund may be eligible for relief provisions if the failures are due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect and if a penalty tax is paid with respect to each failure to satisfy the applicable requirements. Additionally, relief is provided for certain de minimis failures of the Asset Test where a Fund corrects the failure within a specified period of time. In order to be eligible for the relief provisions with respect to a failure to meet the Asset Test, a Fund may be required to dispose of certain assets. If these relief provisions are not available to a Fund and it fails to qualify for treatment as a RIC for a taxable year, all of its taxable income would be subject to tax at the regular corporate income tax rate (21%) without any deduction for distributions to shareholders, and its distributions (including capital gains distributions) generally would be taxable as ordinary income dividends to its shareholders, subject to the dividends received deduction for corporate shareholders and the lower tax rates on qualified dividend income received by noncorporate shareholders. In addition, a Fund could be required to recognize unrealized gains, pay substantial taxes and interest, and make substantial distributions before requalifying as a RIC. If a Fund determines that it will not qualify for treatment as a RIC, the Fund will establish procedures to reflect the anticipated tax liability in the Fund's NAV.

The Funds will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the regular corporate tax rate on any taxable income or gains that they do not timely distribute to shareholders. The Funds will also be subject to a nondeductible 4% excise tax to the extent they fail to distribute by the end of any calendar year substantially all of their ordinary income for that year and substantially all of their capital gain net income for the one-year period ending on October 31 of that year, plus certain other amounts.

A Fund may elect to treat part or all of any "qualified late year loss" as if it had been incurred in the succeeding taxable year in determining the Fund's taxable income, net capital gain, net short-term capital gain and earnings and profits. The effect of this election is to treat any such "qualified late year loss" as if it had been incurred in the succeeding taxable year in characterizing Fund distributions for any calendar year. A "qualified late year loss" generally includes net capital loss, net long-term capital loss or net short-term capital loss incurred after October 31 of the current taxable year (commonly referred to as "post-October losses") and certain other late-year losses.

The treatment of capital loss carryovers for the Funds is similar to the rules that apply to capital loss carryovers of individuals, which provide that such losses are carried over indefinitely. If a Fund has a "net capital loss" (that is, capital losses in excess of capital gains), the excess of the Fund's net short-term capital losses over its net long-term capital gains is treated as a short-term capital loss arising on the first day of the Fund's next taxable year, and the excess (if any) of the Fund's net long-term capital losses over its net short-term capital gains is treated as a long-term capital loss arising on the first day of the Fund's next taxable year. The carryover of capital losses may be limited under the general loss limitation rules if a Fund experiences an ownership change as defined in the Code.

The Funds may invest in complex securities and these investments may be subject to numerous special and complex tax rules. These rules could affect a Fund's ability to qualify as a RIC, affect whether gains and losses recognized by the Funds are treated as ordinary income or capital gain, accelerate the recognition of income to the Funds and/or defer the Funds' ability to recognize losses, and, in limited cases, subject the Funds to U.S. federal income tax on income from certain of their foreign securities. In turn, these rules may affect the amount, timing or character of the income distributed to you by the Funds.

To the extent a Fund invests in foreign securities, it may be subject to withholding and other taxes imposed by foreign countries. Any such tax would, if imposed, reduce the yield on or return from those investments. Tax conventions between certain countries and the U.S. may reduce or eliminate such taxes. If more than 50% in value of a Fund's total assets at the close of its taxable year consists of stock or securities of foreign corporations, that Fund will be eligible, and intends, to file an election with the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") to pass through to its shareholders their proportionate share of qualified foreign taxes. Pursuant to this election, its shareholders will be required to include their proportionate share of such qualified foreign taxes in their gross income, will treat such proportionate share as taxes paid by them, and may, subject to applicable limitations, deduct such proportionate share in computing their taxable incomes or, alternatively, take foreign tax credits against their U.S. income taxes. No deduction for such taxes will be permitted to individuals in computing their alternative minimum tax liability.

A Fund's transactions in foreign currencies and forward foreign currency contracts will be subject to special provisions of the Code that, among other things, may affect the character of gains and losses realized by the Fund (i.e., may affect whether gains or losses are ordinary or capital), accelerate recognition of income to the Fund and defer losses. These rules could therefore affect the character, amount and timing of distributions to shareholders.

These provisions also may require a Fund to mark-to-market certain types of positions in its portfolio (i.e., treat them as if they were closed out), which may cause a Fund to recognize income without receiving cash with which to make distributions in amounts necessary to satisfy the RIC distribution requirements for avoiding income and excise taxes. The Funds intend to monitor their transactions, intend to make the appropriate tax elections, and intend to make the appropriate entries in their books and records when they acquire any foreign currency or forward foreign currency contract in order to mitigate the effect of these rules so as to prevent disqualification of a Fund as a RIC and minimize the imposition of income and excise taxes.

If a Fund purchases shares in certain foreign entities treated as PFICs and does not timely make certain elections, it may be subject to U.S. federal income tax on a portion of any "excess distribution" or gain from the disposition of such shares even if such income is distributed as a taxable dividend by the Fund to its shareholders. Additional charges in the nature of interest may be imposed on the Fund in respect of deferred taxes arising from such distributions or gains.

If a Fund were to invest in a PFIC and timely elect to treat the PFIC as a "qualified electing fund" under the Code for the first year of its holding period in the PFIC stock, in lieu of the foregoing requirements, the Fund would generally be required to include in income each year a portion of the ordinary earnings and net capital gains of the qualified electing fund, even if not distributed to the Fund, and such amounts would be subject to the distribution requirements described above. In order to distribute this income and avoid a tax at the Fund level, a Fund might be required to liquidate portfolio securities that it might otherwise have continued to hold, potentially resulting in additional taxable gain or loss. In order to make the "qualified electing fund" election in respect of a PFIC, a Fund would be required to obtain certain annual information from the PFIC, which may be difficult or impossible to obtain. Amounts included in income each year by a Fund arising from a "qualified electing fund" election, will be "qualifying income" for purposes of the 90% Test (as described above) even if not distributed to the Fund, if the Fund derives such income from its business of investing in stock, securities or currencies.

If a Fund were to invest in a PFIC and make a mark-to-market election, the Fund would be treated as if it had sold and repurchased all of the PFIC stock at the end of each year. In such case, the Fund would report any such gains as ordinary income and would deduct any such losses as ordinary losses to the extent of previously recognized gains. Such an election must be made separately for each PFIC owned by a Fund and, once made, would be effective for all subsequent taxable years of the Fund, unless revoked with the consent of the IRS. By making the election, a Fund could potentially ameliorate the adverse tax consequences with respect to its ownership of shares in a PFIC, but in any particular year might be required to recognize income in excess of the distributions it receives from PFICs and its proceeds from dispositions of PFIC stock. The Fund might have to distribute such excess income and gain to satisfy the 90% distribution requirement and to avoid imposition of the 4% excise tax. In order to distribute this income and avoid a tax at the Fund level, a Fund might be required to liquidate portfolio securities that it might otherwise have continued to hold, potentially resulting in additional taxable gain or loss.

With respect to investments in zero coupon securities which are sold at original issue discount and thus do not make periodic cash interest payments, a Fund will be required to include as part of its current income the imputed interest on such obligations even though the Fund has not received any interest payments on such obligations during that period. In order to satisfy the distribution requirements describe above for qualification as a RIC and to avoid the imposition of the 4% excise tax, a Fund may have to sell Fund securities to distribute such imputed income which may occur at a time when the Advisor would not have chosen to sell such securities and which may result in taxable gain or loss.

Any market discount recognized on a bond is taxable as ordinary income. A market discount bond is a bond acquired in the secondary market at a price below redemption value or adjusted issue price if issued with original issue discount. Absent an election by a Fund to include the market discount in income as it accrues, gain on the Fund's disposition of such an obligation will be treated as ordinary income rather than capital gain to the extent of the accrued market discount.

Certain Funds may invest in U.S. REITs. Investments in REIT equity securities may require a Fund to accrue and distribute income not yet received. To generate sufficient cash to make the requisite distributions, a Fund may be required to sell securities in its portfolio (including when it is not advantageous to do so) that it otherwise would have continued to hold. A Fund's investments in REIT equity securities may at other times result in a Fund's receipt of cash in excess of the REIT's earnings; if a Fund distributes these amounts, these distributions could constitute a return of capital to such Fund's shareholders for federal income tax purposes. Dividends paid by a REIT, other than capital gain distributions, will be taxable as ordinary income up to the amount of the REIT's current and accumulated earnings and profits. Capital gain dividends paid by a REIT to a Fund will be treated as long-term

capital gains by the Fund and, in turn, may be distributed by the Fund to its shareholders as a capital gain distribution. Dividends received by a Fund from a REIT generally will not constitute qualified dividend income or qualify for the dividends received deduction. If a REIT is operated in a manner such that it fails to qualify as a REIT, an investment in the REIT would become subject to double taxation, meaning the taxable income of the REIT would be subject to federal income tax at the regular corporate rate without any deduction for dividends paid to shareholders and the dividends would be taxable to shareholders as ordinary income (or possibly as qualified dividend income) to the extent of the REIT's current and accumulated earnings and profits.

"Qualified REIT dividends" (i.e., ordinary REIT dividends other than capital gain dividends and portions of REIT dividends designated as qualified dividend income eligible for capital gain tax rates) generally give rise to a 20% deduction for non-corporate taxpayers. This deduction results in a reduced effective tax rate on the qualified REIT dividends. Distributions by a Fund to its shareholders that are attributable to qualified REIT dividends received by such Fund and which such Fund properly reports as "section 199A dividends," are treated as "qualified REIT dividends" in the hands of non-corporate shareholders. A section 199A dividend is treated as a qualified REIT dividend only if the shareholder receiving such dividend holds the dividend-paying RIC shares for at least 46 days of the 91-day period beginning 45 days before the shares become ex-dividend, and is not under an obligation to make related payments with respect to a position in substantially similar or related property. A Fund is permitted to report such part of its dividends as section 199A dividends as are eligible, but is not required to do so.

REITs in which a Fund invests often do not provide complete and final tax information to the Funds until after the time that the Funds issue a tax reporting statement. As a result, a Fund may at times find it necessary to reclassify the amount and character of its distributions to you after it issues your tax reporting statement. When such reclassification is necessary, a Fund (or its administrative agent) will send you a corrected, final Form 1099-DIV to reflect the reclassified information. If you receive a corrected Form 1099-DIV, use the information on this corrected form, and not the information on the previously issued tax reporting statement, in completing your tax returns.

Dividends from a Fund's investment company taxable income (computed without regard to the dividends-paid deduction), whether paid in cash or invested in additional shares, will be taxable to shareholders (other than qualified retirement plans and other tax-exempt investors) as ordinary income or "qualified dividend income" (if so designated by the Fund) to the extent of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits. Distributions of investment company taxable income (computed without regard to the dividends-paid deduction) reported by a Fund as "qualified dividend income" will be taxed in the hands of noncorporate shareholders at the rates applicable to long-term capital gain, provided that both the shareholder and the Fund meet certain holding period and other requirements. Distributions of a Fund's net capital gain (whether paid in cash or invested in additional shares) will be taxable to shareholders at the tax rates applicable to long-term capital gain, regardless of how long they have held their Fund shares. Certain of the Funds' investment strategies may significantly limit their ability to distribute dividends eligible to be treated as qualified dividend income.

Certain dividends received by a Fund from U.S. corporations and distributed and appropriately so reported by the Fund may be eligible for the 50% dividends-received deduction generally available to corporations under the Code. Capital gain dividends distributed to a Fund from other RICs are not eligible for the dividends-received deduction. In order to qualify for the deduction, corporate shareholders must meet the minimum holding period requirements with respect to their shares in a Fund, taking into account any holding period reductions from certain hedging or other transactions or positions that diminish their risk of loss with respect to their shares, and, if they borrow to acquire or otherwise incur debt attributable to their shares, they may be denied a portion of the dividends-received deduction with respect to those shares. Certain of the Funds' investment strategies may significantly limit their ability to distribute dividends eligible for the dividends received deduction for corporate shareholders.

Under Section 163(j) of the Code, a taxpayer's business interest expense is generally deductible to the extent of its business interest income plus certain other amounts. If a Fund earns business interest income, it may report a portion of its dividends as "Section 163(j) interest dividends," which its shareholders may be able to treat as business interest income for purposes of Section 163(j) of the Code. A Fund's "Section 163(j) interest dividend" for a tax year will be limited to the excess of its business interest income over the sum of its business interest expense and other deductions properly allocable to its business interest income. In general, a Fund's shareholders may treat a distribution reported as a Section 163(j) interest dividend as interest income only to the extent the distribution exceeds the sum of the portions of the distribution reported as other types of tax-favored income. To be eligible to treat a Section 163(j) interest dividend as interest income, a shareholder may need to meet certain holding period requirements in respect of the applicable Fund's shares and must not have hedged its position in the shares in certain ways.

A tax generally applies to all or a portion of the net investment income of a shareholder who is an individual and not a nonresident alien for U.S. federal income tax purposes and who has adjusted gross income (subject to certain adjustments) that exceeds a threshold amount. This 3.8% tax also applies to all or a portion of the undistributed net investment income of certain shareholders that are estates and trusts. For these purposes, Fund dividends and certain capital gains (among other categories of income) are generally taken into account in computing a shareholder's net investment income.

Dividends declared by the Funds in October, November or December of any year and payable to shareholders of record on a date in one of those months will be deemed to have been paid by the Funds and received by the shareholders on the record date if the dividends are paid by the Funds during the following January. Accordingly, such dividends will be taxed to shareholders for the year in which the record date falls. You may wish to avoid purchasing shares of a Fund shortly before the Fund pays a dividend or capital gain distribution, as such a dividend or distribution will be taxable to you, even though it effectively represents a return of a portion of your investment.

At September 30, 2023, the Funds had capital losses expiring and capital loss carryforwards utilized as indicated below:

Capital Loss Carryforwards as of September 30, 2023	Indefinite	Utilized \$0	Expired \$0
International Fund	\$ (98,739,806)		
Global Equity Fund	\$ 0	\$0	\$0
Emerging Markets Value Fund	\$(274,015,145)	\$0	\$0
International Small Cap Fund	\$(143,150,333)	\$0	\$0
Small Cap Value Fund	\$ 0	\$0	\$0
Core Plus Fund	\$ (2,444,590)	\$0	\$0
SMART Fund	\$ (11,350,306)	\$0	\$0

Upon the sale or exchange of shares in a Fund, a shareholder will generally recognize a taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized and the shareholder's basis in the shares. A redemption of shares by a Fund and an exchange of a Fund's shares for shares of another Brandes fund will be treated as a sale for this purpose. Such gain or loss will be treated as capital gain or loss if the shares are capital assets in the shareholder's hands, and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the shares are held for more than one year and short-term capital gain or loss if the shares are held for one year or less. Any loss realized by a shareholder on the sale of shares held by the shareholder for six months or less will be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a long-term capital loss to the extent of any distributions or deemed distributions of long-term capital gains received by the shareholder (including amounts credited to the shareholder as undistributed capital gains) with respect to such shares.

Losses on redemptions or other dispositions of shares may be disallowed under "wash sale" rule in the event of other investments in a Fund (including those made pursuant to reinvestment of dividends and/or capital gain distributions) within a period of 61 days beginning 30 days before and ending 30 days after a redemption or other disposition of shares. In such a case, the disallowed portion of any loss generally would be included in the U.S. federal tax basis of the shares acquired in the other investments. Gain may be increased (or loss reduced) upon a redemption of shares of a Fund within 90 days after their purchase followed by any purchase (including purchases by exchange or by reinvestment), without payment of an additional sales charge, of shares of the same Fund or of another Brandes fund (or any other shares of a Brandes fund generally sold subject to a sales charge) before February 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the original shares were redeemed.

Each Fund is required to withhold (as "backup withholding") 24% of all dividends, capital gain distributions and repurchase proceeds payable to any individuals and certain other non-corporate shareholders who do not provide the applicable Fund with a correct taxpayer identification number or make required certifications. A Fund also is required to withhold 24% of all dividends and capital gain distributions paid to such shareholders who otherwise are subject to backup withholding. Backup withholding is not an additional tax and any amount withheld may be credited against a shareholder's U.S. federal income tax liabilities provided that the necessary information is timely provided to the IRS.

Under Treasury regulations, if a shareholder recognizes a loss of \$2 million or more for an individual shareholder or \$10 million or more for a corporate shareholder (or certain greater amounts over a combination of years), the shareholder must file with the IRS a disclosure statement on IRS Form 8886. Direct shareholders of portfolio securities are in many cases excepted from this reporting requirement, but under current guidance, shareholders of a RIC are not excepted. A shareholder who fails to make the required disclosure to the IRS may be subject to adverse tax consequences, including significant penalties. The fact that a loss is reportable under these regulations does not affect the legal determination of whether the taxpayer's treatment of the loss is proper. Shareholders should consult their tax advisers to determine the applicability of these regulations in light of their individual circumstances.

The Funds must report to the IRS and furnish to shareholders the cost basis information and holding period for Fund shares sold or redeemed. The Funds will permit shareholders to elect from among several IRS-accepted cost basis methods, including the average cost basis method. In the absence of an election, shareholder cost basis will be determined under the default method selected by a Fund. The cost basis method a shareholder elects (or the cost basis method applied by default) may not be changed with respect to a repurchase of shares after the settlement date of the repurchase. Shareholders should consult their tax advisors prior to any repurchase of their respective shares to determine the best IRS-accepted cost basis method for their tax situation and to obtain more information about how the cost basis reporting rules apply to them.

Certain tax-exempt shareholders, including qualified pension plans, individual retirement accounts, salary deferral arrangements, 401(k)s, and other tax-exempt entities, generally are exempt from federal income taxation except with respect to their unrelated business taxable income ("UBTI"). Tax-exempt entities are not permitted to offset losses from one trade or business against the income or gain of another trade or business. Certain net losses incurred prior to January 1, 2018 are permitted to offset gain and income created by an unrelated trade or business, if otherwise available. Under current law, the Funds generally serve to block UBTI from being realized by their tax-exempt shareholders. However, notwithstanding the foregoing, a tax-exempt shareholder could realize UBTI by virtue of an investment in a Fund where, for example: (i) the Fund invests in residual interests of Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduits ("REMICs"), (ii) the Fund invests in a REIT that is a taxable mortgage pool ("TMP") or that has a subsidiary that is a TMP, or (iii) shares in the Fund constitute debt-financed property in the hands of the tax-exempt shareholder within the meaning of section 514(b) of the Code. Charitable remainder trusts are subject to special rules and should consult their tax advisor. The IRS has issued guidance with respect to these issues and prospective shareholders, especially charitable remainder trusts, are strongly encouraged to consult their tax advisors regarding these issues.

A Fund's shares held in a tax-qualified retirement account will generally not be subject to federal taxation on income and capital gains distributions from the Fund until a shareholder begins receiving payments from their retirement account. Because each shareholder's tax situation is different, shareholders should consult their tax advisor about the tax implications of an investment in the Funds.

Any non-U.S. investors in the Funds may be subject to U.S. withholding and estate tax and are encouraged to consult their tax advisors prior to investing in the Funds. Foreign shareholders (i.e., nonresident alien individuals and foreign corporations, partnerships, trusts and estates) are generally subject to U.S. withholding tax at the rate of 30% (or a lower tax treaty rate) on distributions derived from taxable ordinary income. A Fund may, under certain circumstances, report all or a portion of a dividend as an "interest-related dividend" or a "short-term capital gain dividend," which would generally be exempt from this 30% U.S. withholding tax, provided certain other requirements are met. Short-term capital gain dividends received by a nonresident alien individual who is present in the U.S. for a period or periods aggregating 183 days or more during the taxable year are not exempt from this 30% withholding tax. Gains realized by foreign shareholders from the sale or other disposition of shares of a Fund generally are not subject to U.S. taxation, unless the recipient is an individual who is physically present in the U.S. for 183 days or more per year. Foreign shareholders who fail to provide an applicable IRS form may be subject to backup withholding on certain payments from a Fund. Backup withholding will not be applied to payments that are subject to the 30% (or lower applicable treaty rate) withholding tax described in this paragraph. Different tax consequences may result if the foreign shareholder is engaged in a trade or business within the United States. In addition, the tax consequences to a foreign shareholder entitled to claim the benefits of a tax treaty may be different than those described above.

Under legislation generally known as the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA"), the Funds are required to withhold 30% of certain ordinary dividends they pay to shareholders that fail to meet prescribed information reporting or certification requirements. In general, no such withholding will be required with respect to a U.S.

person or non-U.S. person that timely provides the certifications required by a Fund or its agent on a valid IRS Form W-9 or applicable series of IRS Form W-8, respectively. Shareholders potentially subject to withholding include foreign financial institutions ("FFIs"), such as non-U.S. investment funds, and non-financial foreign entities ("NFFEs"). To avoid withholding under FATCA, an FFI generally must enter into an information sharing agreement with the IRS in which it agrees to report certain identifying information (including name, address, and taxpayer identification number) with respect to its U.S. account holders (which, in the case of an entity shareholder, may include its direct and indirect U.S. owners), and an NFFE generally must identify and provide other required information to the Fund or other withholding agent regarding its U.S. owners, if any. Such non-U.S. shareholders also may fall into certain exempt, excepted or deemed compliant categories as established by regulations and other guidance. A non-U.S. shareholder in a country that has entered into an intergovernmental agreement with the U.S. to implement FATCA will be exempt from FATCA withholding, provided that the shareholder and the applicable foreign government comply with the terms of the agreement.

A non-U.S. entity that invests in a Fund will need to provide the Fund with documentation properly certifying the entity's status under FATCA in order to avoid FATCA withholding. Non-U.S. investors in the Fund should consult their tax advisors in this regard.

The description of certain federal tax provisions above relates only to U.S. federal income tax consequences for shareholders who hold their shares as capital assets. Except as otherwise provided, this description does not address the special tax rules that may be applicable to particular types of investors, such as financial institutions, insurance companies, securities dealers, other RICs, or tax-exempt or tax-advantaged plans, accounts or entities.

Distributions by a Fund to shareholders and the ownership of shares may be subject to state and local taxes. Rules of state and local taxation of dividend and capital gains distributions from RICs often differ from the rules for federal income taxation described above. Shareholders are urged to consult their tax advisors as to the consequences of these and other state and local tax rules affecting an investment in Fund shares.

Shareholders should consult their own tax advisers regarding their particular situation and the possible application of foreign, state and local tax laws.

OTHER SERVICE PROVIDERS

Custodian

The Trust's custodian, The Northern Trust Company, 50 South LaSalle Street, Chicago, Illinois 60603, is responsible for holding the assets of the Funds.

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 601 South Figueroa Street, Los Angeles, California 90017, serves as the independent registered public accounting firm for the Funds. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP provides audit services, tax assistance and consultation in connection with review of SEC and IRS filings.

Legal Counsel

Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP, One Federal Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02110, acts as legal counsel for the Trust and the Independent Trustees.

Securities Lending Agent

The Funds participate in securities lending arrangements whereby they lend certain of their portfolio securities to brokers, dealers and financial institutions (not with individuals) in order to receive additional income and increase

the rate of return of their portfolios. The Northern Trust Company, the Funds' custodian, also serves as the Funds' securities lending agent. For the most recent fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, the Funds' securities lending activities resulted in the following:

	Interna Equity		E	lobal quity und	International Small Cap Fund		
Gross income from securities lending activities:		\$146,647			\$217		
Fees and/or compensation for securities lending activities and related services:	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Fees paid to securities lending agent from a revenue split	\$ 29	,329	\$	409	\$	43	
Fees paid for any cash collateral management service (including fees deducted from a pooled cash collateral reinvestment vehicle) that are not included in the revenue split	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Administrative fees not included in revenue split	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Indemnification fee not included in revenue split	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Rebates (paid to borrower)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Other fees not included in revenue split (specify)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Aggregate fees/compensation for securities lending activities:	\$ 29	,329	\$	409	\$	43	
Net income from securities lending activities:	\$117	,318	\$1	1,638	\$	174	

The Northern Trust Company oversees the securities lending process, which includes the screening, selection and ongoing review of borrowers, monitoring the availability of securities, negotiating rebates, daily marking to market of loans, monitoring and maintaining cash collateral levels, processing securities movements and reinvesting cash collateral as directed by the Advisor.

ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING PROGRAM

The Trust has established an Anti-Money Laundering Compliance Program (the "Program") as required by the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 ("USA PATRIOT Act"). To ensure compliance with this law, the Trust's Program provides for the development of internal practices, procedures and controls, designation of anti-money laundering compliance officers, an ongoing training program and an independent audit function to determine the effectiveness of the Program.

Procedures to implement the Program include, but are not limited to, determining that the Funds' Distributor and Transfer Agent have established proper anti-money laundering procedures, reporting suspicious and/or fraudulent activity and a complete and thorough review of all new opening account applications. The Funds will not transact business with any person or legal entity whose identity and beneficial owners, if applicable, cannot be adequately verified under the provisions of the USA PATRIOT Act.

As a result of the Program, the Trust may be required to "freeze" the account of a shareholder if the shareholder appears to be involved in suspicious activity or if certain account information matches information on government lists of known terrorists or other suspicious persons, or the Trust may be required to transfer the account or proceeds of the account to a governmental agency.

MARKETING AND SUPPORT PAYMENTS

The Advisor, out of its own resources and without additional cost to the Funds or their shareholders, may provide additional cash payments or other compensation to certain financial intermediaries who sell shares of the Fund. Such payments may be divided into categories as follows:

Support Payments. Payments may be made by the Advisor to certain financial intermediaries in connection with the eligibility of the Funds to be offered in certain programs and/or in connection with meetings between the Funds' representatives and financial intermediaries and its sales representatives. Such meetings may be held for

various purposes, including providing education and training about the Funds and other general financial topics to assist financial intermediaries' sales representatives in making informed recommendations to, and decisions on behalf of, their clients.

Entertainment, Conferences and Events. The Advisor also may pay cash or non-cash compensation to sales representatives of financial intermediaries in the form of (i) occasional gifts; (ii) occasional meals, tickets or other entertainments; and/or (iii) sponsorship support for the financial intermediary's client seminars and cooperative advertising. In addition, the Advisor pays for exhibit space or sponsorships at regional or national events of financial intermediaries.

The prospect of receiving, or the receipt of additional payments or other compensation as described above by financial intermediaries may provide such intermediaries and/or their salespersons with an incentive to favor sales of shares of the Funds, and other mutual funds whose affiliates make similar compensation available, over sale of shares of mutual funds (or non-mutual fund investments) not making such payments. You may wish to take such payment arrangements into account when considering and evaluating any recommendations relating to the Funds' shares.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Although it has no present intention to do so, the Trust has reserved the right to convert to a master-feeder structure in the future by investing all of the Funds' assets in the securities of another investment company, upon notice to and approval of shareholders. The Trust's Declaration of Trust provides that obligations of the Trust are not binding on the Trustees, officers, employees and agents individually and that the Trustees, officers, employees and agents will not be liable to the Trust or its investors for any action or failure to act, but nothing in the Declaration of Trust protects a Trustee, officer, employee or agent against any liability to the Trust, the Funds or their investors to which the Trustee, officer, employee or agent would otherwise be subject by reason of willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of his or her duties.

You can examine the Trust's Registration Statement on Form N-1A at the office of the Securities and Exchange Commission in Washington, D.C. Statements contained in the Funds' prospectus and this SAI as to the contents of any contract or other document are not necessarily complete and, in each instance, reference is made to the copy of such contract or document filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement, each such statement being qualified in all respects by such reference.

Shares of Beneficial Interest

Rule 18f-2 under the 1940 Act provides that any matter required to be submitted to the holders of the outstanding voting securities of an investment company such as the Trust will not be deemed to have been effectively acted upon unless approved by a majority of the outstanding shares of the series of the Trust affected by the matter. Thus, on any matter submitted to a vote of shareholders of the Trust, all shares of the affected series will vote unless otherwise permitted by the 1940 Act, in which case all shares of the Trust will vote in the aggregate. For example, a change in the Fund's fundamental investment policies would be voted upon by shareholders of the Fund, as would the approval of any advisory or distribution contract for the Fund. However, all shares of the Trust will vote together in the election or selection of Trustees and accountants for the Trust.

As used in each Fund's prospectus and in this SAI, the term "majority," when referring to approvals to be obtained from shareholders of a Fund, means the vote of the lesser of (i) 67% of the shares of the Fund represented at a meeting if the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Fund are present in person or by proxy, or (ii) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Fund. The term "majority," when referring to the approvals to be obtained from shareholders of the Trust, means the vote of the lesser of (i) 67% of the Trust's shares represented at a meeting if the holders of more than 50% of the Trust's outstanding shares are present in person or by proxy, or (ii) more than 50% of the Trust's outstanding shares. Shareholders are entitled to one vote for each full share held and fractional votes for fractional shares held. Unless otherwise provided by law (for example, by Rule 18f-2 discussed above) or by the Trust's Declaration of Trust or Bylaws, the Trust may take or authorize any action upon the favorable vote of the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Trust.

The Trust does not hold annual shareholder meetings of the Funds. The Trust will not normally hold meetings of shareholders to elect Trustees unless fewer than a majority of the Trustees holding office have been elected by shareholders. Shareholders of record holding at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of the Trust may remove a Trustee by votes cast in person or by proxy at a meeting called for that purpose. The Trustees are required to call a meeting of shareholders for the purpose of voting upon the question of removal of any Trustee when requested in writing by the shareholders of record owning at least 10% of the Trust's outstanding shares Trust and to assist in communicating with other shareholders as required by Section 16(c) of the 1940 Act.

Each share of the Funds has equal voting rights, and fractional shares have fractional rights. Each share of the Funds is entitled to participate equally in dividends and distributions and the proceeds of any liquidation from the Funds. Shareholders are not entitled to any preemptive rights. All shares, when issued, will be fully paid and non-assessable by the Trust.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Annual Reports to shareholders of each Fund for the period ended September 30, 2023, are separate documents and the financial statements appearing in them are incorporated by reference in this SAI. Those financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, whose report appears in the Annual Reports. The financial statements have been incorporated in this SAI in reliance on their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

APPENDIX A – SUMMARY OF CREDIT RATINGS

The following summarizes the descriptions for some of the general ratings referred to in the Funds' prospectuses and this SAI. Ratings represent only the opinions of the rating organizations about the safety of principal and interest payments, not market value. The rating of an issuer is heavily influenced by past developments and does not necessarily reflect probable future conditions. A lag frequently occurs between the time a rating is assigned and the time it is updated. Ratings are therefore general and are not absolute standards of quality.

Credit Ratings - General Securities

The following summarizes the descriptions for some of the general ratings referred to in the Funds' prospectus and Statement of Additional Information. The descriptions for the ratings for municipal securities and commercial paper follow this section. Ratings represent only the opinions of these rating organizations about the quality of the securities which they rate. They are general and are not absolute standards of quality.

Moody's Investors Service, Inc.

The purpose of Moody's ratings is to provide investors with a single system of gradation by which the relative investment qualities of bonds may be rated.

Bonds

Aaa: Bonds which are rated Aaa are judged to be of the best quality. They carry the smallest degree of investment risk and are generally referred to as "gilt edged." Interest payments are protected by a large or by an exceptionally stable margin and principal is secure. While the various protective elements are likely to change, such changes as can be visualized are most unlikely to impair the fundamentally strong position of such issues.

Aa: Bonds which are rated Aa are judged to be of high quality by all standards. Together with the Aaa group, they comprise what are generally known as high grade bonds. They are rated lower than the best bonds because margins of protection may not be as large as in Aaa securities or fluctuation of protective elements may be of greater amplitude or there may be other elements present which make the long-term risks appear somewhat larger than in Aaa securities.

A: Bonds which are rated A possess many favorable investment attributes and are to be considered as upper medium grade obligations. Factors giving security to principal and interest are considered adequate, but elements may be present which suggest a susceptibility to impairment sometime in the future.

Baa: Bonds which are rated Baa are considered as medium grade obligations. They are neither highly protected nor poorly secured. Interest payments and security appear adequate for the present but certain protective elements may be lacking or may be characteristically unreliable over any great length of time. Such bonds lack outstanding investment characteristics and in fact have speculative characteristics as well.

Ba: Bonds which are rated Ba are judged to have speculative elements; their future cannot be considered as well assured. Often, the protection of interest and principal payments may be very moderate, and thereby not well safeguarded during both good and bad times over the future. Uncertainty of position characterizes bonds in this asset class.

B: Bonds which are rated B generally lack characteristics of the desirable investment – they are considered speculative and subject to high credit risk. Assurance of interest and principal payments or of maintenance of other terms of the contract over any long period of time may be small.

Caa: Bonds which are rated Caa are of poor standing. Such issues may be in default or there may be present elements of danger with respect to principal or interest.

Ca: Bonds which are rated Ca represent obligations which are speculative in a high degree. Such issues are often in default or have other marked short-comings.

C: Bonds which are rated C are the lowest rated class of bonds, and issues so rated can be regarded as having extremely poor prospects of ever attaining any real investment standing.

Rating Refinements: Moody's may apply numerical modifiers, 1, 2, and 3 in each generic rating classification from Aa through B in its bond rating system. The modifier 1 indicates that the security ranks in the higher end of its

generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking; and modifier 3 indicates that the issue ranks in the lower end of its generic rating category.

Standard & Poor's Corporation

A Standard & Poor's debt rating is a current assessment of the creditworthiness of an obligor with respect to a specific obligation. This assessment may take into consideration obligors such as guarantors, insurers, or lessees. The ratings are based on current information furnished by the issuer or obtained by Standard & Poor's from other sources it considers reliable. Standard & Poor's does not perform any audit in connection with any rating and may, on occasion, rely on unaudited financial information. The ratings are based, in varying degrees, on the following considerations: (a) likelihood of default – capacity and willingness of the obligor as to the timely payment of interest and repayment of principal in accordance with the terms of the obligation; (b) nature of and provisions of the obligation; and (c) protection afforded by, and relative position of, the obligation in the event of bankruptcy and other laws affecting creditors' rights.

Bonds

AAA: Bonds rated AAA have the highest rating assigned by Standard & Poor's. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation (i.e., pay interest and repay principal) is extremely strong.

AA: Bonds rated AA differ from the highest-rated obligations only in a small degree. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation (i.e., pay interest and repay principal) is very strong.

A: Bonds rated A are somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher rated categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation (i.e., pay interest and repay principal) is still strong.

BBB: Bonds rated BBB exhibit adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation (i.e., pay interest and repay principal).

BB: Bonds rated BB are less vulnerable to nonpayment than other speculative issues. However, they face major ongoing uncertainties or exposure to adverse business, financial, or economic conditions which could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation (i.e., pay interest and repay principal).

B: Bonds rated B are more vulnerable to nonpayment than obligations rated BB, but the obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation (i.e., pay interest and repay principal). Adverse business, financial, or economic conditions will likely impair the obligor's capacity or willingness to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

CCC: An obligation rated CCC is currently vulnerable to nonpayment, and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation. In the event of adverse business, financial, or economic conditions, the obligor is not likely to have the capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

CC: An obligation rated CC is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment.

C: The C rating may be used to cover a situation where a bankruptcy petition has been filed or similar action has been taken, but payments on this obligation are being continued.

D: An obligation rated D is in payment default. The D rating category is used when payments on an obligation are not made on the date due even if the applicable grace period has not expired, unless Standard & Poor's believes that such payments will be made during such grace period. The D rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of a similar action if payments on an obligation are jeopardized.

The Standard & Poor's ratings may be modified by the addition of a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative standing within the major rating categories.

r: This symbol is attached to the ratings of instruments with significant noncredit risks. It highlights risks to principal or volatility of expected returns which are not addressed in the credit rating. Examples include: obligations linked or indexed to equities, currencies, or commodities; obligations exposed to severe prepayment risk-such as interest-only or principal-only mortgage securities; and obligations with unusually risky interest terms, such as inverse floaters.

Fitch Ratings

Fitch investment grade bond ratings provide a guide to investors in determining the credit risk associated with a particular security. The ratings represent Fitch's assessment of the issuer's ability to meet the obligations of a specific debt issue or class of debt in a timely manner. The rating takes into consideration special features of the issue, its relationship to other obligations of the issuer, the current and prospective financial condition and operating performance of the issuer and any guarantor, as well as the economic and political environment that might affect the issuer's future financial strength and credit quality. Fitch ratings do not reflect any credit enhancement that may be provided by insurance policies or financial guarantees unless otherwise indicated.

Bonds

AAA: Bonds considered to be investment grade and of the highest credit quality. The obligor has an exceptionally strong ability to pay interest and repay principal, which is unlikely to be affected by reasonably foreseeable events.

AA: Bonds considered to be investment grade and of very high credit quality. The obligor's ability to pay interest and repay principal is very strong, although not quite as strong as bonds rated "AAA." Because bonds rated in the "AAA" and "AA" categories are not significantly vulnerable to foreseeable future developments, short-term debt of these issuers is generally rated "F-1+".

A: Bonds considered to be investment grade and of high credit quality. The obligor's ability to pay interest and repay principal is considered to be strong, but may be more vulnerable to adverse changes in economic conditions and circumstances than bonds with higher ratings.

BBB: Debt rated BBB is considered to be of satisfactory credit quality. Ability to pay interest and principal is adequate. Adverse changes in economic conditions and circumstances are more likely to impair timely payment than higher rated bonds.

BB: Bonds are considered speculative. The obligor's ability to pay interest and repay principal may be affected over time by adverse economic changes. However, business and financial alternatives can be identified, which could assist in the obligor satisfying its debt service requirements.

B: Bonds are considered highly speculative. While bonds in this class are currently meeting debt service requirements, the probability of continued timely payment of principal and interest reflects the obligor's limited margin of safety and the need for reasonable business and economic activity throughout the life of the issue.

CCC: Bonds have certain identifiable characteristics that, if not remedied, may lead to default. The ability to meet obligations requires an advantageous business and economic environment.

CC: Bonds are minimally protected. Default in payment of interest and/or principal seems probable over time.

C: Bonds are in imminent default in payment of interest or principal.

DDD, DD, and D: Bonds are in default on interest and/or principal payments. Such bonds are extremely speculative and should be valued on the basis of their ultimate recovery value in liquidation or reorganization of the obligor. "DDD" represents the highest potential for recovery on these bonds, and "D" represents the lowest potential for recovery.

Plus (+) and minus (-) signs are used with a rating symbol to indicate the relative position of a credit within the rating category. Plus and minus signs, however, are not used in the "AAA" or "D" categories.

Credit Ratings – Municipal Securities and Commercial Paper

Moody's Investors Service, Inc.

The purpose of Moody's ratings is to provide investors with a single system of gradation by which the relative investment qualities of bonds may be rated.

U.S. Tax-Exempt Municipals

Moody's ratings for U.S. Tax-Exempt Municipals range from Aaa to B and utilize the same definitional elements as are set forth above under the "Bonds" section of the Moody's descriptions.

Advance refunded issues: Advance refunded issues that are secured by escrowed funds held in cash, held in trust, reinvested in direct non-callable United States government obligations or non-callable obligations unconditionally guaranteed by the U.S. government are identified with a # (hatchmark) symbol, e.g., # Aaa.

Municipal Note Ratings

Moody's ratings for state and municipal notes and other short-term loans are designated Moody's Investment Grade (MIG), and for variable rate demand obligations are designated Variable Moody's Investment Grade (VMIG). This distinction recognizes the differences between short-term credit risk and long-term risk. Loans bearing the designation MIG 1/VMIG 1 are of the best quality, enjoying strong protection from established cash flows for their servicing or from established and broad-based access to the market for refinancing, or both. Loans bearing the designation MIG2/VMIG 2 are of high quality, with ample margins of protection, although not as large as the preceding group. Loans bearing the designation of MIG 3/VMIG 3 are of acceptable quality, but have narrow liquidity and cash-flow protection and less well-established access to refinancing.

Commercial Paper

Moody's short-term debt ratings are opinions of the ability of issuers to repay punctually senior debt obligations. These obligations have an original maturity not exceeding one year, unless explicitly noted. Moody's employs the following three designations, all judged to be investment grade, to indicate the relative repayment ability of rated issuers:

Prime-1: Issuers rated Prime-1 (or related supporting institutions) have a superior ability for repayment of short-term promissory obligations. Prime-1 repayment capacity will normally be evidenced by the following characteristics: (a) leading market positions in well-established industries; (b) high rates of return on funds employed; (c) conservative capitalization structures with moderate reliance on debt and ample asset protection; (d) broad margins in earnings coverage of fixed financial charges and high internal cash generation; and (e) well-established access to a range of financial markets and assured sources of alternate liquidity.

Prime-2: Issuers rated Prime-2 (or supporting institutions) have a strong ability for repayment of senior short-term debt obligations. This will normally be evidenced by many of the characteristics cited above but to a lesser degree. Earnings trends and coverage ratios, while sound, may be more subject to variation. Capitalization characteristics, while still appropriate, may be more affected by external conditions. Ample alternate liquidity is maintained.

Prime-3: Issuers rated Prime-3 (or supporting institutions) have an acceptable ability for repayment of senior short-term obligations. The effect of industry characteristics and market compositions may be more pronounced. Variability in earnings and profitability may result in changes in the level of debt protection measurements and may require relatively high financial leverage. Adequate alternate liquidity is maintained.

Standard & Poor's Corporation

A Standard & Poor's debt rating is a current assessment of the creditworthiness of an obligor with respect to a specific obligation. This assessment may take into consideration obligors such as guarantors, insurers, or lessees. The ratings are based on current information furnished by the issuer or obtained by Standard & Poor's from other sources it considers reliable. Standard & Poor's does not perform any audit in connection with any rating and may, on occasion, rely on unaudited financial information. The ratings are based, in varying degrees, on the following considerations: (a) likelihood of default – capacity and willingness of the obligor as to the timely payment of interest and repayment of principal in accordance with the terms of the obligation; (b) nature of and provisions of the obligation; and (c) protection afforded by, and relative position of, the obligation in the event of bankruptcy and other laws affecting creditors' rights.

Municipal Bond Ratings

AAA – Prime Grade: These are obligations of the highest quality. They have the strongest capacity for timely payment of debt service.

General Obligations Bonds: In a period of economic stress, the issuers will suffer the smallest declines in income and will be least susceptible to autonomous decline. Debt burden is moderate. A strong revenue structure appears more than adequate to meet future expenditure requirements. Quality of management appears superior.

Revenue Bonds: Debt service coverage has been, and is expected to remain, substantial, stability of the pledged revenues is also exceptionally strong due to the competitive position of the municipal enterprise or to the nature of the revenues. Basic security provisions (including rate covenant, earnings test for issuance of additional bonds and debt service reserve requirements) are rigorous. There is evidence of superior management.

AA – High Grade: The investment characteristics of bonds in this group are only slightly less marked than those of the prime quality issues. Bonds rated AA have the second strongest capacity for payment of debt service.

A – Good Grade: Principal and interest payments on bonds in this category are regarded as safe although the bonds are somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than bonds in higher rated categories. This rating describes the third strongest capacity for payment of debt service. Regarding municipal bonds, the rating differs from the two higher ratings because:

General Obligation Bonds: There is some weakness, either in the local economic base, in debt burden, in the balance between revenues and expenditures, or in quality of management. Under certain adverse circumstances, any one such weakness might impair the ability of the issuer to meet debt obligations at some future date.

Revenue Bonds: Debt service coverage is good, but not exceptional. Stability of the pledged revenues could show some variations because of increased competition or economic influences on revenues. Basic security provisions, while satisfactory, are less stringent. Management performance appearance appears adequate.

Rating Refinements: Standard & Poor's letter ratings may be modified by the addition of a plus (+) or a minus (-) sign, which is used to show relative standing within the major rating categories, except in the AAA rating category.

Municipal Note Ratings

Municipal notes with maturities of three years or less are usually given note ratings (designated SP-1, or SP-2) to distinguish more clearly the credit quality of notes as compared to bonds. Notes rated SP-1 have a very strong or strong capacity to pay principal and interest. Those issues determined to possess overwhelming safety characteristics are given the designation of SP-1. Notes rated SP-2 have a satisfactory capacity to pay principal and interest. Notes rated SP-3 have a speculative capacity to pay principal and interest.

Commercial Paper

A-1: A short-term obligation rated A-1 is rated in the highest category by Standard & Poor's. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is strong. Within this category, certain obligations are designated with a plus sign (+). This indicates that the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on these obligations is extremely strong.

A-2: A short-term obligation rated A-2 is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher rating categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is satisfactory.

A-3: A short-term obligation rated A-3 exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

B: A short-term obligation rated B is regarded as having significant speculative characteristics. Ratings of B-1, B-2, and B-3 may be assigned to indicate finer distinctions within the B category. The obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation; however, it faces major ongoing uncertainties which could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

Fitch Ratings

Fitch investment grade bond ratings provide a guide to investors in determining the credit risk associated with a particular security. The ratings represent Fitch's assessment of the issuer's ability to meet the obligations of a specific debt issue or class of debt in a timely manner. The rating takes into consideration special features of the issue, its relationship to other obligations of the issuer, the current and prospective financial condition and operating performance of the issuer and any guarantor, as well as the economic and political environment that might affect the issuer's future financial strength and credit quality. Fitch ratings do not reflect any credit enhancement that may be provided by insurance policies or financial guarantees unless otherwise indicated.

Commercial Paper

F-1: Highest Credit Quality. Indicates the strongest capacity for timely payment of financial commitments; may have an added "+" to denote any exceptionally strong credit feature.

F-2: Good Credit Quality. A satisfactory capacity for timely payment of financial commitments, but the margin of safety is not as great as in the case of the higher ratings.

F-3: Fair Credit Quality. The capacity for timely payment of financial commitments is adequate; however, near-term adverse changes could result in a reduction to non-investment grade.

- B: Speculative. Uncertain capacity for timely payment of financial commitments, plus high vulnerability to near-term adverse changes in financial and economic conditions.
- C: High default risk. Default is a real possibility. Capacity for meeting financial commitments is solely reliant upon a sustained, favorable business and economic environment.
- D: Default. Denotes actual or imminent payment default.